Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to
its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this

announcement.
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 8026)

ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors’”) of China Brilliant Global Limited (the
“Company”) is pleased to announce the audited consolidated results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019. This announcement,
containing the full text of the 2019 Annual Report of the Company, complies with the relevant
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) in relation to information to accompany
preliminary announcement of annual results. Printed version of the Company’s 2019 annual
report will be delivered to the shareholders of the Company and available for viewing on the

GEM website at www.hkgem.com and of the Company at www.cbg.com.hk on or before 28
June 2019.

By Order of the Board
China Brilliant Global Limited
Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019



As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises the following directors:
Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Executive Director (Chairman))

Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Chunping (Executive Director)

Mr. Xu Zhigang (Non-executive Director)

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (Independent Non-executive Director)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (Independent Non-executive Director)

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk and
the GEM website at www.hkgem.com and in the case of this announcement, on the “Latest
Company Announcements” page for at least seven days from the date of its posting. This
announcement will also be published on the Company’s website at www.cbg.com.hk



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Brilliant
Global Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FEHE

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
March 2019.

The Group was officially renamed to “China Brilliant Global Limited”
on 31 May 2018 which marked the opening of a new chapter in
the Group’s history. We were steadily seeking attractive investment
opportunities to pursue expansion of the income streams and
profitability. During the year, the Company issued 240,000,000 ordinary
shares by placing, representing approximately 16.54% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company. This placing was completed
on 2 May 2018, the gross and net proceeds from the placing are
approximately HK$64,800,000 and approximately HK$63,711,000
respectively.

During the year, the Group continued to diversify its revenue
base to jewellery trading and retailing, lending business as well as
pharmaceutical and healthcare products business. The growth in the
jewellery trading, retailing and leading business, together with the
development was bringing major revenue to the group. As a result,
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$84,047,000, representing an increase of
approximately 30% from approximately HK$64,739,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

Despite the unsatisfactory financial performance in this financial year,
we successfully grasped the opportunities of business expansion
and achieved business integration. On 16 May 2018, we successfully
acquired 40% of the equity interest in Darling Paganini Holding Limited.
This acquisition represented an opportunity for the Group to diversify
the business portfolio and broaden the revenue sources. Its business
would complement and provide synergy to the design, research,
development, wholesale and retail of jewellery and luxury goods
business of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

Looking forward, under the leadership of our management team, we
would continue to adopt a cautious approach to balance between our
business development process and our financial liquidity position, thus
to boost the business capacity and performance striving to create more
value and benefits for the Group and our shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
for the hard work of the management team and all our staff for
their dedication and contribution, as well as the support from the
shareholders, business partners and banks.

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK

Revenue

During the year, the Group continued to diversify its revenue base to
jewellry trading and retailing, lending business as well as pharmaceutical
and healthcare products business. As a result, the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$84,047,000, representing an increase of approximately 30% from
approximately HK$64,739,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Cost of sales and gross profit margin

As a result of entering into pharmaceutical and healthcare products
business, as well as the development of the jewellry trading and
retailing, cost of sales of the Group increased from approximately
HK$56,478,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately
HK$77,799,000, for the year ended 31 March 2019, representing
an increase of approximately 38%. As the gold jewellry wholesale
contributed a significant part of the revenue, which had a lower
gross profit margin, the overall gross profit margin decreased from
approximately 13% to 7% in current year.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains during the year amounted to approximately
HK$280,000, which was increased by approximately HK$188,000 as
compared with that of 2018 (2018: HK$92,000). The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in bank interest income.

Selling expenses

The Group’s selling expenses were approximately HK$2,475,000
for the year ended 31 March 2019 decreased from approximately
HK$3,460,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018. The decrease
was mainly attributable to the decrease the marketing and promotion
expenditure of the pharmaceutical business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R T

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses experienced an increase of approximately
HK$28,484,000 from approximately HK$23,303,000 for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$51,787,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019 which was mainly due to share based payment to
employees and consultants in amounting to HK$27,216,000 during the
year.

Other losses

Other expenses, which mainly represented expenses for other non-
operating expenses, increased from approximately HK$2,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$48,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs experienced an increase of approximately
HK$144,000 from approximately HK$16,000 for the year ended 31
March 2018 to approximately HK$160,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019. The increase in such expenses was mainly due to interest paid
for the borrowing in PRC subsidiaries.

Share of loss of associates

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had share of
loss of associates amounted to approximately HK$117,000 (2018:
HK$710,000).

Impairment loss recognised in respect of investment property
and goodwill

Impairment loss recognised in respect of investment property and
goodwill are approximately HK$2,999,000 (2018: nil) and HK$2,914,000
(2018: nil), respectively, for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Result for the year

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$54,006,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2019, compared to profit of approximately
HK$23,318,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 mainly due to (i)
poor operation result; (i) an increase in operating expenses; and (iii) the
equity-settled share based payments arising from the grant of share
options during the year.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the investment in 6% of
the ordinary share capital in Hong Kong Net TV Limited had been
reclassified from the available-for-sale financial assets to financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss due to the Company applied HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments and related consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs.

Total equity

As a results of placing of new share under the general mandate and
setoff with loss for the year, as at 31 March 2019, the Group’s a total
equity increased by approximately HK$34,705,000 to approximately
HK$122,555,000 (31 March 2018: HK$87,850,000).

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management policy. In
order to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the
Group’s treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally placed
in deposits with banks.

As at 31 March 2019, total cash and cash equivalents of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$59,573,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$10,341,000). The increase in total cash and cash equivalent was
mainly due to the effect of placing of new share under the general
mandate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R T

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Treasury policies and foreign currency exchange exposure
As most of the Group’s trading transactions, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, the
impact of foreign exchange exposure to the Group was insignificant and
there was no significant adverse effect on normal operations.

Cash is generally deposited at banks in the PRC and Hong Kong and
denominated mostly in United States Dollar, Renminbi and Hong Kong
Dollar. During the year ended and as at 31 March 2019, no related
hedges were made by the Group (2018: nil).

Charges on Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s pledged investment property in the
amount of HK$11,107,000 (2018: nil) was pledged as security for the
Group’s borrowing in the amount of HK$5,262,000 (2018: nil).

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2018: nil).

Significant investments, acquisitions or disposals

Except for the acquisition of 40% of the equity interest in Darling
Paganini Holding Limited and its subsidiaries which will become an
associate of the Company at a total consideration of HK$10,000,000,
the Group does not have other material acquisition or disposal during
the year ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE BIIEEEE EFRRBREE @)

AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

BEXRBRABRERR

Capital structure and use of proceeds

Capital structure BEARERE
The shares of the Company were listed on GEM on 28 March 2000. ARABIRMR_ZEZEZTF =A==+ N\BE
GEM k7 e

4 £ 240,000,000 A% B2 65 f% 17 18 & PA 1 BL 6 AT
RARBEITIRA419.82% (1,210,963,725
fREmR) RAEENTEREERNRFLER
B EITIR AR 49 16.54% (1,450,963,725 % & i
B%) o Be & P18 50E 558 A 4763,711,000 & 7T °
MARATBRA-_Z—N\FNA++EE=
T-N\FREAZHZAEMER  AQA#
BERECARNBRASEZES RKEE
KoREDR -E—NEFRA-HAZK °

The total of 240,000,000 placing shares represents approximately
19.82% of the Company’s issued share capital before the Placing
(1,210,963,725 ordinary shares) and approximately 16.54% of its
enlarged issued share capital of the Company after the Placing
(1,450,9683,725 ordinary shares). The net proceeds from the Placing
was approximately HK$63,711,000. As disclosed in the announcements
of the Company dated 17 April 2018 and 2 May 2018, the Company
intended to use the whole fund for the expansion of the Group’s trading
and jewellry business. The Placing was completed on 2 May 2018.

The Company’s authorised, issued and fully paid share capital were as KRG ZETE  BETREBRRANT :

follows:
Number of Share
shares capital
B8 E &
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: VETE
As at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 RZENFRNA-BE-Z—AF
(HK$0.1 each) ZA=+T—H(SKREHE1ET) 250,000,000,000 250,000

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 April 2018 (HK$0.1 each)

Issue of shares under placing note

As at 31 March 2019 (HK$0.1 each)

BEITRER
RZENFMA—H
(BREECABT)

REBEEERTRD

R=B-AE=A=1-B
(SREBO17)

1,210,963,725 121,096
240,000,000 24,000
1,450,963,725 145,096
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R T

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Capital structure and use of proceeds (Continued)

Capital structure (Continued)

The Group’s capital structure is sound with healthy working capital
management. As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s total equity amounted
to approximately HK$122,555,000, representing an increase of
approximately 39.5% compared with that as at 31 March 2019 (31
March 2018: HK$87,850,000). As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents totaled approximately HK$59,573,000 (as at 31
March 2018: HK$10,341,000). The current ratio (note 1) and the quick
ratio (note 2) of the Group as at 31 March 2019 was 5.11 (as at 31
March 2018: 3.03) and 4.63 (as at 31 March 2018: 2.47) respectively.
The Group was in net cash position as at 31 March 2019 (gearing ratio
(note 3) as at 31 March 2018: Net cash position).

Apart from the above, there has been no material change in the capital
structure of the Group during the year.

Notes:
(@  Current Ratio = Current Assets = Current Liabilities
Current Liabilities

(b)  Quick Ratio = (Current Assets — Inventories) +

(c)  Gearing Ratio = (Debts — Cash and cash equivalents) = Equity
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Use of proceeds

An analysis about the expected funding needs for the twelve months
from September 2016 to August 2017 and the actual use of proceeds

up to 31 March 2019 out of Convertible Note was set out as follows:

MBOE - ERERAERRE (@)

FriEREAR
ERABREEEE T - "EFNLAE-F
—tEFNALETZEAZEHREEFELRE

ECT-NFZA=+—RZERMBHA
gz DA

Expected source of funding

Total estimated minimum for the twelve months Actual use of
funding need in respect Designated area/ from September 2016 proceeds up Balance as at
of the issue of the Convertible Note business segment  to August 2017 to 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
BZE-~ENRE EZ-Z-NF

L GEE: Y ES PA) “E-tFENALTZEAZ ZR=t-82 R=B-1%
REELEREE EEEE/ %78 RAPEERR BERFERERE ZR=t-RER
() General working capital (including legal Head office Approximately HK$11.7 million Approximately Nil

and professional fees, rental expenses, (approximately HK$7.5 million from HK$11.7 milion

(i

i

()

()

payroll and other administrative expenses,
and if investment opportunity arises, may
allocate part of the working capital for such
opportunity)

—hREEA (RRERREXER A 2%
SR FEREMTRAR - MR
RERE ARHIEEEEIRER

BHE)

Balance payment for the acquisition of Pharmaceutical and
the sale shares and sale loan of Sino Yao healthcare products
Shang Technology Limited business
TRAMEPEEENRERARNSEER FXREREEER
DREEET EH %

Future development of the pharmaceutical - Pharmaceutical and

and healthcare products business healthcare products
business

BXNRRERERFR ARER  EXRERERER
%

Wireless value-added
services business

Establishment of new wireless value-
added services by way of hiring new staffs
to seek further business opportunities
FRERMEIRUZHNERLER EHLEREES
B hERE-SEl

the proceeds and the remaining of
approximately HK$4.2 million from
internal resources and other equity
financing methods as appropriate from

time to time)

#911,700,0007% 7 (47,500,00078 7L 2R

#711,700,000% 70 i

BETS 3R 544,200,000
KERDERERNEER 2 E A

BENE)

Approximately HKS4.3 million for the
balance payment as consideration of

acquisition

FIES #8472 44,300,008 T A

PEEEZAE

Approximately HK$17 million for the
future development (note)

B{ERIREE 7 4717,000,0007 7T (Mt

it)

Approximately HK$2.5 million for the

establishment

FfER L £ 7 2 472,500,000 T

Approximately Nil
HK$4.3 million

#4,300,0007% 7T i

Nil (note (i) Nil

(W) i

Approximately Nil
HK$2.5 million

#2,500,0007% 7T i
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R T

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Use of proceeds (Continued)

FrEREAZ (&)

Expected source of funding

PMBEE EERARREE (8

Total estimated minimum for the twelve months Actual use of
funding need in respect Designated area/ from September 2016 proceeds up Balance as at
of the issue of the Convertible Note business segment  to August 2017 to 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
B=Z-RENRE EZ-Z-NF
BRBTTAREE 25t “E-tENALTZfEAZ =ZA=t-Hz R=B-NF
REELEREH EEEE/$848 RHELRR BERFMERERR ZRE=T-R&H
(v General working capital (mainly Wireless valug-added  Approximately HK$1.2 million for general ~ Approximately Nil
administrative expenses) for wireless value-  services business working capital HK$200,000 (note (i)
added services business
() EBREERBEHI-RZEET BRUEERBZE  RBE-REEEL2H1,2000008T  #200,000%TT &
(FERTHHAR) GEA()
(v)  General working capital (including Jewellry trading and Approximately HK$8.3 milion Approximately Nil
purchase of inventories, rental, wages, retaiing business (approximately HK$1.5 million from HK$8.3 million
other administrative expenses and selling the proceeds and the remaining of
and distrioution expenses) for the jewellry HK$6.8 million from intemal resources
trading and retaling business and other equity financing methods as
appropriate from time to time
V) KEEERTEEHC-HREEEE KEEERTEEH 4830000027 (41,600,000 TR  418,300,000% 7T &
(AHEBERE Mo IE HibOH B PR{G3UE » K £:6,800,000/8 LK
X RBERD HAX) BRHERRTRER AR AR
BHE)
(vi)  Administrative expenses for the leading ~ Lending business Approximately HK$0.65 million Approximately Nil
business HK$650,000
Vi) EEXRBZIHFX BEER #1650,000/ T #1650,000 8T B

The expected funding needs of the Convertible Note were based on the
best estimation and assumption of future market conditions at the time
of preparing the issue of the Convertible Note while the actual use of
proceeds were based on the development of the Group’s business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Use of proceeds (Continued)
Notes:

Approximately HK$17 million was originally intended for financing the business
development of the pharmaceutical and healthcare products business. After
considering the operation and business development of the Group, the Board
resolved to re-allocate approximately HK$14 million to finance the acquisition
and future business development of King Win Intelligent Technologies
Limited and approximately HK$3 million to general working capital for the
pharmaceutical and healthcare products business.

Approximately HK$1.2 million was originally intended for general working capital
(mainly administrative expenses) for wireless value-added services business.
the Board resolved to re-allocate approximately HK$200,000 to finance the
professional fee for disposal of wireless value-added services business. After
disposal of wireless value-added services business, the Board resolved to
re-allocate approximately HK$1 million to general working capital for the
pharmaceutical and healthcare products business.

An analysis about the expected funding needs for the expansion of the

Group’s trading and jewellery business and the actual use of proceeds

up to 31 March 2019 out of placement during the year was set out as

follows:

Total estimated minimum

PMBEE EERARREE (8

FrEREAZ (&)
MeE

()  #917,000,0007% 7T R 7 #t FA 1 A BE 5 I i R v 18
EMFEBIEBERBE KEEAEEZEE
NEBEHE  EFLFREE 14,000,000/ T E
19 B = A UE King Win Intelligent Technologies
Limited &2 & B £ ¥ 58 R E + LAK& 43,000,000
BUTRFHERBREEERERZ —REE

(i) #91,200,0008 TR E#AERERIZERBE X
B MEEES (EEATHAX) - EFE
FORE49200,0008 TEF D EE B H & ERHY

XW1% - EEEHER5491,000,0008 T EH 5
EEENEHREERERER s —REEES -

FAHBERASEEEMNKEXHHEAR
BERERFBEEZE-NF=A=+—HZE
EMBTRERAG 2NN T

Actual use of

funding need in respect of Designated area/ proceeds up to Balance as at
the placement of shares business segment Net proceeds received 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
EE-2-NF
EBRERGZ KEEE/ =ZR=t-82 R=B-1%
A REELERER B0 H BHFERIEERR FEREERAZ ZR=T-R&H
Expansion of the Group’s trading and Jewelry trading and Approximately HK$63.7 million Approximately Approximately
jewellery busingss retailing business HK$12.0 milion HK$51.7 milion

BRASEEIRATEH KREEERTERH  #4163,700,000% T #712,000,0007 T #751,700,0007% 7T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R T

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 50 employees (31 March
2018: 49). However, total staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2019
increased to approximately HK$28,479,000 (2018: HK$9,301,000)
mainly due to grant of share option during the year.

The Group’s remuneration policy is basically determined by the
performance of individual employees and Directors and the market
condition. In addition to salaries and discretionary bonuses, employee
benefits included medical schemes, pension contributions, share option
schemes and staff training.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Jewellry business
The Group commenced its Jewellry Business in 2015 and continued to
develop this business in the period under review.

During the period under review, the Group’s Jewellry Business included
wholesale and retail of jewellry and related ancillary business (including
but not limited to custom-made jewellry, valet- procurement of
jewellry and various after-sales services), and most of the processing
businesses are performed in the form of commissioned processing
by external factories. The jewellry products sold by the Group mainly
included gold jewellry, platinum jewellry, diamond jewellry, gemstone
jewellry, emerald and karat gold jewellry.

The Group’s jewellry retailing business was conducted mainly through
an offline store located in Wongtee Plaza, Futian District, Shenzhen,
the PRC, which is a franchised store of the Luk Fook Jewellery brand.
The store is required to select goods from the suppliers designated by
Luk Fook Jewellery. Upon quality inspection by state-approved jewellry
identification center and being claimed to the store by the Group’s staff,
the goods are immediately entered into store sales system for sale.
Most of the jewellry goods purchased by the store from the suppliers
were finished jewellry products, which are generally not required to
undergo reprocessing before sale.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RO

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Jewellry business (Continued)

The Group’s jewellry wholesale business was mainly conducted
through the wholesale of jewellry products to jewellry wholesalers by
2B YA #EL (I BR A A, awholy owned subsidiary of the
Company, where the jewellry products being wholesaled were mainly
gold jewelries. During the period under review, the Group has the
secondary membership (Z— £ & B & &) of Shanghai Gold Exchange
and continued to develop the secondary gold sales agency business (&
& WA IEZETE). The Group may place orders for bullion via the online
trading platform of Shanghai Gold Exchange. After claiming the bullion,
the Group may commission external factories to process into finished
gold jewelries and wholesale to jewellry wholesalers.

The Group will continue to focus on developing its Jewellry Business.
With reference to its past sales experience, the Group intends to step
up its efforts in identifying more jewellry wholesaler customers in South
China, thereby expanding the sales channels of its secondary gold
sales agency business (& & — RN IEZETE). As to retail of jewellry, the
positioning of retail products in stores will focus on mid-end products,
which will be supplemented by low end products. Meanwhile, the
Group will put more efforts to raise the sales proportion to its major
high-end corporate customers (which principally purchase or customize
jewellry as corporate gifts/awards) so as to increase the jewellry sales
as well as generate profits.

The revenue from the Jewellry Business increased by approximately
HK$14,953,000 from approximately HK$34,685,000 for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$49,638,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019. The increase in revenue from the Jewellry Business
for the year under review was mainly because of the increase in trading
of golden jewellry products in the PRC. However, relatively low gross
margin of wholesale of jewellry and the selling and administrative
expenses to maintain and develop this business resulted in loss in this
segment. Going forward, the Group will try to allocate more resources
to develop its Jewellry Business, especially the golden jewellry trading
business, and at the same will try further effort to control the selling
and administrative expenses to increase the profitability of the Jewellry
Business.

FBOERREE @

REXEHK (&)
AEBEZKRERBEBIEBBARAZE
EMfBARZE8RI &L CRIDBRAFR
BREEMTARERERET MBI
EEMIERESHMm NEEHAN X%
EBELEESRGM_BEEER Wi
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ERDEHRRBIAINBIHMIANX RS
T EMBRIBAIAREIER -

AEERHEBR IR EREEBNER - &
BBEMNHERR  AKREFEENEER
WESHESZHREDLEFRT,  KMBR
HEd _MREXBHHERE - MAEKRE
TEHE - 5T EE M E (LR AP R E 5
RE - EHRERSTH RAEZNRESHSK
CEREP (X2RBHATHUKRBEERLER
i,/ BEE) HISHE L) - AR DN ERE S R
FEAIENE

REEB RNz EEZE_F—N\F=A
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FA KREEB WG EEZHRFTEH
LESHREEQEBLNMAE - AT KE
BB EFRBEEEA LGS REREIER
ZHERTHAXES A LEEE - &
BARR AERBFERALEZERERE
KEXY FHARESHKERZ XY Ak
153 — 85 PRI 88 & 1T IR S LA I ER
EXBNANETS -

2019 F 3 | EAEEEREEFR AT

17



18

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R T

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business

The Group commenced its Lending Business in Hong Kong in 2016
through acquiring a group of companies with a valid money lending
licence in Hong Kong to diversify its income source. The Lending
Business continued to grow and contributed positive results to the Group
during the period under review. The Group will pay a closer attention
to the market situation and the external economic environment and
consider the possibility of further expansion in the Lending Business.

There was one major outstanding loan receivable with the Group in
amounting to HK$2,327,000 as at 31 March 2019. All of them were
carried out as part of the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group and brought in interest income to the Group.

The Group has conducted internal risk assessment on these loan
arrangements and noted both of the borrowers have substantial
investments and assets in the PRC which support their respective
financial capability to repay the loans, thus no securities or collaterals
was sought. The purpose of the loans is to enhance their short-term
cash flow.

Pharmaceutical and healthcare products business
The Group commenced its Pharmaceutical Business in 2016 and
continued to develop this business in the year under review.

Since 2016, the Group has established business relationships with
target pharmaceutical companies and chain pharmacies and during the
year under review, it has established business relationships with a group
of target hospitals in western Guangdong, which are mainly related to
the distribution of pharmaceuticals and pharmaceutical consumables to
such hospitals as well as the supply of pharmaceuticals and healthcare
products to such pharmaceutical companies and chain pharmacies.
During the aforementioned supply and sales activities, the Group mainly
acts as a channel distributor to conduct sales activities, which does not
involve pharmaceutical production.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RO

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Pharmaceutical and healthcare products business
(Continued)

The revenue from the Pharmaceutical Business increased by
approximately HK$6,683,000 from approximately HK$26,635,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$33,318,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2019. Such increase was mainly due to the
increase in sales of pharmaceutical products to hospitals.

In regard to the sales of pharmaceuticals and healthcare products,
the Group will review the market situation and the profitability of the
business periodically. Then the Group will adjust the business volume
in accordance with market demands and determine the resources to
be further allocated based upon the business volume and operating
situation from time to time.

The internal control review

The Company also engaged an internal control reviewer to conduct
an internal control review for the Group (the “IC Review”) which covers
four major areas, namely, (i) corporate internal control; (i) financial
reporting and disclosure internal control; (iii) internal control over
business processes; and (iv) operational manual. The first stage of the
IC Review was completed. Findings and recommendations under the IC
Review were presented to the Board and the Group is implementing the
recommendations if thought fit.

Looking ahead, there are still great challenges for the Group. While
carrying out initiatives already under way in its current strategic plans,
the Group will also critically review the future opportunities in its existing
businesses with a target to re-allocate the Group’s resources for a more
fruitful manner. In the coming future, the Group will focus its work on
strengthen its marketing and channel efforts, increasing user base and
improving the quality of its products.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSNEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (“Mr. Zhang”), was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board and executive director on 12 February 2018. Mr. Zhang is
in charge of the overall corporate strategies and business development
of the Group. Mr. Zhang founded a trading company in Shenzhen and
it evolved to become a global supply chain management corporation
which Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman. Mr. Zhang is responsible
for the overall strategic development of the corporation which is a top
100 import/export corporation in the PRC and a pioneer of supply chain
management in the PRC. Mr. Zhang has over 12 years of experience
in supply chain management in the PRC. Mr. Zhang was the vice
chairman of RINT LEXBAEEELEREE and AIITREEHE
+TEREE.

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (“Ms. Chung”), was appointed as
an executive Director, a chief executive officer on 18 May 2018. Ms.
Chung is also both the nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”)
and the remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of the
Company. Ms. Chung has extensive professional experience in Global
brand building and investment advisory. She is appointed as CEO and
executive director of Paganini Milano (SG) PTE Limited in early 2017,
responsible for brand positioning, strategic planning, and business
development. She leads her team to develop retail business globally.
Prior to that, Ms. Chung was a director at BOCI Securities Limited and
an assistant vice president at HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Limited
responsible for investment advisory for over 10 years. Ms. Chung
graduated at Rutgers University, and started her professional career
at General Electric Capital Corporation in the United States of America
and she joined A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong) Limited after returning Hong
Kong.

Ms. Zhang Chunping (“Ms. Zhang”), was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 12 February 2018. Ms. Zhang has over 10
years of experience in financial management in the PRC and she is the
financial director of the global supply chain management corporation
Mr. Zhang founded since 2007. Ms. Zhang is responsible for overseeing
the financial operation of the corporation and liaising with various
bankers of the corporation for banking facilities and other services.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHNEER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Zhigang (“Mr. Xu”), redesignated from Chairman and
executive Director to a non-executive Director of the Company on 12
February 2018. He appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 25 June 2015 and appointed as Chairman of the Board on 17 July
2015. Mr. Xu holds a master’s degree in business management from
Southwest Jiaotong University in the PRC. Mr. Xu is also appointed
as an executive director and chief executive officer of Hong Kong
Resources Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 02882). Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Xu acted as a vice president of Mega Medical
Technology Limited (formerly known as “Wing Tai Investment Holdings
Limited and Wing Lee Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 876), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Exchange, and he was an executive
director and later re-designated as a non-executive director of Aurum
Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148), a company listed
on GEM. Mr. Xu has extensive experience in areas such as corporate
management, business financing, corporate investment and asset
acquisition.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (“Ms. Chan”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2018. Ms. Chan
is also the Chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the
Company and a member of the Nomination Committee. Ms. Chan is
a finance expert with more than 20 years professional and commercial
exposure in international accounting firm, multinational corporations
and Hong Kong listed companies. She served as a Principal of Crowe
Horwath (HK) CPA Limited. Ms. Chan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in accounting. She also holds
a master degree in business administration from the University
of Manchester. Ms. Chan is the member of certain professional
associations. Ms. Chan was Committee member and Chairman, SME
Sub-committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(“ACCA”) for 8 years. She is elected in the ACCA Global Council
Election in December 2017. She is also a member of ACCA Resource
Oversight Committee.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSNEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (“Mr. Kwan”), was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 February 2018. Mr. Kwan is also the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Kwan was the chairman, executive director and one
of the controlling shareholders of Bamboos Health Care Holdings
Limited (“Bamboos”, stock code: 02293). He has resigned from the
post of chairman and executive director of Bamboos with effect from 18
August 2018 and 5 January 2019, respectively. He is an independent
non-executive director of Stream Ideas Group Limited (stock code:
08401) and BExcellent Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 01775).
Mr. Kwan obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics and a master’s
degree in Economics from The University of Hong Kong in January
1995 and December 2005 respectively. Mr. Kwan completed a
programme in Executive MBA and obtained a master’s degree in
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2007. Mr. Kwan had over 10 years of managerial experience
in the public sector, from February 1995 to December 2007, including
working as an executive officer in various government departments
including Registration and Electoral Office, Urban Services Department,
Home Affairs Department, Hong Kong Police Force and Chief Secretary
for Administration’s Office Government Secretariat.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (“Ms. Lee”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2018. Ms. Lee
is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
both the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. Ms. Lee was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of Finsoft Financial
Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 08018) on September
2013. Prior to that Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master of Business
Administration (Executive) at City U in October 2014. Ms. Lee also
obtained her Doctor of Business Administration from the City University
of Hong Kong in November 2018.

Ms. Lee is running her own business in luxury fur coat retail since 2015.
From December 2006 to October 2012, Ms. Lee worked for King Fook
Holdings Limited and her last position was director of sales and brand
development, Greater China. From October 2012 to January 2015, Ms.
Lee worked for Boucheron Hong Kong Limited as a retail director. Ms.
Lee was a director of Yan Oi Tong, a registered non-profit charitable
organisation, from 2010 to 2014 and 2017 to 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHNEER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Koon Fat (“Mr. Chan”) has been appointed as the chief
financial officer, Company Secretary and the Authorised Representative
of the Company on 12 February 2018. Mr. Chan, has over 15 years
of experience in the areas of capital markets, accounting and finance,
investment and corporate management covering a number of industry
sectors such as real estate, medical and garment. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Chan is the chief financial officer and company
secretary of On Real International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8245)
from March 2016 to August 2017 and is responsible for all financial,
accounting, investment and corporate finance matters. Since August
2007, Mr. Chan held senior positions including chief financial officer,
financial controller and company secretary of certain companies which
were listed on Singapore Exchange Limited. Mr. Chan holds a Master of
Business Administration (Financial Services) of Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a bachelor degree in accounting of Lingnan University,
Hong Kong. He is a fellow and practicing member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

The Director of the Company are pleased to present the annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by principal activities for
the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 83 to 236.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year under review is set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis section of this annual
report on pages 7 to 19.

CHANGE OF THE COMPANY’S NAME

On 31 May 2018, the name of the Company had been changed from
“Prosten Health Holdings Limited” to “China Brilliant Global Limited”.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION MBERRBE

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and AEBBTRHENBRFREEHEZXERE
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years. EHBERENT -

Results 4

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZR=+t—HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
=E-NF —_ET-N\F —T—+F —_FT-RF —_T—IF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET FET FHET FHET

Revenue W25 84,047 64,739 30,255 10,050 9,763
Loss before tax R B A BT 18 (53,994) (18,180) (21,450) (31,351) (28,307)
Income tax expense it X (12) 272) (35) ®) (1,400)

(54,006) (18,452) (21,485) (31,359) (29,707)

Discontinued operation B 4% |- &84 3 7%

Profit/(loss) for the KEDERIEEEFET

year from discontinued 2 4 WK, (E18)

operation - 41,770 (2,207) - -
(Loss)/profit for the RATIERBEEA

year attributable to EIEER

equity holders of the (B518) & F

Company (54,006) 23,318 (23692)  (31,359) (29,707
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Assets and Liabilities

BHEERFEE @)
BEREE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
=E-NAF —_ET-N\F —T—+F —_FT-RF —_T-IF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Property, plant and Y BB REE
equipment 3,267 1,687 5,799 2,067 2,351
Investment property KEYE 11,107 12,299 4,391 - 4,367
Long-term prepaid EHEMES
rentals - - 1,093 - -
Deposits A - - - 46 141
Prepayments TR 3B - 156 - - -
Available-for-sale AHEERE
investments - 15,000 16,583 22,179 832
Goodwill EES 1,765 4,679 5,092 3,908 -
Interests in associates ~ REEE N B 2 R 9,883 - 2,068 - -
Loan receivables U E 3R 2,259 - - - -
Current assets MENEE 117,238 80,579 68,707 75,019 9,884
Current liabilities nBEE (22,964) (26,550) (28,873) (32,084) (27,942)
Non-current liability EREBAE - - (169) (181) (500)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE,/(Afk)FE 122,555 87,850 74,691 70,954 (10,867)
Share capital & s 145,096 121,096 120,826 109,536 79,610
Reserves & (22,541) (33,246) (46,100) (38,582) (90,477)
Non-controlling interests ~ FF 22 B #E %5 - - (35) - -
Total equity/(deficitin 425 (BEEAL)
assets) 122,555 87,850 74,691 79,054 (10,867)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and the
investment property of the Group during the year are set out in notes 17
and 18 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options
during the year are set out in notes 37 and 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

On 30 April 2018, an aggregate of 240,000,000 placing shares were
successfully placed under general mandate to not fewer than six
placees, which are independent third parties of the Group, at the
placing price of HK$0.27 per placing share. The 240,000,000 placing
shares represents approximately 19.82% of existing issued share
capital of the Company on 17 April 2018, the date the agreement was
entered into, and approximately 16.54% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the placing shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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K18 -

MRS KRB I i
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R A SRR KI5E37 & 38 °
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law
(2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. Under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account is distributable to the Shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
The share premium account may also be distributed in the form of fully
paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 43% (2018: 51%) of the
Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein accounted for approximately 21% (2018: 18%) of the
Group’s total sales.

During the year under review, supplies from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 82% (2018: 83%) of the Group’s
total purchases and purchases from the Group’s largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 67% (2018: 29%) of the
Group’s total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises the importance of environmental sustainability
against modern ecological challenges. Therefore, the Group committed
to the long-term sustainability of its businesses and the communities
with which it engages. The Group pursues this business approach by
managing its business prudently and executing management decisions
with due care and attention. The Group is committed to acting in an
environmentally responsible manner. Recycling and use of ecofriendly
stationery, plus a series of measures to save paper and energy, resulted
in more efficient use of resources, as well as reduction of waste.

Further details of the Groups environmental, social and governance
initiatives are set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” in this report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continuous dialogue is maintained with stakeholders that include
customers, employees, regulators and the public. The Company seeks
to balance the views and interests of these various stakeholders through
constructive conversations with a view to charting a course for the long-
term prosperity of the Company and the communities we touch.

EMPLOYEES

Hard-working and dedicated employees are the backbone of a
company. The Company treasures its loyal and industrious staff
members. In addition, it adopts non-discriminatory hiring and
employment practices and strives to provide a safe and healthy
workplace.

GOVERNMENT/COMMUNITY

The Group recognises the importance of contributing within the local
community and the Group encourage its people to develop close links
with charities, schools and other institutions, both locally and nationally,
to help to build more economically sustainable local environments.
Strenuous efforts are exerted to ensure compliance with the laws and
regulations of the jurisdictions in which the Company operates.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

(Chief Executive Officer, appointed on 18 May 2018)
Ms. Zhang Chunping

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xu Zhigang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Chunhua, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee and Ms. Chan Mei Yan
Hidy will retire from office and, being eligible to offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of its
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua, an executive director, entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of one years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee, an executive director, entered into a
Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three
years, commencing from 18 May 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Zhang Chunping, an executive director, entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.
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EETHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Mr. Xu Zhigang, an non-executive director, entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of one year,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, an independent non-executive director,
entered into a Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed
term of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter
be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on the other
party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong, an independent non-executive director, entered
into a Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed term
of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter
be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on the other
party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, an independent non-executive director,
entered into a Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed
term of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter
be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on the other
party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board are authorised by the Shareholders in general meeting to
fix the Directors’ remuneration. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance, the results of the Group as well as the prevailing market
conditions.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in notes
13 and 43 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively. Such
transactions did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that during the year under review, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered
into or existed during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopts and administers a share option scheme which
is currently in force and effect for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. The share option scheme was approved by
the Shareholders on 5 August 2011 and its scheme mandate limit was
refreshed by an ordinary resolution at the annual general meeting of
the Company on 28 September 2016 (the “2011 Scheme”). Further
details of the 2011 Scheme are disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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= O
EEEFHRE
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BB ST E ()
2011 scheme —E——F58
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise period  Exercise price
At1 April Granted Exercised Lapsed At 31 March Date of of share options  of share options
Name or category 2018 during during during 2019 share options granted granted*
of participant R-E-NE the period the period theperiod ~ WZE-NE granted* REBRE RiBRE
SRELHLEA mA-A R Bl Br%%  ZA=t-A BRERLAH ZTRER iR
HKS per share
A (8K
Directors
gz
Mr. Zhang Chunhua - 13,800,000 - - 13,800,000 21June 2018 27 June 201910 059
REERE ZE-\E O 26June 2028
AEZTE k3
AAZTERE
5 )\F
ABZTAE
Ms. Zhang Chunping - 13,800,000 - - 13,800,000 27June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
REINL ZE-\E 26June 2028
AEZTtE k3
NAZTERE
—Eo0E
~AZTAE
Ms. Chung Elizabeth - 13,800,000 - - 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 201910 059
Ching Yee 2N\ 26 June 2028
EREaT ~RZTtH k3
ARZTERE
—Eo0E
AAZTRE
Mr. Xu Zhigang - 300,000 - - 300,000 27 June 2018 27 June 201910 059
fEmLE ZE-\E O 26June 2028
AEZTE “E-NE
~RAZttRE
ZZC)\E
AAZTRA
- 200,000 - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 033
ZE-N\E to
+ZA+/\E 18 December 2028
ZZ-NE
TZATN\RZE
“Eo)\E
tZRT/\A

34 China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

= -
EEEFHRE
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BB ST E ()
2011 scheme (Continued) —E——F5E @&
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise period  Exercise price
At1 April Granted Exercised Lapsed At 31 March Date of  of share options  of share options
Name or category 2018 during during during 2019 share options granted granted*™
of participant R-B-NE the period the period theperiod ~ WZE-hE granted* ROBRE RLBRE
SRELRIER mA-H g Braf BRx%  ZA=t-A ERERLEH ZiTREHR ZRE
HKS per share
B (ER)
Directors (Continued)
Ez(@)
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy - 300,000 - - 300,000 21Jne 2018 27 June 201910 059
REEXL ZE-\E 26June 2028
~AZT+HA ZE-NE
AAZTERZ
“Eo0%
ABZTAE
- 200,000 - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 033
—3-)\% to
+ZAT/\E 18 December 2028
“E-0E
TZAtN\RZE
“EO)\E
+ZA+NR
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong - 300,000 - - 300,000 27June 2018 27 June 201910 059
BrRfk ZE-\E 26June 2028
~AZT+HA “Z-NE
~AZTEAZ
“Eo0%
RAZTHB
- 200,000 - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 033
“E-)\E 0
TZATN\B 18 December 2028
ZE-0E
tZATN\RE
“EO)\E
+ZA1+NR
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean - 300,000 - - 300,000 21June 2018 27 June 201910 059
FEGRT ZE-\E 26June 2028
~AZTHH —Z-NE
ARZTEAZ
“E-)\E
RRZ1/B
- 200,000 - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 033
—E-)N\% 0
+ZA+/\E 18 December 2028
ZE-0E
TZAtN\RZE
“ZO)\E
+ZA1+NR
- 43400000 - - 43,400,000
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EEEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

2011 scheme (Continued)

BRAERE @

—E2——F58(#E

Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise period  Exercise price
At1 April Granted Exercised Lapsed At 31 March Date of of share options  of share options
Name or category 2018 during during during 2019 share options granted granted*
of participant RZE-NE the period the period theperod ~ WZE-hE granted* RARRE RuBRE
SRELRIER mA-A Db Bl Bhk¥  ZA=t-B EBRERLAH ZREER ZiTfEE"
HKS per share
A (8K
Employees of the Group
A5HEE
In aggregate - 17,900,000 - - 17,900,000 21Jne 2018 27 June 201910 059
aif ZE-\E 26June2028
AEZTHE ZE-NE
AAZTERZ
ZZC)\E
AAZTRE
Others
2t
In aggregate - 18,100,000 - - 18,100,000 21dne 2018 27 June 201910 059
aif ZE-\E O 26June 2028
AEZTHE k3
~AZTERZ
ZZC)\E
AAZTRE
- 34,700,000 - - 34,700,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 033
2\ o
TZF+/\H 18 December 2028
ZZ-NE
TZAtN\RZE
ZZC)\E
TZAt/A
- 52,800,000 - - 52,800,000
- 114,100,000 - - 114,100,000
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EETHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)
2011 scheme (Continued)

The time of acceptance of the share options was within 21 days from the
options offer date. The share options granted are subject to certain vesting
period and vary for each category of participant as specified under the
respective share option schemes.

- The exercise price of the share options is subject to some adjustments in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had outstanding options to
subscribe for up to 114,100,000 shares under the 2011 Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) which were notified to
the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were, pursuant to the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company, notified to the Company and the Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

BRAERE @
—E-—FiE8

- EREZRMRREABBREZOR SRR
AR RIBSBREFSIZHE  IRHZBK
REEIR2EERMHZET RGBS
AR IR

B ITEEEHBRRARET AR FK
AL E MRS S A T -

R-ZE-NAF=ZA=+—8 ARFARE_
T-—FHEBERARTERREANR

REE %
114,100,000 A% &% 15 °

EERFETHRAERRD RIEE
Bz EEZRAE
RZE—NF=ZR=F+—H EERFE]

BABRARRSEEMMEE AR (EXRF
HREERG ([FHRABE KRG EXVER)
ZRHRABBERG T - EERES %&Hﬂf
1IH§IJ%XV*|3%7&%8“*/,\%D PAN/N

B P e e K ﬁ(@%*ﬁ?ﬁ%%&ﬁﬁaw
@MHﬁ%MX{&—JE”‘T”Eizﬁi%%ﬁzf“/\D
WE) AR AATREES RIE K
PIE 32 BB T2 ERMRzER AR

SRBARAARANEFAESTETELRRS
ZITRTRIBNE AR REZM o ERR

/)(EZZD_F-

REQRAEBRZHER

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share capital

=RV

Number of ERTREAETIL

Name of Director Notes  Capacity and nature of interest ordinary shares Note (4)

EEsR Mzt SORERME ZERHE B3 (4)

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (1) Interest of a controlled corporation 822,319,294 56.67%
REERLE —HEXER AT 2 S
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company
(Continued)

EERTETBRAERRORAE
IRz Em ROXE (@)

REQXAEBR2HF R (B)

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share capital

LR NN

Number of ERITRATS

Name of Director Notes  Capacity and nature of interest ordinary shares Note (4)

EEng fsx StokEZRMEE ZEREA FT 5T (4)

Mr. Zhang Chunhua 2 Personal interest 1,764,000 0.12%
REERE PN 2

Ms. Chung Elizabeth ) Personal interest 2,809,000 0.19%

Ching Yee
EREL T & A #E 2
Notes: [

(1) 822,319,294 shares of the Company are held by Brilliant Chapter Limited and
its entire issued share capital is held 20% by Source Mega Limited, a company
incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles. The directors of Brilliant Chapter
Limited are Mr. Zhang Chunhua and Ms. Zhang Chunping and the sole director
of Source Mega Limited is Ms. Zhang Chunping. Ms. Zhang Chunping is the
executive director of the Company. Mr. Zhang Chunhua is the brother of Ms.
Zhang Chunping. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang Chunhua is deemed to be
interested in 822,319,294 shares of the Company held by Brilliant Chapter
Limited.

(2)  Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 1,764,000 shares of the
Company.

(8  Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee is personally interested in 2,809,000 shares of
the Company.

(4)  Based on 1,450,963,725 shares in the Company in issue as at 31 March 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had an interest or short position
in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations that was notified to the Company and the
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rule
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares” above, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2019, shareholders (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of
the company

EEREROIES ZER

B EXTRBEESE RIEEREZITHRA
BB KRB 2 s KoK B | M AT iR
BEN RFAEAEEBERTANES
BER Q@Eﬁ&ﬂiﬁki%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂi

Al B s iE s M as 2 HEF) - 15 TR 4
TTEEAESEN AR ﬂﬂﬁ&ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%g

A RT L A E A A A AR
ERLSEN 2 TR -

FERRZESZRKXE
R-E—NF=ZA=F+—8 RARQT HTJ}
IR D TP HEEREFES LA EKRIIEX
EE2RFE 3D I ZAE AR AR B H 5 12

AR BN AR R IR IERE 75 M A B 15 0] 55 336
FBEET 2B o B gik B 2 BR (KA
AEEXRTBTRABRIMT

REQAEBERIEBERD 2FR

Percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share capital

ordinary shares or A2 F
underlying shares ERITREAASL
Name of shareholder Notes  Capacity and nature of interest EZEBRS® Note (3)
RN & B Mzt SORERME HERMEE M3t (3)
Brilliant Chapter Limited (1) Beneficially owned 822,319,294 56.67%
BEnA
Mr. ZHANG Chunhua ) Interest of a controlled corporation 822,319,294 56.67%
REERE b E e NG
) Personal interest 1,764,000 0.12%
B AR
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of
the company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Brilliant Chapter Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Republic of Seychelles and its issued share capital is beneficially owned as
to 80% by Mr. Zhang Chunhua and as to 20% by Source Mega Limited, a
company incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles (as a nhominee of Ms.
Zhang Chunping). Mr. Zhang Chunhua is the brother of Ms. Zhang Chunping.

(2)  Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 1,764,000 shares of the
Company.

(8) Based on 1,450,963,725 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or the controlling Shareholders of the Company
or their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
have any interests in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest with the
Group during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) on the basis of their performance, qualifications and
competence. As incentives for their contributions to the Group, the
employees of the Group and all the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors) may also be
granted share options by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the share option scheme.

The emoluments of the Directors are either determined by the
Remuneration Committee or recommended to the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market remuneration packages for executive and non-
executive directors of listed issuers in Hong Kong.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) on
7 March 2000 and has formulated and from time to time amended its
written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures, review of the Group’s
financial information and review of the Group’s relationship with its
auditors.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Kwan Chi Hong and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean.

The Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards,
the GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors considered that the Company has complied with all the
code provisions set out in the CG Code as contained in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under review. Save for the
deviation disclosed for i) the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer under the CG Code provision A.2.1 until 18 May 2018.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.
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EETHE

AUDITORS
The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited (“HLB”) whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming

AGM. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint HLB as auditors of the Group.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 June 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERHE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance with a view to assuring the conduct of management of
the Company as well as protecting the interests of all Shareholders.
The good corporate governance principles adopted by the Company
emphasise a quality board for leading and controlling of the Company,
effective internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
Shareholders.

The Company’s code of corporate governance practices was adopted
with reference to the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report (“CG
Report”) as contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the
CG Code throughout the year under review, save for the deviation
disclosed below of CG Code provisions A.2.1, A.6.3 and A.6.7.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors gave confirmation that he complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

During the year under review, Mr. Zhang Chunhua and Ms. Zhang
Chunping were continuously appointed as executive Directors. Ms.
Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee was appointed as an executive Director on
18 May 2018.

Mr. Xu Zhigang was continuously appointed as a non-executive
Director.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, Mr. Kwan Chi Hong and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling,
May Jean were continuously appointed as independent non-executive
Directors.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors. All Directors, except the non-executive
Director, gave sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2019. Each executive Director has
sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his/her
duties effectively and efficiently. In full compliance with Rules 5.05(1)
and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company had in place three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. They provided the Company with diversified
industry expertise, advised the management on strategic development
and assumed that the Board maintains high standard of compliance
with financial and other mandatory reporting requirements as well as
provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Company as a whole.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Board as at 31 March 2019 comprised:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer, appointed
on 18 May 2018)

Ms. Zhang Chunping

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xu Zhigang

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

The names, biographical details of the Directors and the relationships
among them are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

An updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions
from time to time is posted on the website of the Exchange and the
Company’s website from time to time.

EE2 @)
AR (&)

RZZE-—hF=A=+—H BEFEAUT
EEAK

BITES

REERE (LE)

BEELT(BEHTE R_F—\F
ERTN\BEZEE)

RENFRLT

FUTEE
RERRE

BYFHITES
RER X+
FHAL L

REE2 R BEABLAREEZEES
RAFHRIEERSRERE] —F -

HANEFACRBEZITROCENEFTEE
N T B OB S BT 48 B A A8

2019 F 3 | EAEEEREEFR AT

45



46

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

Under the CG Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be clearly established
and set out in writing.

During the year under review until 18 May 2018, the Company has not
appointed Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman was responsible for
ensuring that the Board functions effectively and smoothly. In doing
so, the Chairman ensured that good corporate governance practices
were adhered to and proper procedures were established and followed,
and that all Directors were properly briefed and received all relevant
information prior to each Board meeting. The Chairman was also
responsible for overseeing the implementation of corporate strategies
of the Group. The Board considers that the current arrangement is
adequate in view of the size and complexity of the Group’s operations.
The Board will, nonetheless, review the business growth of the Group
and locate suitable candidate to fill the vacancy of the chief executive
officer when considered essential and will continue setting out a
clear division of responsibilities at the board level and the day-to-day
management team to ensure a proper balance of power and authority
within the Company.

Since 18 May 2018, the Company has appointed the Chief Executive
Officer is Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee. The role of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer are separate and exercised by different individual
which complies with Rule A.2.1.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board meetings

The Board meets in person or through electronic means of
communication at least four times every year. Notice of at least 14 days
for all Board meetings were given to all Directors, who were all given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion.

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists
the Chairman in preparing the agenda for each meeting, and ensures
that all applicable rules and regulations regarding the meetings are
observed. The finalised agenda and accompanying Board papers are
then sent to all Directors prior to each meeting.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the individual attendance record of
each Director is as follows:

Directors

B
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FERUBIEEHRAAETBAIRES
ELBHOARH -FAEEREREEM
SREFHUSL4ARN SEEHER
SEGHBE NI AT RBE -

ARRzREWE ((RAWE]) HBEFER
HEEFIARE UHRAMERZMEEN
HRAIMREAEEBET HRBEZERE
LEEMZ EFEXHHBREESSHAMA
EREEES -

HE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—HILFE =
EXEHEGHZRENT

Attendance

H E IR

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
REFELLE(LE)

/7

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer, appointed on 18 May 2018) 6/6

BEELT (BEHTE R_T-—\FEATNAEZT)
Ms. Zhang Chunping
REFLL

Non-executive Director

FUTES

Mr. Xu Zhigang
REM L

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
PRERZ L

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong
BEREE

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
FHPLL

6/7

1/7

s

/7

s
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EXERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board meetings (Continued)

Code provision A.6.3 of the CG Code requires every director should
ensure that he can give sufficient time and attention to the issuer’s
affairs and should not accept the appointment if he cannot do so. Mr.
Xu Zhigang, being non-executive Director was only attend one out of 7
board meetings due to his personal commitment.

The Board held four regular meetings for the year ended 31 March
2019. During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discussed
and formulated the overall strategies of the Company, monitored
financial performances and discussed the annual and interim results, set
annual budgets, as well as discussed and decided on other significant
matters.

Apart from the regular Board meetings of the year, the Board met on
other occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter was
required. The Directors would receive the agenda and documents to be
tabled for consideration in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary recorded the proceedings of each Board
meeting in details by keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions
made by the Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views
expressed (if any). Draft Board minutes were circulated to all Directors
for comments and approval as soon as practicable after the meeting.
All minutes are open for inspection by the Directors at any reasonable
time on their request. All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times as the Chairman ensures that management will
supply the Board and its committees with all relevant information in a
timely manner.

During the year, the Company provides regular updates on the business
performance of the Group to the Directors, so as to ensure that they
had appropriate understanding of the Group’s business and of their
duties and responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and the relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements.
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EXERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Delegation by the Board

The Company has set out the respective functions and responsibilities
which can be reserved to the Board and delegated to management.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and senior management while reserving certain key matters for
its approval. The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring
of the Company’s overall strategies and policies, approval of business
plans; evaluating the performance of the Company and overseeing
its management. It is also responsible for promoting the success of
the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended at Board meetings.

Directors’ work commitments outside the group

Directors are required to disclose in a timely manner to the Company
Secretary for any change, the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
and the identity of such public companies or organisations. Such
information is disclosed in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

The Company provides newly appointed Directors with briefings
on the businesses of the Group and training materials on corporate
governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities and other matters
under the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations.
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EXERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Directors’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to cover the
Directors’ risk exposure arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage is reviewed annually.

Term of appointment and re-election

Details of the terms of appointment of the Directors are disclosed in
the section “Directors’ Service Contracts” of the report of the Directors
in this annual report. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the general meeting in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a package of orientation
materials detailing the duties and responsibilities of Directors under the
GEM Listing Rules, the Articles of Association, related ordinances and
relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.

Every Director is aware that, before accepting appointment as a
Director, he/she must be able to give sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company.

Under the CG Code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment and every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
three (3) or a multiple of three (3), then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the meeting but shall not be taken into
account in determining the Directors or the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation at such meeting.
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EXERRE

TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Chunhua, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching
Yee, Ms. Zhang Chunping, Mr. Xu Zhigang, Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, Mr.
Kwan Chi Hong, and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, had participated in
continuous professional development with respect to directors’ duties,
relevant programs and seminars or had perused reading materials and
updated information in relation to business and industrial development.
The Directors had provided the relevant training records for the Year to
the Company.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure that he/she
is fully aware of his/her roles, functions, duties and responsibilities under
the Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory requirements and
the governance policies of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s
process and communications among Board members and with the
Shareholders and the management, and advising the Board and its
committees on all corporate governance matters. He reports to the
Chairman of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer and her
selection, appointment or dismissal shall be a Board decision.

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed.

Throughout the year under review, Mr. Chan Koon Fat was continuously
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company.

In accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Chan has
taken no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during
the year under review.
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EXERRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy. The policy sets
out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should have a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with policies.
The composition and diversity policies of the Board is reviewed annually
and regularly. The Board should ensure that its changes in composition
will not result in any undue interference. The Board members should
possess appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness
in performing duties and functions. The Board would diversify its
members according to the Company’s situations and need. While
participating in nomination and recommendation of director candidates
during the year, each member of the Board may consider a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, or professional experience in achieving
diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various business development
and management. The Board has to review the policy concerning
diversity of Board members and to disclose the policy or a summary of
the policy in the corporate governance report, including any quantitative
targets and standards and its progress with policy implementation.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

e the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

e retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

e the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

e the Group’s liquidity position;

e general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of

the Company; and

e  other factors that the Board deems relevant. The payment of
dividend is also subject to compliance
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees had been amended and restated on 1 January 2019 and
are posted on the website of the Exchange and the Company’s website.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee are non-executive or independent non-executive
Directors; which the list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out below.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resource to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.
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EXERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Remuneration Committee on 17 June 2005 with written terms of
reference. The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and one
executive Director, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management and
reviewing the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year
under review. The individual attendance record of each Remuneration
Committee member is as follows:

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (Cormmittee Chairman)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (appointed on 18 May 2018)
Ms. Zhang Chunping (ceased be member on 18 May 2018)

RIBEEXEBTAZRE ARFRERF
TRERNATEEXRYFMEZES A HFT
HEEBELE -FMEZE@mmMA B
HOTEEREREEE (FHEZEEXR)  F
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BERELE (ZRELE)

FHPL L

BEREXE (R /\FHAT/\BEZE)

KEELXET(R_ZE-NFEATN\BTER
&)

Members Attendance
HE HERE
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (Committee Chairman) 3/3
BEREE(ZEEEL/E)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 3/3
AL+

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (appointed on 18 May 2018) 2/2
EELt (RZE-N\FRA+/\BEZE)

Ms. Zhang Chunping (ceased be member on 18 May 2018) 1/1

KEFXLTMR_E-N\FEA+TNBTBERKE)

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERHE

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Nomination Committee on 29 March 2012 with written terms of
reference. The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (Chairman
of the Nomination Committee) and Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy and one
executive Director, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy and making recommendations to
the Board on nomination and appointment of Directors and Board
succession, developing selection procedures for nomination candidates,
reviewing the size, structure and composition of the Board, as well as
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under
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review. The individual attendance record of each Nomination Committee REZESENESELEER ITHNAT
member is as follows:
Members Attendance
RE HERE
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (Committee Chairman) 1/1
FHENT (ZFEE2FE)
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 11
PRERZ T
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (appointed on 18 May 2018) N/A
EELt (RZE-N\FRAT+/\BEZE) TE M
Ms. Zhang Chunping (ceased be member on 18 May 2018) 1/1
KEFLZT(RZE-N\FRATNBTERKE)
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EXERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 7 March 2000 and
has formulated and from time to time amended its written terms of
reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG Code.
The existing Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Kwan Chi Hong and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May
Jean.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and review of
the Group’s relationship with its auditors.

The Audit Committee held six meetings during the year under review.

The individual attendance record of each Audit Committee member is
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as follows:

Members Attendance
RE H R
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Committee Chairman) 6/6
REB R (ZEE2F/E)

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong 6/6
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 6/6
FHA T

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited annual
results during the year ended 31 March 2019 have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering
and reviewing the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing
any non-audit functions performed by the external auditors, including
whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material
adverse effect on the Group.

During the year under review, the remuneration in respect of annual
audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors, amounted to
HK$880,000 and HK$150,000.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely
publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditors of the Group, HLB, about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group are
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” of this
annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group and has established the Group’s
internal control policies and procedures for monitoring the internal
control system. The internal control system of the Group is designed to
achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized use
or disposition, ensure maintenance of proper books and records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or publication,
and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations.
The management and various departments conduct periodic self-
assessment of the effectiveness of the internal control policies and
procedures. Besides, the Board reviews at least annually the overall
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

The Board is of the view that the Group’s internal control system is
effective, with room for improvement, to achieve the Group’s internal
control objectives and will continue to assess the effectiveness of
internal controls by considering reviews performed by the Audit
Committee, executive management and auditors.
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EXERRE

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board
has reviewed, on an annual basis, the need for an internal audit function
and is of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, as opposed to diverting resources to establish
a separate internal audit department, it would be more cost effective
to appoint external independent professionals to perform independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board
will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
department.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RELATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information
to its Shareholders.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with
its Shareholders through various means. The Directors host the annual
general meeting each to meet the Shareholders and answer their
enquiries. The Company also updates its Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company has provided
an effective communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, an extraordinary general
meeting and an annual general meeting of the Company were held on
28 May 2018 and 31 July 2018 respectively. The individual attendance
record of each Director is as follows:

Directors

=

TN

BE_ZT-NF=A=t—HLEFE &2
AR E-N\FREA-_TNBRERZ-ZE
—NFLA=Z1T—BRTRRFHIKRE LK
RBFRE REFRALFERICHNT

Attendance

H IR B

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
REERE (/)

2/2

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer, appointed on 18 May 2018) 2/2

BEERZ T (BEHTE R_T—\FEATNAEZE)
Ms. Zhang Chunping
REMLL

Non-executive Director

FUTES

Mr. Xu Zhigang
&ML

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
BREBR L+

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong

RS EEE

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
FHAL T

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires all independent non-
executive directors and non-executive directors should attend general
meetings of listed issuers. Mr. Xu Zhigang, being non-executive Director
was unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting and the annual
general meeting due to his personal commitment.

2/2

0/2

2/2

2/2

2/2
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2019 F 3 | EAEEEREEFR AT

59



60

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the
Shareholders and established a range of communication channels
between itself, its Shareholders and investors in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules. During the year under review, article 111, 112 and
134 of the Articles of Association have been amended. The updated
Articles of Association is available on the Stock Exchange’s and the
Company’s website.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law
(2012 Revision). However, Shareholders are requested to follow article
64 of the Articles of Association, general meetings shall be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one day of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expense incurred by the requisition(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRE

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

The provisions for a Shareholder to propose a person for election as
a Director are laid down in article 113 of the Articles of Association.
No person other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of the
intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed by
a Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as a
Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at
the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period during which
such notices are given shall be at least seven clear days and the period
for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than the day
immediately after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such intention and end no later than seven days before
the date of such general meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, by fax: (852) 2838 2922, e-mail at
ir@cbg.com.hk or mail to Flat B, 9/F., 9 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary
focus of the Company is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair,
accurate, truthful and complete thereby enabling Shareholders as well
as the public to make rational and informed decisions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR - HERERHRS

INTRODUCTION

China Brilliant Global Limited (“the Company”) is pleased to present
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”)
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”). This report discloses our practices and performance on
sustainable development in a transparent and open manner, in an effort
to strengthen stakeholders’ confidence in and understanding of the
Group. The report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (hereinafter referred to as the “Guide”) in Appendix 20 of the
Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (hereinafter
referred to as the “Stock Exchange”). All the information in the report
presents the Group’s performance in environmental protection and
social commitment from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019.

COPE OF THE REPORT

The report focuses on the Group’s jewellery retailing business and
trading of pharmaceutical while lending business is not included. The
scope of disclosure will be expanded to cover all of our operations after
the Group has further intensified its commitments in environmental,
social and governance and have a more well-developed data collection
system.

FEEDBACK

The Groups continuous improvement relies on valuable opinions from
all stakeholders on its ESG approach and performance. If you have any
recommendations, please feel free to email us at ir@cbg.com.hk to help
us in enhancing our ESG performance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR - HERERHRS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

The Stock Exchange has proposed four reporting principles in the
Guide: including Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency,
which serve as the basis for preparing the ESG Report. As mentioned
by the Stock Exchange, stakeholder engagement is the method for
assessing materiality. Through communication with stakeholders,
companies can understand stakeholders’ opinions and identify crucial
environmental and social issues.

For the Group, stakeholders refer to groups and individuals significantly
influencing or those who may be affected by the Group’s business. The
Group’s stakeholders include employees, management and directors,
as well as clients, business partners, investors, regulatory authorities
and various types of community groups. The Group determined the
matters relevant to the Group’s ESG report by discussing amongst
our senior management and business staff, performing evaluation and
analysis of materiality, as well as taking into account their importance to
stakeholders and our Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL

It is the Group’s policy to ensure compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations and minimise the Group’s
environmental footprint through efficient use of resources and adoption
of pro-environmental technologies. The Group believes that increased
environmental awareness is the key to environmental protection and
wellness to the general community.

Given the nature of the Group’s business, the Company believes that
its business operations have minimal direct impact on the environment
and natural resources. The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the environment and natural resources relating to exhaust
and greenhouse gas emissions, water usage, pollution discharge into
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR - HERERHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
Use of resource and greenhouse gas emissions

The Group is clearly aware that reduction of greenhouse gas emissions
is the most important mitigation method in coping with climate change,
while carbon footprint assessment provides the foundation for such
reduction. As the first step of carbon reduction, the Group conducted
carbon footprint assessments on its current principal businesses for
the year, recognised its greenhouse gas emissions every year, and set
carbon reduction targets and priorities, thus increasing efficiency of the
carbon reduction process.

BERERARBESHK

SERMBBRERBHERERYRZRE L
REBERRAE T - b B T I AR A
BERBHMEHER AFEEELEA
MEBRBETHKEI G SFERLE
RETNE  ER/BMME — 2 I ih ik Hl
ERA B RMELERF  FRIKNBREESR

LER

Increase/
Scope of greenhouse gas emission Unit Totalin2018  Total in 2019 decrease (+/-)
BERBHEREL By 2018 & 2019F A8 F BRIEE (+/-)
Scope 1 — direct emissions tonnes N/A N/A N/A
BE1 -HEBW YN @A 35 A e A
Scope 2 — indirect emissions (electricity) tonnes 71 81 +14%
EE 2 -FEHEHR(EN) NI
Scope 3 — other indirect emissions (paper) tonnes 14 3 -79%
#[E 3 - H fth B BEA (AR 5R) AME
Total emissions tonnes 85 84 -1%
BEEME YN
Density of total emissions per employee employee/tonnes 2.5 2.6 +4%
BEMERE-NEIFE BETI AW
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

iR - HERERHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
Electricity consumption

The Group also emphasizes implementing green office practices in
daily operation. The resource consumption most relevant to the office
operation of the Group is the use of electricity. The Group stipulates
energy conservation as one of its disciplinary regulations in its Staff
Handbook. For instance, employees are required to turn off lights,
computers, air conditioners and other office appliances when they are
not in use to reduce energy consumption. As electricity consumption
during the year increased by 13% compared with that last year, the
Group will continue to remind its employees of the importance of saving
electricity.

Resource consumption/discharge

RE

SERGEREAEEEPHTEEREH
NEEMR - BEEBRE A *%LE@%Mﬁﬁ
HREZ -—ZEINEMR - FEE(ETFM)
¢'E”%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiz—’ﬂw%
RKETETERRBIEERE Bt SRAKSE
EaREM Mﬂ?%ﬁ°ﬁ£¢ﬁm'$¢
BENB 2= SESRERESTH
HWREZERML -

Increase/

description Unit Total in 2018 Total in 2019 decrease (+/-)
BIRCHFE By By 20185 M E 2019FHE F KIEE (+/-)
Electricity KWh 81,864 92,886 +13%
£¥) TR
employee/kWh 4,816 5,773 +20%
BEI /THEE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR - HERERHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
Use of Paper

In efforts to prevent paper wastage, the Group has promoted the
importance of preventing paper wastage to employees in the Staff
Handbook and encouraged them to take action in order to save paper,
such as, use double-sided printing, and reuse paper to the extent
practicable. Employees are also encouraged to go paperless by limiting
printouts and communicate via e-mail. The Group has not otherwise
adopted any dedicated recycling programme regarding use of paper.
As use of paper during the year was reduced by 77% compared with
that last year, which is a significant achievement, the Group will continue
to implement paper-saving measures with its employees.

Resource consumption/discharge

HRER
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EEM UEBEIAREGHER  flaniEy
BEATBERTEHRAEmIIE - AR M E
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Increase/

description Unit Total in 2018 Total in 2019 decrease (+/-)
BIRCHFE By By 20185 M E 2019 E F BRI (+/-)
Paper 4 5% kg T 2,941 691 77%
employee/kg 173 52 -70%
BEBT,/Tn
Use of Water FAK
In addition to electricity and paper conservation, the Group encourages BREVENRBAEN  AEEREE LN

employees to conserve water. Efficient use of water resource is one of
the resource conservation programmes promoted by the Group. As
water consumption during the year increased by 80% compared to
that last year, the Group will continue to remind its employees of the
importance of water conservation.

Resource consumption/discharge

K BRERKREEEEP —EHEIEH
MWERER - BEFHEL  AFEEMNE D
ZNT SESHERESETIHHAKZE

ZE -

Increase/

description Unit Totalin 2018  Total in 2019 decrease (+/-)

BIRHFE Bt By 2018 F & 2019F @8 F HRIBE (+/-)

Water 7K Cubic meter 60 108 +80%
employee/kg

BEIT / T% 3.5 8.3 +137%
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IR - HERERHRS

SOCIAL
Employment

The Staff Handbook formulated by the Group is the basis of the
Company in managing its employees and related matters and
conducting administrative management. The Group upholds the
principles of fairness, equality and openness when recruiting staff
from the public or internal recruitment and safeguards the rights of our
employees by strictly complying with the requirements of the Labour
Law of Hong Kong and the Labour Law of the PRC. In China, we
have participated in welfare schemes concerning pension insurance,
unemployment insurance, occupational injury insurance and medical
insurance in accordance with the local regulations of the PRC. In Hong
Kong, we have participated in the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF)
Scheme, prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). All of our employees
have employment contracts that cover matters such as wages, benefits
and grounds for termination.

The Group’s remuneration policies and packages are reviewed by
the management on a regular basis. The Group grants discretionary
bonuses to qualified employees based on operation results and
individual performance. To boost morale, the Group also rewards
employees based on their performances. The employees are also
entitled to medical insurance and various types of paid leave.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, other benefits and welfare and non-compliance
cases of child labour and forced labour during the reporting period.
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IR - HERERHRS

SOCIAL (Continued)
Employee health and safety

The Group did not involve high-risk work activities. Nevertheless,
rules of safety management were established and set out in the Staff
Handbook of the Group in a bid to create a safe and comfortable
working environment for its staff. All departments shall pay attention
to the safety and health facilities at all times to ensure the health of
employees and the safety of the Company’s property.

During the reporting period, no work-related fatalities or lost days due
to work injury were recorded. In addition, the Group is not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to provide a
safe working environment and protect employees from occupational
hazards.

Development and training

All new employees are required to attend orientation training to ensure
the employees are aware and familiarize themselves with the Group’s
values and goals and to ensure the employees understand their
roles in the Group. Employees are encouraged to attend seminars
relevant to their positions to enhance their roles within the Group. In
order to enhance selling techniques and customer service quality of
our employees in the jewellery retailing business, the Company and
the brand owner organized irregular training programmes, including
training on knowledge of emerald, makeup skills, knowledge of
diamonds and store management, etc. Employees attended the training
program organized by Certified Pharmacist Registration Center in
Guangdong Province* (/& 5 4 # 3 220 51 it 47 0 ) regarding trading of
pharmaceuticals to increase their knowledge in the industry.
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IR - HERERHRS

SOCIAL (Continued)

Labour standard

All employees are recruited through the Human Resources Department
to ensure that they fulfill the job requirements underlying their respective
positions. The Group regularly reviews its employment practice and
the Group’s guidelines on staff recruitment to ensure that it is in full
compliance with the Employment Ordinance and other regulations
related to, among other things, prevention of child labour and forced
labour.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to prevention of child and forced labour during the
reporting period.

Supply chain management

The Group’s jewellery retailing business is conducted through the
capacity of licensee of branded products. All of its suppliers are
accredited suppliers. These arrangements ensure that the products
sold by the Group meet the requirements of brand manager.

In addition to jewellery retailing business, the Group has established
a supply chain management mechanism as prerequisites in selecting
suppliers based on various factors such as quality, capacity, service,
environmental protection practice and work safety measures. New
suppliers’ qualifications are reviewed by related departments. Any
complaint, punishment and legal dispute against the suppliers is taken
into consideration. Only those that met various standards after review
are selected as qualified service providers.

Strategically, the Group maintains long-term cooperation with major
suppliers and compiles a list of qualified suppliers. During daily
operations, the Group holds regular meetings with suppliers to
understand their operational condition and discuss latest developments
in the industry and market, ensure information flows between both
parties, and thereby makes timely adjustments.
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SOCIAL (Continued)
Product responsibility

The Group’s jewellery products are all acquired from brand owner or
accredited suppliers who provided relevant product certifications. The
pharmaceutical suppliers of the Group all hold valid the good supply
practices (GSP) certificate and all its acquired pharmaceuticals have
been issued related pharmaceutical qualified certificates. Therefore,
the quality and the traceability of the jewellery and pharmaceuticals are
guaranteed.

The Group is not aware of any complaint against its products and
services during the reporting period.

Anti-corruption

The Group adopts a zero-tolerance policy on bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. It is also the responsibility of all employees to
maintain ethical behaviour. All financial information are double checked
through different levels of personnel to ensure compliance with all
relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. The Group has put in place the Anti-fraud and
Anti-theft Policy and the Whistle-blowing Policy and encouraged all
employees to raise any related concerns to the senior management in
a strictly confidential manner. Any matters of genuine concern are to be
thoroughly investigated and actions will be taken accordingly

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during
the reporting period.

Community Investment

The Group advocates the idea of serving the community, and fully
appreciates the importance of fulfilling the expectations of various
stakeholders and the communities in which the Group operates. As
the market places focus more on corporate behaviours, the pursuit of
maximizing financial returns to reward shareholders is no longer the only
goal of corporate management. The group values building a harmonious
relationship with the communities in which it operates and supports
various community programmes. As a sign of taking concrete actions
to care for the society, employees are encouraged and receive our
support to participate in volunteer services. During the year, the Group
made donations to the Sanya Social Welfare Institution to support the
rehabilitation of children suffering the cerebral palsy.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
WA RN S

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA BRILLIANT GLOBAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Brilliant
Global Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 83 to 236, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding
figures of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION
Corresponding figures

As disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had disposed of the entire issued share capital of Prosten (BVI)
Limited (the “Disposal”) and the Group ceased its control of Prosten (BVI)
Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”) upon completion
of the Disposal on 5 June 2017 (the “Disposal Date”). The results of
the Disposal Group up to the Disposal Date, details of which are set
out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, and the gain
on disposal of the Disposal Group of approximately HK$41,835,000
are presented as profit for the year from discontinued operation
in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2018.

As described in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group considered that it had been unable to have access to the
complete set of books and records and the supporting documents
of certain subsidiaries (indirectly held by Prosten (BVI) Limited)
incorporated in Shanghai (the “De-Consolidated Subsidiaries”) since 1
January 2016 for the purposes of, among others, preparing the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31
March 2016, 2017 and 2018.

As a result, the directors were of the opinion that the Group was unable
to direct the relevant activities of the De-Consolidated Subsidiaries,
and that the control over these subsidiaries was lost, since 1 January
2016. Hence the Group had deconsolidated the financial results, cash
flows, assets and liabilities of the De-Consolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 January 2016
(the “De-consolidation”).
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)
Corresponding figures (Continued)

Due to lack of access to the relevant supporting documentation in
respect of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries and to management and
other personnel of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries, we have not
been provided with sufficient appropriate audit evidence, including
information and explanations, in relation to the nature of the Group’s
involvement and interests in the De-Consolidated Subsidiaries during
the period from 1 January 2016 to the Disposal Date. There were no
alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves
as to whether the De-consolidated Subsidiaries were controlled by
the Group during the period from 1 January 2016 to the Disposal
Date. Under the requirements of HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, all subsidiaries controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries shall be included in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. The facts and circumstances described above and in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements are not sufficient to support the
management’s view that the Group had lost control over the Relevant
Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) with effect
from 1 January 2016. Hence we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to
the appropriateness of the accounting treatment adopted by the Group
of ceasing to treat the De-consolidated Subsidiaries as subsidiaries
of the Group and thereby ceasing to include the results of operations,
cash flows, assets and liabilities of the De-Consolidated Subsidiaries in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group with effect from 1
January 2016 rather than from the Disposal Date.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)
Corresponding figures (Continued)

Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments
were necessary to the amounts presented in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 in respect of (i) the
results (included in profit for the year from discontinued operation)
and cash flows of the Disposal Group for the period from 1 April
2017 to the Disposal Date which were included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2018; (ii) the carrying amounts of the assets and
liabilities of the Disposal Group as at the Disposal Date as disclosed
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements and (iii) the gain
on disposal of the Disposal Group (included in profit for the year from
discontinued operation) which was calculated based on the carrying
amounts of the assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group as at the
Disposal Date, and the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements concerning the Disposal and the nature and the amounts
and nature of significant related party and other transactions and events
of the Disposal Group up to the Disposal Date. Our audit opinion on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018 was modified accordingly. Our opinion on the current year’s
consolidated financial statements is also modified because of the
possible effects of these matters on the comparability of the current
year’s figures and the corresponding figures.
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WA RN S

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

Corresponding figures (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA ‘s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section
above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about
the results and cash flows of the Disposal Group for the period from 1
April 2017 to the Disposal Date. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the Other Information is materially misstated with respect
to this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined the matters
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described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our

report.

Key audit matter
BRETSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

TEZBITNNEERRENSE

Impairment assessment on loan and trade receivables

B RR B W RR R 2 BB R A

Refer to notes 25 and 47 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has
applied HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments that is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

As at 1 April 2018, the Group had gross loan and trade
receivables of HK$46,956,000 and no provision for
impairment was made.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had gross loan and trade
receivables of HK$20,425,000 and provision for impairment
of trade receivables of HK$386,000.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of loan and trade receivables
included:

o understanding and evaluating the key controls that the
Group has implemented to manage and monitor its
credit risk, and validating the control effectiveness on a
sample basis;

e checking, on a sample basis, the aging profile of the
trade receivables as at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
to the underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BEETER

BRETSER (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEZBTNNEERRENSEE

Impairment assessment on loan and trade receivables (Continued)

BERREWRR 2R ERFE ()

Management applied judgement in assessing the expected
credit losses. Expected credit losses are estimated by
grouping the receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and collectively/individually assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account its ageing
category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the
respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

Due to the significance of loan and trade receivables and the
corresponding uncertainty inherent in such an estimate, we
considered this as a key audit matter.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of loan and trade receivables
included: (Continued)

e inquiring of management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at year end
and corroborating explanations from management
with supporting evidence, such as understanding on-
going business relationship with the customers based
on trade records, checking historical and subsequent
settlement records of and other correspondence with
the customers;

e for the historical information, discussing with
management to understand the management’s
identification of significant increase in credit risk,
defaults and credit-impaired loans, corroborated
management’s explanation with supporting evidence;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BEETER

BRETSER (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEZBTNNEERRENSEE

Impairment assessment on loan and trade receivables (Continued)

BERREWRR 2R ERFE ()

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of loan and trade receivables
included: (Continued)

e for forward-looking measurement, assessing the
reasonableness of economic indicator selection,
economic scenarios and weightings application,
assessed the reasonableness of the estimation by
comparing with industry data; and

e assessing the appropriateness of the expected credit
loss provisioning methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit
losses.

We considered the management conclusion to be consistent
with the available information.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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WA RN S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Ng Ka Wah.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Ka Wah
Practising Certificate Number: P06417

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e iR it mEiEESR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FTET FET
Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue I &5 6 84,047 64,739
Cost of sales SHE AR (77,799) (56,478)
Gross profit E A 6,248 8,261
Other income and gains H A YA R Wz 7 280 92
Selling expenses HERX (2,475) (3,460)
Administrative expenses THBR (51,787) (23,303)
Other losses Hithg51a 8 (48) @)
Finance costs 8758 9 (160) (16)
Share of loss of associates FE(LEE & AR B8 (117) (710)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of HUE BERZERRZ
property, plant and equipment B EE (22) -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of PIEBEYEER ZREESE
investment property (2,999) —
Impairment loss recognised in respect of M EERZREEE
goodwill (2,914) (413)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz K 40 - 1,371
Loss before tax BRB AT 18 10 (53,994) (18,180)
Income tax expense FrBHiA X 11 (12) @72)
Loss for the year from continuing REFELEEK 2
operations FAEE (54,006) (18,452)
Discontinued operation ERIEEEEE
Profit for the year from discontinued REERIEREERE 2
operation F A5 A 12 - 41,770
(Loss)/profit for the year Fr(BR)BF (54,006) 23,318
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hith2m (BB) W& :
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to £ & i f£ 8 37 7 M52 15 25
profit or loss: ZIHEEA -
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBEEZ
foreign operations MEH =5 (2,216) 4,102
Reclassification adjustments relating to FRNEBEEBINEBL 2
foreign operations disposed of during ETDERAE
the year - (13,169)
Net loss on revaluation of available-for-sale  Efg At HE S REE ~
financial assets B8 F 58 20 = (1,583)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FAEMEEESE -
net of tax MR TIE (2,216) (10,650)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for TR (FE) WHEALE
the year (56,222) 12,668
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e iRm R Hith 2 mEiER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTET FET
(Loss)/profit for the year DMTFATEEER
attributable to: (E518) %A
— Owners of the Company —ARNRIHEA A (54,006) 23,329
— Non-controlling interest — IR AE = = (11)
(54,006) 23,318
Total comprehensive (loss)/income DUDTATEMEREZE
for the year attributable to: (B18) WM
— Owners of the Company —ARNRIHEAA (56,222) 12,679
— Non-controlling interest — IR A = (11)
(56,222) 12,668
(Loss)/profit for the year attributableto XBEHUTEE AR TEE
owners of the Company arising from: AEEFR (BE) RmF
— Continuing operations —FHFECEER (54,006) (18,441)
— Discontinued operation —BERIEEEER - 41,770
(54,006) 23,329
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable RHIZFERDALE
from continuing and discontinued REEE
operations R (&HE) BR 16
Basic AR HK(3.78) HK1.93
cents &1l cents 7Ll
Diluted i3 HK(3.78) HK1.93
cents &1l cents 7Ll
Loss per share from continuing REFELSEEK
operations BREE 16
Basic /N HK(3.78) HK(1.52)
cents &l cents 7l
Diluted e HK(3.78) HK(1.52)
cents &1l cents 7l
Earnings per share from discontinued HRETAKILEEER >
operation FREF 16
Basic HAK N/A HKS3.45
FEAR cents 7511l
Diluted e N/A HK3.45
FEHR cents 7511l

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR R

At 31 March 2019 R=Z—hF=H=+—8H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B Kk 17 3,267 1,687
Investment property TEMSE 18 11,107 12,299
Available-for-sale financial assets AtHESmMEE 20 - 15,000
Goodwill BES 21 1,765 4,679
Interests in associates REEE R R 2= 22 9,883 =
Loan receivables U E Kk 25 2,259 —
Prepayments FES FIE 26 - 156
Total non-current assets ERBEEHEE 28,281 33,821
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Inventories FE 23 10,898 14,951
Loan and trade receivables B e BB TR 25 17,780 46,956
Prepayments, deposits and other TEf5RIE - 5] R EAM
receivables FEURIE 26 11,533 6,793
Amount due from an associate JE U —Fél Bt & A B 2 5ROB 27 978 =
Amount due from ultimate holding company & U & 432 f% A & 2 7008 27 8 -
Prepaid tax TERLIE 25 =
Financial assets at fair value through EATEBYERE
profit or loss BaREE s SREE 28 15,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents BehIBREEEY 29 59,573 10,341
115,795 79,041
Non-current asset classified as PEARFIEHEZ
held for sale FEMENE E 30 1,443 1,538
Total current assets B EEMALE 117,238 80,579
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade payables FETAR K 31 8,963 19,274
Other payables and accruals Hh 8 < 50 I8 K FE 5T R IR 32 5,577 5,279
Contract liabilities aHaE 33 348 -
Amount due to non-executive director FERIENITE S 2 FUIR 34 125 =
Borrowings BE 35 7,951 1,932
Tax payable FEIFLIR - 65
Total current liabilities REBAEEE 22,964 26,550
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fRa IR R

At 31 March 2019 R=Z—hF=H=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FETT
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 94,274 54,029
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERABEE
LIABILITIES 122,555 87,850
NET ASSETS BEEFE 122,555 87,850
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to equity holders of ZRQFEFIZEE A
the Company FEAL RE 2=
Share capital f& s 37 145,096 121,096
Reserves & (22,541) (33,246)
Equity attributable to owners of the AKNBEEBA
Company FEfhRES 122,555 87,850
Non-controlling interests FEF2E P e = -
TOTAL EQUITY EXEm 122,555 87,850

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2019 and were signed on

its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
REERE
Chairman

E

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ADRREREARE
Available-
for-sale
financial Foreign
Share Statutory assets currency Share Non-
Share premium reserve equity translation option  Accumulated Reserves  controlling Total
capital account fund reserve reserve reserve losses sub-total Interest equity
e

K EE  GHEE N
Bx BER  HEEE  BGRR  ENRG  BRERE  ZHFE  BRIH FEREE  RRET
(note g) (note b) (hote o) (note q) (note¢)
(Hita) (Hity) (Hito (Hita (Hite)
HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thr T Thn T Thn T TEn T TEn

At A 2017 R-E-+EMA-A 1086 479598 3349 1,563 11922 36 (42868 (46100 B 74601
Proft for the year EmgAl - - - - - - 28,329 23,329 (11) 23,318
Other comprehensive loss  ERE 2 EEE :

for the year:

Exchange differenceson  BERSER 2
tranlation of foreign EXZE

operations = = = = 4102 = = 4102 = 4102
Reclassfication adjustments £ A& Bt &

relating to foreign EHL

operations disposed of ~ EFHEFE

during the year - - - - (13,169) - - (18,169) - (18,169)
Netloss on revaluation of - Ef T K&

avallable-for-sale financia  £REAE L

assets FlEgE - - - (1,589) - - - (1,589 - (1,589
Total comprehensiveloss A2 AFRES

for the year - - - (1,683 (9,067) - 23,329 12,679 M) 12,668
Bxercise of share options ~ 17{¢ B 210 491 - - - (316) - 175 - 445
Disposal of subsiclaries  HENBAH - - (3.348) - - - 3,348 - 4 46
M3t Mach2018and  R=E-\%

at1 April 2018 =R=t-8k

“T-\EmA-B 2106 480089 i - 2855 - BBl (329 - 87,850

Loss forthe year ERER - - - - - S0 (54008 S o)
Other comprehensive loss  ERE 2 EEE :

for the year:
Exchange diferenceson ~ HBERSER 2

tranlation of foreign EXZE

operations = = = = (2,216) = = (2.216) = (2.216)
Total comprehensiveloss A2 AFRES

forthe year - - - - @.216) - B 6622 - 2
Recognition of equity settied AR AL E LA R

share-based payment  ARE AR - - = = = 27,216 = 21,216 = 27,216
Placement of new shares  FL &3k 24,000 40,800 - - - - - 40,800 - 64,800
Shareissung expense  ROETER - (1,089) - - - - - (1,089) - (1,089)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-0%

zA=t-R 1506 519,800 1 - 639 7206 G019 (22541) - 1255
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable to its shareholders provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

Statutory reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for business enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), a portion of the profits of the entities
which are registered in the PRC has been transferred to the statutory reserve
fund which is restricted as to use. When the balance of such reserve fund
reaches 50% of the capital of that entity, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory reserve fund can be utilised, upon approval of the relevant
authority, to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. However, the
balance of the statutory reserve fund must be maintained at least 25% of capital
after such usage.

Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets equity reserve

AFS financial assets equity reserve relates to the cumulative gains or losses
arising on the change in fair value of AFS financial assets that have been
recognised in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit
or loss when those financial assets are disposed or impaired.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences relating
to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar) which are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal or de-consolidation of the foreign
operations.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised, and will be transferred
to accumulated losses should the related options expire or be forfeited.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FRREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

2019 2018
—Z-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K2 XK 2HERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BrFiAT (B518) = A -
From continuing operation RERFELEET (53,994) (18,180)
From discontinued operation RE BRI EFETR - 41,770
(53,994) 23,590
Adjustments for: KRAETHIEIE -
Finance costs %55 A 160 16
Bank interest income RITH B HA (264) ®)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE « BE MEEEEH 2
E1E - 2
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% BERXBZITE 2,031 4,956
Amortisation of prepaid rentals A © 2 8 - 49
Share-based payment expenses ARG BEMR 2 A X 27,216 -
Loss on fair value change of financial assets at BEAFEEYERREERR
fair value through profit or loss BREzERMEEZATER
2HER - 22
Impairment loss recognised in respect of loan and &t & 7% & & Ug BR ZRE R 2 R 1B
trade receivables B8 695 508
Written off of amounts due from related companies i 4 f& U 4B B A &) 2 708 - 34
Impairment loss recognised in respect of property, BLA1% -« FiE MR EER 2
plant and equipment BB 22 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MIREYEER ZREEE
investment property 2,999 =
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill i i B /E R 2 B B &5 18 2,914 413
Share of loss of an associate JEAE — i & A R ES 1R 117 710
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz s - (43,206)
(18,104) (12,912)
Operating cash flow before movements in HELESEHIKEEERE
working capital
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,(38m) 3,120 (3,980)
Decrease/(increase) in loan and trade receivables B 2 & B W BR ORI 2 (38 40) 24,949 (9,702)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other A RIE -« Fl e R EAE W FIE
receivables 3N (4,933) (1,030)
Increase in amount due from ultimate holding FE MR AR AR A B 2 SRIB I N
company (8) -
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FETBRRUR A/ 1 N (9,093) 16,927
Increase in other payables and accruals FL M JE < SR IE K FE ST SR IR AL AN 210 3,163
Increase in contract liabilities ABHBEEEM 431 —
Decrease in amount due to a then ultimate holding  J&{~ B (E & 442 I A &) 2 B
company V% = (142)
Increase in amount due to non-executive director  FE{T FENTTE T 2 FIA L A1 125 -
Decrease in amount due to a then non-executive B —ZEEIEHITEE 2
director IR - (668)
Cash used in operations REEBFAZRE (3,303) (8,344)
Tax paid B (102) (50)
Net cash used in operating activities BESEERTAZEERS (3,405) (8,394)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FRIREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 2 —FT— hF=-A=+—HLFE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHEIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK2HEARE
Bank interest received BUERIT ) 2 264 6
Purchases of property, plant and equipment A - Jﬁ% K (3,674) (1,881)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME - Jf‘ﬁ B RE#EZ
equipment Fr 1S 31 - 92
Additions for construction cost of investment RNE § ?@J FRREN AR
property (2,567) (7,452)
Prepayment for construction cost of investment SEANESS= R/ ES= I FIN
property - (156)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of an associate W —E#E N A 2 EH &R T
R (10,000) -
Advance to an associate [a] — B Bk & R B #A SR (978) =
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZEERAF %E - 14,463
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair ~ HEIR A FBESIE REREZ
value through profit or loss BB EREEFISHIE - 567
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing REXEB2RS (RE) A
activities FE (16,955) 5,639
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REXKZRELRE
Proceed from exercise of share options TR AR P18 SR IE - 445
Placement of new shares Fic 5 3 A% 10 64,800 -
Proceed from borrowings % B RT3 508 6,120 1,932
Share issuing expense AR BT % (1,089) —
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMEXE2RESRATFE 69,831 2,377
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND R&RBSZEYIEM  (FD)
CASH EQUIVALENTS FE 49,471 (878)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the  $R&E ¥ 2 IR RIRES EEY
reporting period 10,341 8,738
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ERED) s B FE (239) 1,981
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHEEND HEHACZHERAEZSEY
OF REPORTING PERIOD 59,573 10,341

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Century
Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is Flat B, 9/F, 9 Des Voeux Road West,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Its ultimate parent is Brilliant Chapter Limited (“Brilliant Chapter”),
a company incorporated in Republic of Seychelles with limited
liabilities and owned by Mr. Zhang Chun Hua (“Mr. Zhang”) and
Source Mega Limited which acts as nominee of Ms. Zhang Chun
Ping (“Ms. Zhang”). Both Mr. Zhang and Ms. Zhang are the
directors and Mr. Zhang is the brother of Ms. Zhang.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) are wholesale and retailing of jewellery, money lending
and distribution of pharmaceutical and healthcare products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (‘HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated. The Group’s major
subsidiaries are operating in the PRC with Renminbi (“RMB”) as
their functional currency. The directors consider that it is more
appropriate to present the consolidated financial statements
in HK$ as the shares of the Company are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

—REH

AAmps—HMRASESEMKIZE
MR A &) o B & it 3 = & #b ik & Century
Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the
Cayman lslands ° £ = Z & 3 #b 25 b ib
AEBEEHBEIRIEBE - ARAZ
BRONRBBHAERSEBR AR ([HR
FTl) GEM £ » H & & & A 5 & Brilliant
Chapter Limited ([ Brilliant Chapter | * —
EREEBEMEIMEALOBRA
A - BERAEE L £ ([5R5E 4] & Source
Mega Limited (A& ¥ Z L (R L))
ZREBENHEB) s REERKLTHA
EEHREERRLT 2B -

ARANEMBAR ((AEE]) ZEE
EBRUBRTERE HERMEER
BERREEM -

BRBEBIN  REPBHREAET ([E
T 2% ARRIZNEEERRET
ESHRYAEREREO T (TE
T  AEEZTEWMBRTIRHE
REXT HYBEEB/ARB (AR
%) - AARAZBRMDIRBRPT £
EEZRREEUBBRRABETZEIBAR
EE e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations (collectively referred to as the “new and revised
HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), which are effective for the Group’s
financial year beginning from 1 April 2018. A summary of the new
and revised HKFRSs applied by the Group is set out as follows:

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

HKAS 40 (Amendments) Transfers of Investment Property

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

HKFRS 4 (Amendments) Applying HKFRS 9 Financial

Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and financial positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies due
to the application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current
year described above, the opening consolidated statement of
financial position had to be restated. The following table show
the adjustments recognised for each of the line items affected.
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been
included below.

2.

FE R 5] RASAERT B R M 3R
EEA(HFEMBHREER ]
(%)

HRRAFERAHREERTREY
BHRELNCARENGABRREL L
MEF - WA MBIRRKREBESD -
TR FE 2 A5 B AR
AE - UTAEAANKTZELEH 2 A
5IIHA -

Impact on initial

Impact on initial

At 31 March application of application of At 1 April
2018 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 2018
BRRMER BRRMER
RZZ-N\F BHHREEL MR EER R=Z-N\F
=ZA=1+-H FIRNTE E15HNTE mA—A
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TR THER TR
Financial assets THEE
AFS financial assets AHHESREE 15,000 (15,000) - -
Financial assets at fair value A FEEZIER RIE
through profit or loss (‘FVTPL) B#=EEIE 2 6
BE(RATERE
B8R RE B R
BE) - 15,000 - 15,000
Impact on initial Impact on initial
At 31 March application of application of At 1 April
2018 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 2018
BREHEE BRARMER
RZB-N\% R EER MBREER RZE-N\F
=A=t-H IR E F15mHTE mA—H
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TR TER THET
Financial liabilities SRER
Other payables and accruals ~ E T ZIB R
JERT 3R 5,279 - (832) 4,447
Contract liabilities aHAR - - 832 832
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL”) for financial assets and
3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition
provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the classification
and measurement requirements (including impairment under
ECL model) retrospectively to instruments that have not been
derecognised at 1 April 2018 (date of initial application) and has
not applied the requirements to instruments that have already been
derecognised at 1 April 2018. The difference between carrying
amounts at 31 March 2018 and the carrying amounts at 1 April
2018 are recognised in the opening accumulated losses and other
components of equity, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement of
financial assets under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial

application, 1 April 2018.

2. ER#HFTREEITERIMBER
EEA(HFEMBHREER ]

(%)

ERMBHRELEUNFIORLHT A (H)
BERERBEVHRELEAEIRME
EMPERE

TRAARBEEEVHRE LR EIHR
REEGFERE9HRN ERER R

- =F

—NEOA-R)WEREEZD

FREHE -

HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amounts at amounts at
31 March 1 April
2018 Reclassification 2018
R-Z-N\%F R-E-N\F
=BA=+-—H H—H
ERGITER BRI KHREER
FEI9EE T FOHRETH
REE EHSE HREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET FERT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREEIRRESR
mREECERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL (notea) & AFEED R REEZER
REZSREE (Kita) - 15,000 15,000
Financial assets classified as BEEBETHEREIR
AFS financial assets under PERAAHEE
HKAS 39 CREEZEREE
Unlisted equity security at fair value XA FEEFTZE 2
(note ) FEMESES (Hita) 15,000 (15,000) =
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)
Notes:

(@

Unlisted equity security at fair value

The unlisted equity security with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$15,000,000 were reclassified from AFS financial assets to financial
assets at FVTPL. This is because the cash flows of these equity security
investments do not meet the HKFRS 9 criteria as solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Except for the reclassification, there was no impact on the amounts
recognised in relation to these assets from the application of HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities

There is no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial liabilities
previously carried at amortised costs remained to be measured at
amortised costs under HKFRS 9.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL
which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables. Except for those which
had been determined as credit-impaired under HKAS 39, the remaining
balances are grouped based on past due analysis or individual basis as
appropriate. The Group has therefore estimated the expected loss rates
for the trade receivables on the same basis.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including deposits, other
receivables and bank balances, are assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”") basis as there had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of initial application, 1 April 2018. Any difference at the
date of initial application is recognised in the opening accumulated
losses and comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS
15, the Group has elected to apply the standard retrospectively
only to contracts that are not completed at 1 April 2018 and
has used the practical expedient for all contract modifications
that occurred before the date of initial application, the aggregate
effect of all of the modifications was reflected at the date of initial
application. Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from trading of gold, jewellery,
pharmaceutical and healthcare products and retailing of jewellery
which arise from contracts with customers.

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and the
accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15 are
disclosed in note 3.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April 2018.

FE R 5] RASAERT B R M 3R
EEA(HFEMBHREER ]
(%)

ERNBREEUNEISRKEEFE
2 e (%)
BRERBEAMEREERFE 155
EENTEMRE
AEEDHR T N\FHA— B
EMBIRN KBRS BIERIATHE -

Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been

included.

TEAWEDYENER TREERN -

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previous under
report HKFRS 15
at 31 March at 1 April
2018 Reclassification 2018
R=ZB-N\F
BER mAE—H
—E-N\E BERMBERE
=A=+-8 ERFE15HET
EE2HRNREE EHAE REE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT FTET TET
Current liabilities mEEE
Other payables and accruals H i B 5008 I B AT FUE 5,279 (832 4,447
Contract liabilities anasE - 832 832
Note: At 1 April 2018, advances from customers of approximately HK$832,000 e : RZZE—NFHEA—H BAEFGT AR

in respect of sales of goods previously included in accruals and other
payables were reclassified to contract liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying HKFRS
15 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at
31 March 2019 and its consolidated statement of cash flows for
the current year for each of the line items affected. There is no
impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the current year. Line items that were
not affected by the changes have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position

FE R 5] RASAERT B R M 3R
EEA(HFEMBHREER ]
(%)

ERNBREEUNEISRKEEFE
2 e (%)
TEBERSAXTENHEERETR
MBREENEISRELTEBRR-Z
—NF=ZRA=+—BOGEAFBRAE
RERAFENGARSRERNTE
ARERENEEREREMEEEERIL
AXZE TXEREHTENHEB T
BIEEA -

BB BINR KT E

Carrying
amounts
Carrying without
amounts application of
as reported Adjustments HKFRS 15
RERE®
B 7% 3R & 2 A
FT 2 3] F155REFRY
BREE HE IREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT THET THxT
Current liabilities mEBE
Other payables and accruals E fth B A5 F00B K BT FRIE 5,577 348 5,925
Contract liabilities BRAE 348 (348) -

Mk : AREABET B HREERF 1557
MARBEFPRBRHNBREREHNARYD
348,000 - MEBEREBANEAE
ftb P A< FRIB R FERT RO o

Note: Contract liabilities of approximately HK$348,000 was recognised for the
advances received from customers due to the application of HKFRS 15
which previously was classified as other payables and accruals.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

FE R 5] RASAERT B R M 3R
EEA(HFEMBHREER ]
(%)

BERUBBREENEISRKEEFE
A2 Wik ()

B HERERNTE

Carrying
amounts
Carrying without
amounts application of
as reported Adjustments HKFRS 15
REREB
B 75 3 5 %€ B
Fi 28 R EE AT
BREE R FREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
Cash flows from operating REKEEKZRERE
activities
Increase in other payables and  E b B~ 308 & fE 5t
accruals FRIEIL N 210 431 641
Increase in contract liabilities ERBEEM 431 (431) -

Note: Increase in contract liabilities of approximately 431,000 represents the
increase in advances from customers upon the application of HKFRS
15 which would have been presented as increase in other payables and
accruals previously.

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment
Property

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from, investment
property necessitates an assessment of whether a property meets,
or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment property,
supported by evidence that a change in use has occurred. The
amendments further clarify that situations other than the ones
listed in HKAS 40 may evidence a change in use, and that a
change in use is possible for properties under construction (i.e. a
change in use is not limited to completed properties).

At the date of initial application, the Group assessed the
classification of certain properties based on conditions existing at
that date. There is no impact to the classification at 1 April 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. ERHFIIRKLETEBBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HER ([BFEMEREER])
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued) (%)

AEBIARIREEBATER/MERRK
R AT RARIERT BB M SR E LR

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
BAGHERE1HRR BRNER®

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material®

(Amendments) B G ERIE 85
CCHEN)
HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or BERGFERE19%  FHEUEET - 48R
Settlement’ (1BETA) HFE"
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term interests in Associates and BT EAIE28%  RBELRK
Joint Ventures' CCHEN) EEhEL
RS
HKFRS (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BEMBREER BRI BmEER
2015-2017 Cycle' CHES) “T-hFE
—T—t+FAH
ESERE
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a business? BB 4R EBHTER?
ERVACCHEN)
HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with Negative BEMBREER BRBMENERNY
Compensation! ELLACCHEN) FIRRFIE
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between BEM SR BEEREBE D
(Amendments) an Investor and its Associate or Joint B10RRBBSET AdAEREL
Venture’ R F 285 (BT A) HHEELEL
EES
HKFRS 16 Leases' BRI BREER HE!
F£16%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts* BEMBREER RBa & 40
FATH

&h (BRMGRELZE MEHEEL
2)-2EBE 28R PHEE M

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments'

REE-NF—A - HHZERABRNFE
HRAEX -

HPBERBA-—T-_ZF - —Akzk
FiaH) & (5 E BRI 2 RNER S G R

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. !

2 Effective for business combination and asset acquisition for which the 2
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period

beginning on or after 1 January 2020. BEWEER -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. @ RZE_EF—A B 2ERABNFE
AR A o
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. & RZEZ—F—A—HRXZERENFE
HARIAE K -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. g REE BBk 2 BB FERBER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised
for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of
low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for
any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows,
the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments as
investing cash flows in relation to investment property while other
operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion
which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

At 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$4,430,000 as disclosed in note
42. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements
will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low
value or short-term leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
The Group intends to elect the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group
will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain a lease
which already existed prior to the date of initial application. The
Group intends to elect the modified retrospective approach for
the application of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application to opening accumulated
losses without restating comparative information.

Except disclosed above, the directors do not anticipate that
the application of other new and revised HKFRSs will have a
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and financial
positions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which have been measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
or value in use in HKAS 36.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)
For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that uses unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 8 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHHEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e  has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

BRI I ERRIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSS).

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHHEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (the “CGUSs”) (or
groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUSs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. WWhen the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z%E —

BRI I ERRIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest in an associate (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. \WWhen necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the
equity method is discontinued.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current asset held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the asset is available for immediate sale in
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of
an investment in an associate, the investment that will be disposed
of is classified as held for sale when the criteria described above
are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the equity method
in relation to the portion that is classified as held for sale from the
time when the investment is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repair and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an
increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure
is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHHEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:
Land and building in 2.5% or over the lease terms,

Mainland China

Leasehold improvements

whichever is shorter
30% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Office equipment 30%
Computer equipment 30% to 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Investment property under construction

Investment property is property held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation including property under construction
for such purpose. On initial recognition, investment property is
measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured
at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment property are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise. However, if the fair value of investment
property under construction is not reliably determinable when
construction is not yet completed, it shall measure that investment
property under construction at cost, less any impairment loss, until
either its fair value become reliably determinable or construction is
completed (whichever is earlier).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. When reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual CGU or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can identified.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUSs,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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BRI I ERRIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount the assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments @I HE

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B IS SRR MIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transition in note
2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transition in note
2) (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FTESHBERBE®@
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SR T A (/8)

Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other income and gains” line
item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transition in note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including loan
and trade receivables, deposits, other receivables, amount due
from an associate, amount due from ultimate holding company
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at the end of
each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the end of the reporting period. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transition in note 2) (Continued)

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on trade
receivables are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with
past due status grouping.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019

NEZRA=1T—HLEFE

TESHRERE @)

LRI A (&)

EREE(H)

EREERE (RRENE2.28RIKX
ER BB HH G ERIZE W K) (&)

REE—RBEEER (BEARERD)
HRAEEAEXHNRHREEESRE - BK
mE’ﬁﬁ%kﬁEﬁEBﬁFﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁt“ﬁ"
%H%%éf%%ﬁ@ 1T HRIFHE °

BPAEEMTAME AEEZEASFR
12@AFEHEER RN S A EEER
1 BRI B ViR R IR 5 B A b K 1R 15
e RIAR EEREEE XM ELRE
EER A EEEERRES MG
BHEE BB TR B VA HER A KT
T4 B 40RO A] BE M SR e O KB 4 00 T
E

EERB AR T

HEEERR BT HERIARE D AR
A AEESHLBENREH RS
TAZEZONER LRV ZHER R H
ERMTAZLEZONAR - REHFMGE
B ARERR AKREEEESER
FENEENEUEER  BRAEELEREK
ERBNHBEZRARE R EFH
RIBEIEE R -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B IS SRR MIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transition in note 2) (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; or

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

Impairment of financial assets (Upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transition in note 2) (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of the reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default;
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and (jii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FTESHBERBE®@
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) S£ET A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

BRI I ERRIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transition in note 2) (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

e  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

e  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHHEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transition in note 2) (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

e Nature of financial instruments;

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FTESHBERBE®@
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SR T A ()
Financial assets (Continued) eREE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: AFS financial assets and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purposes of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

AFES financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated
as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-
to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Dividends on AFS equity securities are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established. Other changes in the carrying amount
of AFS financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of available-for-sale
financial assets equity reserve. When the investment is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the available-for-sale financial assets
equity reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
loan and trade receivables, deposits, other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be

objective evidence of impairment.

For all financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
e breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FTESHBERBE®@
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) S£ET A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018) (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments as well as
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses previously
recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or
loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of “available-for-sale financial assets equity
reserve”.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued) S£ET A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FTESHBERBE®@
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) S£ET A (&)

Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the AFS revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

HILER S EE (F)
REEERAHEESREER STl
KA EERFHET R R KR
BREH N B E R

Financial liabilities and equity instruments TRBERRATA
Classification as debt or equity =059 &S Z o AE
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified SEHEBRT2EBERRANTATRE

as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables and
accruals (excluding receipt in advance), amount due to non-
executive director and borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in the profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligations, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where
the effect of the time value of money is material).

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised
and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to
exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEREE @
POLICIES (Continued)
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets RABBRIAAREE

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs
so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. When inflow is virtually certain, an
asset is recognised.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

Control of the good or service may be transferred over time or at
a point in time. Control of the good or service is transferred over
time if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for an presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

BRI I ERRIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those
goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another party.
In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies are as
follows:

Revenue from sales of goods
The Group is engaged in the trading of gold and jewellery products
in the wholesale market and directly to customers through its
own retail outlets and trading of pharmaceutical and healthcare
products in the wholesale market.

For trading of gold and jewellery products and pharmaceutical
and healthcare products in the wholesale market, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been shipped to the wholesaler’s specific location
(delivery). Following delivery, the wholesaler has full discretion over
the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility for on selling the goods and bears the risks
of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The normal
credit term is 1 to 6 months upon delivery.

For sales of jewellery products to retail customers, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being at
the point the customer purchases the goods at the retail outlet.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the point
the customer purchases the goods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

BRI I ERRIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

(@) Services income, when the relevant services have been
rendered;

(b) Sale of goods, which is recognised when the goods are
delivered and title has passed; and

(c) Interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the carrying amount of the financial asset.

Leasing
All leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short- term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
salaries and bonus) after deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payment to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) is recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. The Group
operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme,
the assets of which are held in separate trustee-administered
funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, with the employers’ contributions
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
Group’s contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred
and vested in accordance with the scheme’s vesting scales.
Where employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the
employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is
used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
participate in the employee retirement scheme operated by the
relevant local government bureau in the PRC. The contributions to
be borne by the Group are calculated at a certain percentage of
the salaries and wages for those eligible employees.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss represent contributions paid or payable to the funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHBEME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (continued) EEREF (&)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity under the heading of share option reserve. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Share-based payment expenses granted to consultants
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the services
received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably,
in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the
counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group'’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with interests in subsidiaries and interests in
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

BRI I ERRIEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019

3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

TESHRERE @)

S

RAEENEEER CMBRRE  AZ
ERMEEBAINER SMNE)ETZR
SGDHERGEPER ZERTERER -
RBEHR - UHINEFHEZEBEE N
EEZERMEREHRRE -RAFEE
PRk BIRSNERHE 2 FEHIRE TIIRE
EAFEEERCEREHNRE MK
SNERESL A EZIEEHHBITE
HE

HEEEBERANERGEEKIERE
EvEREZRE REELBMAEERE
RRER ©

REIEEMBHREAMS  AREXK
ZEERAEOREREBREXRERE
RASEZZ25E% (BB - AR
MXIER RAATHEXRKRE - FTE
EEE R ERE (IE) BN E M2 RS
MHERR - I R K AR P 2 51 B 3
B (N EE R B E IR ) -

R ERINEY (BIHEXREBEREIN
XN REER S RRELH B AR
(B BEBINER) EFHE) - AR
AEE ANBIEZET MR DA R
FBELZBEEH D EERS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related

to the Group if that person:

)

(il

(i

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(o) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

U)

)

V)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEREE @
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BRAEAL (&)
(b) (Continued) o) (&)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence Vi) REOFT#EIATHZERR
over the entity or is a member of the key management EAXENNBEZERE (%
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or -l PASYNCIDESE 33PN =

%

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) BAEBERAEE 2 A RRE
part, provides key management personnel services to HEZEBEABERBE B
the Group or to the Group’s parent. HEBEE 2 EMKE AR

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or EREATIRZEASEHEG@EAT
obligation between the Group and a related party, regardless of ZHEETZER REIETEERE M
whether a price is charged. Time B EEE -

Close family members of a person are those family members who AT Z RGBS pe ik At & %1&
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in TREGBEZEZATIZZATEEZ
their dealings with the entity. ZERIRKE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

BRI I ERRIEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimation is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response to market
conditions. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires management to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Prior to 1 April 2018, when there was an objective evidence of
impairment loss, the Group took into consideration the estimation
of future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss was
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual
future cash flows were less than expected or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a material
impairment loss/further impairment loss may arise.

On or after 1 April 2018, the loss allowances for financial assets
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

Current income taxes

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in Hong Kong and the PRC
are subject to Profits Tax in Hong Kong, and PRC Enterprise
Income Tax. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax in the period in which
such determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and variable selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
It could change significantly as a result of changes in customer

4,

B TBRERR2ETERE (&)

FEZURRFE

FEZAEHEFENNAEELRBRESD
1E 2 (A AT S ER A AR TR AR 2 7]
BHERX - WEAFIREREHNR
REERHEEERUER ZBELR
miEd  YEREEFPmRMEBEFYHF
REIRITEBHMMEL 2 T8 MABER

taste and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle. Bl EENSREBRETTEHEH
The directors reassess the estimations at the end of each reporting fhgt e

period.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RESHEH

Information reported to the Group’s management, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

o BCEIR R AR A ALEE R
EER s ENEENMRINERLHE
HRBERE -

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are Bgms  RNEBUBREERFEIHR
as follows: TASERNA RH{RSBAT :

e Trading and retailing of jewellery e HKEBEEEBENTE

e Lending business s BEE®

e Pharmaceutical and healthcare products o HEENRFEEEMR

An operating segment regarding the wireless value-added services BHAEGEERBNECES BN E—F
was discontinued in the preceding year. The segment information BERIEEE - LATEHR 2 DI04 7H7r
reported below does not include any amounts for this discontinued BREZERIECEER 2R
operation, which are described in more detail in note 12 to the —SERFAN GRS B RRMTE12

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

KRETBEN @

AEEREFERERHT 2 RS RFA

from continuing operations: AWAT :
Continuing operations HEKEXEK
Trading and Pharmaceutical
retailing of Lending and healthcare
jewellery business products  Consolidation
KEEE BER
REE BREXK REREEER CH)
For the year ended BZ-Z-N%F HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
31 March 2019 ZA=t-BLFE TET TERT TR TEx
REVENUE 6
From external customers: RENPER
Trading of gold and jewellery e MRERE 40,115 - - 40,115
Retailing of jewellery KETE 9,523 - - 9,523
Lending business EEX% - 1,091 - 1,001
Trading of pharmaceutical and EERRFEREMER
healthcare products - - 33,318 33,318
49,638 1,091 33,318 84,047
RESULTS ES
Segment results NEbEE (3,927) 438 (5,145) (8,634)
Unallocated income AABKA 255
Unallocated expenses ADEAZ (45,338)
Finance costs HBER (160)
Share of loss of associates [E{EEE R R BE (117)
Loss before tax BREiAIE R (53,994)
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n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

BRI I ERRIEE

NE=ZA=1T—HILEFE

as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3 to the

consolidated financial statements. Segment (loss)/profit represents

the (loss suffered)/profit earned from each segment without

allocation of central administrative costs, certain other income and

gains, other expenses, finance costs, impairment loss recognised

in respect of investment property, gain on disposal of subsidiaries

and share of loss of associates. This is the measure reported to

the Group’s management for the purposes of resource allocation

and performance assessment.

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RESHER (|
(Continued)
Continuing operations (continued) HEKSEXEK (F)
Trading and Pharmaceutical
retailing of Lending  and healthcare
jewellery business products Consolidation
REEE BXR
TE EEX® REEEEM G
For the year ended BE_T-N\F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2018 ZA=+-RAL%E FET THT THT THT
REVENUE I 3
From external customers: RENBER :
Trading of gold and jewellery e MRERE 26,011 - - 26,011
Retailing of jewellery KEZE 8,674 - - 8,674
Lending business EEX® - 3,419 = 3,419
Trading of pharmaceutical and EERREFEREMER
healthcare products - - 26,635 26,635
34,685 3,419 26,635 64,739
RESULTS £
Segment results NEbEE (1,261) 2,523 (7,795) (6,533)
Unallocated income AABKA 4
Unallocated expenses ADEAZ (12,296)
Finance costs HKER (16)
Share of loss of an assoclate Bl —fa = AR & (710)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & — M B D B 2 Wz 1,371
Loss before tax BRELRTES 1R (18,180)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same RES @A R REANEBREZEE T

AN ;LB

WRMEIMAM 2 G BR - DF
(B18) mrEE D (EE2ER)
PERER 2 gt - B A AR 7 BL AR RATIER
RS E TR A R - AR
MBER  REVMEERHBERE
B D B 2 Was e MG B A RS
B AN EEREFHERRMAA
SEEREER EE-
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ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by B E D HE D 2 A& EXEED
operating segment: M
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
SEGMENT ASSETS DEEE
Trading and retailing of jewellery KEEENTE 11,494 13,566
Lending business EEEK 4,397 32,777
Pharmaceutical and healthcare products %% 3£ % (i FE & 1% & 22,128 36,342
Segment assets from continuing operations #3548 4L & S 15 2 7 3 & &= 38,019 82,685
Non-current asset classified as held for sale B 4% IF 48 & 25 2 HRA A B 1,443 1,538
Unallocated assets ROREE 106,057 30,177
Total assets BEMR 145,519 114,400
SEGMENT LIABILITIES PHER
Trading and retailing of jewellery KBEEBEMTE 2,110 648
Lending business BEEXR 47 112
Pharmaceutical and healthcare products 223 & (# FR & 32 = 13,248 23,383
Segment liabilities from continuing SECEEB 2 oA aE
operations 15,405 24,143
Unallocated liabilities vl =K 7,559 2,407
Total liabilities BELRE 22,964 26,550
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments except
investment property, AFS financial assets, interests in
associates, amount due from an associate, amount due from
ultimate holding company, financial assets at FVTPL, certain
property, plant and equipment, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents held by the

respective head offices; and

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segment except certain
payables and accruals and borrowings.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC and Hong
Kong, and it also derives revenue from the PRC and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing operations
from external customers, presented based on geographical
location of the customers, and information about the Group’s non-
current assets other than financial assets, presented based on
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

FRBHAZREYE - AIftH
ETMEE RBERA 2
FEULES & N B 2 FROR - R R AR

RAEIZHRE  BAFERIER
ERaRRECEREE -ETY
X BELERRE BENRE G2
REAMBEUFIBANBERIREEF
BEWIN REEEHIRERED
R

o BRENRREN RS REES -
FARBESBEEESH -

AEBEZEBEIZURTEREE M
RS IREFEREE -

BERAREERBIBEPZIFBELEE
BWSEERTIAEP 2 BEUEZ5 -
MERASEERMEERINZERBE
EERTDNEEZHEBLERS  F15
LI

Revenue of external

customers Non-current assets
RENBEFE 2= *RBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-NEFE ZT-N\F ZE-hAFE —ZT-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAEIT FET FET
Continuing operations BEREER
The PRC H 82,956 61,320 11,983 14,142
Hong Kong a5 1,091 3,419 14,039 4,679
Total 45T 84,047 64,739 26,022 18,821

Note: Non-current assets exclude loan receivables and AFS financial assets.

Mz : FRBEETEERERERRAELE
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

KRETBEN @

FRERFEFZEHR
HAEENERFEAEERE10%Z
BERzWaSmT

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T

Continuing operations BESEEL
Customer A' EEA - 11,908
Customer B’ XFEB 8,942 11,328
Customer C! XPC 17,457 N/A 7R 38 F 2

i Revenue from trading of gold and jewellery
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group

Except disclosed above, No other customers contributed 10% or
more to the Group’s revenue for both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RESHER (|
(Continued)
Other segment information HihpHER
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-_Z—NF=A=+—HLLFE
Continuing operations REREED
Trading and Pharmaceutical
retailing of Lending and healthcare
jewellery business products Unallocated Consolidated
KEEE BER
REE REER REEEER RAE CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TEx TER TER
Bank interest income FOFEHA 7 - 3 254 264
Depreciation of property, 1% BER&EZ
plant and equipment e 242 - 1,217 512 2,031

Impairment loss recognised 5 & 7%l JEUUBR 5 i R2

in respect of loan and ZREBE

trade receivables 268 42 385 - 695
Impairment loss recognised 5#1% * BE R

in respect of property, RERRL

plant and equipment HEER 22 = = = 22
Impairment loss recognised 7124 415 FEFAK)

in respect of investment  HEE B

o - - - 2,999 2,999
Impairment loss recognised & B A2
in respect of goodwil REEE 2,914 - - - 2914
Capital expenditure: EXRX :
Property, plant and ERN G
equipment - - - 3,674 3,674
Investment property RENE - = = 2,567 2,567
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Continuing operations

KRETBEN @

Ht o BEHR (F])

BE-2 - \F=A=t+-ALEE

FERLZEER

Trading and Pharmaceutical
retaiing of Lending and healthcare
jewellery business products Unallocated Consolidated
KEEE EER
kZE BEER RREREM AOE aFt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THTL THTL
Bank interest income FITHE]MA 6 - - - 6
Depreciation of property, 1% * BE ka2
plant and equipment & 542 - 3,224 1,186 4,952
Amortisation of prepaid BT £ &
rentals = - 49 - 49
Impairment loss recognised 5 fE WU B 712
in respect of trade HEEE
receivables = = 508 = 508
Loss on disposal of MENE  BER
property, plant and SEZER
equipment 2 - - - 2
Impairment loss recognised &t & 22
in respect of goodwil HEEE - - 413 - 413
Capital expenditure: BARY :
Property, plant and ER G
equipment 4 - 187 1,690 1,881
Investment property RENZ - = = 7452 7452
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts

TREIIRBEEFE

6. REVENUE 6. Wz
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with PHBEFENANRE
customers
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-_Z—NF=A=+—HLLFE
HK$’000
FTEx
Continuing operations: BELSEEL:
Trading of gold and jewellery =eMNKBEEE 40,115
Retailing of jewellery KETE 9,523
Trading of pharmaceutical and healthcare products Z K 2 FEBE R E B 33,318
Revenue from contracts with customers KRERFALHZ W= 82,956
Timing of revenue recognition B 58 I 2 B [
A point in time A — B fE 2h 82,956

#) 2 Wras By 2R &

with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment PETIREE 2 &% 2 R o
information.
HK$’000
TAERT
Continuing operations: BEREER
Trading of gold and jewellery B RHKEEER 40,115
Retailing of jewellery HKEZTE 9,523
Trading of pharmaceutical and healthcare products Z2£ I & FE# IR E R E & 33,318
Revenue from contracts with customers RERFPEHZ W= 82,956
Loan interest income B A B HBA 1,091
Total revenue U= 84,047
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

6. REVENUE (Continued) 6.

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121
of HKFRS 15 to its sales of goods such that the Group does not
disclose information about revenue that the Group will be entitled
to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the sales contracts as all contract works have an original expected
duration of one year or less.

For the year ended 31 March 2018

i 58 (4
AMEEFANBTENEENRS

AEECHEEmHERABT VTR
SFEAEGRE 121 RNEREEESA
HAMEAMN TR REMA —FHN
THR BEASETEREFHEAS
BRETHEANBR TRANEEEKZ
Bz z BR -

HE_Z—\EF=A=1+—RHILtFE

HK$'000
FHET

Continuing operations: FEREER
Sales of goods BEmis 61,292
Services income ARIG A 28
Loan interest income B RA B A 3,419
64,739

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. Hitlg AR W=
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T THET
Continuing operations: BESEER

Sundry income MW A 16 86
Bank interest income ERITH B U A 264 6
280 92
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ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

8. OTHER LOSSES 8. HiE#E
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Continuing operations: BHEREER:
Exchange losses bE N Eia 48 =
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE - KEREZEEE
equipment - 2
48 2
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MKEH
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Continuing operations: BREREER
Interest on borrowings BERNE 160 16
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10. LOSS BEFORE TAX

at after charging:

10.

The Group’s loss before tax from continuing operations is arrived

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

B Bt A 5 1R

AEBREFELEEBZBHAER
MR T OIS IRRIER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Continuing operations: BHEREER:
Cost of inventories sold EHTFERR 77,799 56,478
Amortisation of prepaid rentals SEUNE R X - 49
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- BERZBEZITE
equipment 2,031 4,952
Impairment loss recognised in respect of : &t [ 5I #ER < B E 18 :
— trade receivables — FE U AR 3K 695 508
— property, plant and equipment o/ EN =N 22 =
— investment property — B 2,999 =
— goodwill -2 2,914 413
Written off of amounts due from related FE W AE A A B 50 IE 2 i 58 - 34
companies
Minimum lease payments under operating A F& & B HKEBE R
leases in respect of:
land and buildings T it REF 3,573 1,824
Auditors’ remuneration ZEE %
— audit services —FT RS 880 739
— non-audit services — B R 150 -
1,030 739
Share-based payment expenses in respect E2EE [ A B 2 LARS 1D A EHE 2
of consultants 5 2 6,076 =
Employee benefits expense (including EERMHZ (BEESEWE) :
directors’ remuneration):
— Wages, salaries, allowances and —I& e 2K
benefits in kind EYH = 8,695 8,893
— Share-based payment expenses in —HESRHEIARNDAER
respect of employees A 21,140 -
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions — B K< 5 &8I 3k 439 408
30,274 9,301
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FRiEBIBAX

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Continuing operations: BHEREER:

Current tax — Hong Kong: EVERRRIE — &
Charge for the year FAZMH 57 180
(Over)/under provision in prior years BAEFE (BEEE) BETL (45) 92
12 272

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5% for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made
for both years as the Group has no assessable profits arising in the
PRC.

—E-N\F=ZA=+—RH BFBUEE
BBC2017TERF (1BF]) (B T79R) 15
BRIMEBIEZR]) - S| ARSI ARG
ZEPNERR _E—NE=ZA =+ N\H
BEEZERAEZR URBAEFRTE -
BEMNEHRES  aEKEEEE

2,000,000 7T i ) &) B % £ 8.25%

ifl %8 48 2,000,000 7 7t & F &9 i £ &
165% HE-_ZT—NF=A=+—H
IEEE  THEMNESHMAGNEEE
B2 )55 R A2 48 DA 16.5% FV 4 — T R B o

BE—_ZTZ—N\F=Z=A=+—HItFE
ZEBNEGR IR ERFERN 2
16.5% 5t & o

BIERBECEEMGFRE) ([REMRSH
EDRCEMBHAEHRMA - R
BRRMEFE 2 EB25% °

HRAEBERN B WAREEBRBUER

W ENMEFERTEEEMERE
AR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11. RS BB X (8
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before AREF MBS HEGEEmREME
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other H R BRI BIBELSERAT ¢
comprehensive income as follows:
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Loss before tax from continuing operations  2i& [ 13 48 4% & 2 1% 2 [ F Bl 5 18 (53,994) (18,180)
Tax at domestic income tax rates BN MR E 2 FiE (9,464) (3,538)
Tax effect of share of loss of associates e —EEtE AR BB MG E 19 177
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BAERRBAZ RIS E
purpose (42) (239)
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax 7~ A] 0% 5 sz < i 75 52 22
purpose 6,633 1,166
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not RERGREBE BB E
recognised 2,911 2,644
One-off tax reduction of Hong Kong Profits %t % @ 5L &8 M S5 2 — X HEE At
Tax by Inland Revenue Departments - (80)
(Over)/under provision in prior years BEFE (BEEE) BETR (45) 92
Income tax expense for the year relating to & Eﬁ Ti BREXB2FE
continuing operations SRR 12 272
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 2 June 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the entire issued share capital of Prosten
(BVI) Limited and its subsidiaries, including the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries, which were principally engaged in wireless value-
added services operation in the PRC. The disposal of wireless
value-added services operation is consistent with the Group’s long-
term policy to focus its activities on the Group’s other operations.
The disposal was completed on 5 June 2017, on which date the
control of Prosten (BVI) Limited passed to the acquirer.

Profit for the period from Prosten (BVI) Limited and its subsidiaries
is set out below. The results of Prosten (BVI) Limited and its
subsidiaries were presented as discontinued operation:

12. DRI REEFK

NRZE—+FE A0 AEEFTT—
P EE W - LAHE Prosten (BVI) Limited
REKB AR (BREIUEGZE AR B
RNE) 2 2HEFITRA  HEZERFH
NEEGEERGES LEEREE
R XBRHEAEBH EFREMERKE
o REBK HEERZTE—1tF N
A # H5E/K il Prosten (BVI) Limited 2
EHEERRBER TRER

Prosten (BVI) Limited &% £ K & A 7] Z 5
A 3 A &L 51 40 R ° Prosten (BVI) Limited
REWB AR EBEZIABRIERLSE
E

Period from
1 April 2017
to

5 June 2017
—ET—tF
MA—HZ=E
—E—+F
NARA
HAfA
HK$’000
TR

Loss from wireless value-added services operation 4 47 3% {8 AR 75 3£ 75 2 B A E5 18

for the period

operation

Profit for the period attributable to owners of the
Company

(69)

41,835

ARRHEE ANEME 2 BRE T

41,770
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ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 12.

Loss of Prosten (BVI) Limited and its subsidiaries for the period,
which have been included in profit for the year from discontinued
operation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, comprised the following:

R IEEERK (@)

Prosten (BVI) Limited &% E K & A & = Hj
NEE (Bt ARG B R H 2 I
mRABERIEKEEBHNFANERN) 2
EITAA :

Period from

1 April 2017

to

5 June 2017

—E—+F

MA—H=

—E—+F

7N AT B EARE

HK$'000

FHT

Revenue & =

Other income and gains H A YA R Wz 34
Loss on fair value change of financial assets EATEBYEREESEREE 2

at FVTPL TREEZ A TEEZYER (22)

Administrative expenses TR (77)

Loss before tax BRELRIEE (65)

Income tax expense FrBHi A X =

Loss for the period Bi A B 18 (65)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 12. BRI RE XK @)

Loss for the period from discontinued operation had been arrived

at after charging: | &8 -

EREEEXB HMABEIEMR T

Period from

1 April 2017
to

5 June 2017
—E—+F
MA—BZ=E
—E—+F
7~ AR H HEifE
HK$’000
FHT

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Wz BERZEBIITE

Minimum lease payments under operating leases in A 8 £ R I2F 2 & 2 HEKEEEMNR
respect of land and buildings

Realised loss on financial assets at FVTPL

BAVEEIRIEESREEC SREE
Z BB S

Cash flows of the discontinued operation for the period were as
follows:

ERIEREXBZHAR

16

22

TREWNT :

Period from

1 April 2017
to

5 June 2017
—E—tF
MA—H=
—E—tF
aV; =01
HK$’000
TR

REXB 2R ML FHE
BREXBZBRERAFER

Net cash outflow from operating activities
Net cash inflow from investing activities
Net cash inflow REMNFE
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Prosten (BVI)
Limited and its subsidiaries at the date of disposal are disclosed in

note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

TERRHIFEA0HE -

(565)
591

26

Prosten (BVI) Limited K £ Bt B A & 7
EHHCEERABZEREERGE M
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ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of directors was set out below:

13. EEM S

EZMaFHINMT

(@) Executive directors (a) HITES
Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Retirement
and benefits payment benefit scheme
Fee in kind expenses  contributions Total
Fe BBk UROAER Bie
g ENAE  ZAREX SR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tir TR TR TERT
2019 “B-NF
Mr. Zhang Chunhua (appointed ~ REZEL A (R-E—N\F
on 12 February 2018) “Rt-BEZT) - 330 4,947 17 5,204
Ms. Zhang Chunping (appointed ~ R&ES &+ (R N\&
on 12 February 2018) —B+-BEEE) - 330 4,947 17 5,294
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee ~ &FEX T (R=F-N\F
(appointed on 18 May 2018) AATN\BEZI) - 1,145 4,947 17 6,109
- 1,805 14,841 51 16,697
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 13. EEM < (@)

(a) Executive directors (Continued) (a) BMITEE(E)
Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Retirement
and benefits payment  benefit scheme
Fee in kind expenses  contributions Total
oo 2R MRHAHER R’ifke
ik Enfle  ZHREX STEIfR @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T THT T THT
2018 TN\
Mr. Zhang Chunhua (appointed ~ REZERA(RZE-N\F
on 12 February 2018) “Rt=HEZfE) - - - = =
Ms. Zhang Chunping (appointed ~ R&EF &+ (R-E—\F
on 12 February 2018) “RAtZBEZH) = > - - -
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee ~ E@FE XL (R=F—/\F
(appointed on 18 May 2018) AR+ N\BEZRE) = = = = -
Mr. Xu Zhigang (re-designated &SI 4&
from executive director (R=F-NE-A+ZH
on12 February 2018) MATEEAL) - 930 - 17 947
Mr. Shi Liangsheng (resigned R2ARERZE-NE
on 12 February 2018) ZATZRE{) - 493 - 16 509
Mr. Han Jun (resigned on BELRE(RZZ-N\E
12 February 2018) At BEE) - 514 - - 514
Mr. Wen Xingcheng (appointed on B &R L4 (R-F—+ &
3 April 2017 and resigned on MAZBEZRER
1 September 2017) RZZE—tENA—HEHE) - 9 - - 99
- 2,06 - 33 2,069
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ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Non-executive directors

13. EE € (@)
(b) FHITES

Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Retirement

and benefits payment benefit scheme
Fee in kind expenses  contributions Total
e 2Bk UROBER BfRe
e ENANE  ZAREX eI o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TER TEx TEx FET
2019 —E-NE
Mr. Xu Zhigang (re-designated &SI 4&
from executive director on (R=2-\E-A+=H
12 February 2018) BITEZRT) 180 - 152 - 332
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Retirement
and benefits payment  benefit scheme
Fee in kind expenses  contributions Total
He 2R URHAER BRE
e EnflE ZHREX B Bz
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THIL FHL THL
2018 20\
Mr. Xu Zhigang (re-designated &I % £
from executive director on (R=Z-\E-A+=H
12 February 2018) BITESRT) - 15 - - 15
Mr. Chen Weixi (resigned on RERTAE(RZZ-N\F
12 February 2018) —“At-HEE) - 343 - - 343
- 358 - - 358

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B IS SRR MIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(c) Independent non-executive directors

13. ES M€ @)

(c) BAXHTES

Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Retirement
and benefits payment benefit scheme
Fee in kind expenses  contributions Total
He RER  UROAER Bihe
e ENRE  ZfREX BE L @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER TER THER TR
2019 ZE-hE
Ms. Chan Mei Yan, Hidy (appointed BEB &+ (R=F—N\F
on 12 February 2018) “ATZREZE) 180 - 152 - 332
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (appointed on - BSR4 (R=E—N\F
12 February 2018) “ATZHEZER) 180 - 152 - 332
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean ~ ZEALT (R=T-N\F
(appointed on 12 February 2018) — A+ -HEZ{) 180 - 152 - 332
540 - 456 - 996
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A B IS ERaRMIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

13. EEM € (@)

(c) Independent non-executive directors (Continued) (c) BIAFEHTES (&)
Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Retirement
and benefits payment  benefit scheme
Fee in kind expenses  contributions Total
oo 2R MRHAHER R’ifke
ik Enfle  ZHREX STEIfR @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THTL THT T THT
2018 It St
Ms. Chan Mei Yan, Hidy (@ppointed BEB &+ (R=F—N\F
on 12 February 2018) ZATZREZ) 24 - - - 24
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (appointed on - B RE 564 (R =2~ \fF
12 February 2018) “AtZBEZF) 24 - - - 24
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean ~ ZEIZL(R=F—/\F
(appointed on 12 February 2018) =~ A+ -BEZ(T) 24 = - = 24
Mr. Lam Kwok Cheong (resigned  #EIE K4 (R=E—N\F
on 12 February 2018) ZATZRE{) 124 - - - 124
Mr. Xu Xiaoping (resigned on 12~ /N4 (R-E—\F
February 2018) “A+tZHE{) 124 - - - 124
Mr. Poon Yan Wai (resignedon &L 4E(R=F—NE
12 February 2018) —RTZHBA) 124 - - = 124
444 - - - 444

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

13.

BRI I ERRIEE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee is also the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group and her emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by her as the Chief Executive Officer.

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the above individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the above individuals has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the directors were granted
share options, in respect of their services to the Group under
the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the share
option scheme are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements. The number of share options granted is determined
based on the directors’ duties and responsibilities in the Group.

Except as disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its ultimate holding company,
or any subsidiaries of its ultimate holding company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

NE=ZA=1T—HILEFE

13. EEM € (@)

EFERINAAKREZERENTE
AREAFEZEMNEERE(ERER
HITE RERBGATRE Bl -

BE T NLEFR_F-NF=H
=ST—HLEFE AEEXER LR A
IXAME  RERRSIKEFMALSE
B SR AR R B1R 2 SR Bk 1F A B B
HE-HE-_T-NFR-_ZFT-N\F=
A=1—BHLFE #BELRATHE
HRABHEEMME

BE_ZT-NF=ZA=1t—HLFE"
RIBEARBBRES  EFAANE
B 1R 0 IR TS I R BRI - R AR AT 8
HBENREMBHRRM TS - KA
BREZKENIRBEEEEASENBE
NEEERE -

BRERA B mRM E 43 MBS AL
A EERERABRERZKIZERA R
ZEMMERRBER LEMARAE
ERETHEEERAMERERREMRN
FRIMAFEER 2 EFEENAEK
ZEERG RHREH -
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 14. A2 BESHEE

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2018: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2018:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

FRNEEAERFEERE =R (=
—N\F:=R)EF HMESFBEER L
MERE M IS mAR M FE13H M o F RN H
Ma(ZE—NF:MB)FARAES
REZTRABMNGRSFTEEZHEF
IEPUNE

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 ~ 28 R E A
Share-based payment expenses
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R AK & 5t 2145

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

VAR 7 2R B0 2 15 SR 32

2019 2018
—2-nE —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T Fisi
1,290 853
5,218 =

33 32

6,541 885

eBRATHARNZIEEEN RS HE
BAZMAT :

2019 2018

—g-nEF —F)N\F

Number of Number of

employee employee

EEAH EEAH

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 1 2
More than HK$1,000,000 1,000,0008 7T MA 1 -
2 2
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

14.

15.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The two (2018: two) individuals include one (2018: nil) senior
management as disclosed in the section “Directors and Senior
Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, five highest paid employees
(excluded directors) were granted share options, in respect of
their services to the Group under the share option scheme of the
Company. Details of the share option scheme are set out in the
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. The number
of share options granted is determined based on the duties and
responsibilities of the five highest paid employees in the Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the above individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the above individuals has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
2018.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends was paid or proposed to be paid by the Company
during 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed by the Board
since the end of the reporting period (2018: nil).

14.

15.

EIEBREHES (&)

W% (ZF—N\F W8 AL e
FREREEE —HHRRBO—E (=
TN\F D) EREEE

BE_Z-hAhF=A=+—HILFE"
REAXRBBRENS AEEE5E
B (BRI EF/AREMERN
AR5 IR P A - BB RT B BERN
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IRELEAERSFEERAKRENBE
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BHE-_Z—NLEFk=ZZE—NF=A
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B S NN AR SR B 18 2 R 3k 1F 7 Bl B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

For continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

16. 8 (F518) &R

RFEKERCRIEREXR
ARAHEBARGERERREE (B
18) /BATIRBIA T BURE -

data:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E)\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T
(Loss)/earnings (BB]) B
(Loss)/earnings for the purposes of basic ~ FIR T EFRREA N #5% (E18)
and diluted (loss)/earnings per share Bz (EE) &7 (54,006) 23,329
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—)N\F
’000 ‘000
T T A%
Number of shares RHER
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EERERREE (B51E)
shares for the purposes of basic and Bz ntEFHE B e B
diluted (loss)/earnings per share 1,430,580 1,210,372
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

16.

BRI I ERRIEE

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

As the Company’s outstanding share options had an anti-dilutive
effect to the basic earnings per share calculation for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, the exercise of the above
potential ordinary shares is not assumed in the calculation of
diluted (loss)/earnings per share.

NE=ZA=1T—HILEFE

16. R (F58) &R (@)

HRARRRTTEBREHBE_F
—NERZFE-NF=ZA=1t—BLF
BzEB8BRERBNZAEEREBETE
BN EEREE (BB BHRERR
R B EBRZITRE

For continuing operations BEEEEK

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET T

Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted FRETERBIFELLEBE 2

earnings per share from continuing EREAREERT 2 BE
operations (54,006) (18,441)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for
both basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share for continuing and
discontinued operations.

From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operation are HK$3.45 cents per share, based on the profit for
the year ended 31 March 2018 from the discontinued operation
of HK$41,770,000 and the denominators detailed above for both
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share for continuing and
discontinued operations.

TRz DEE ElFELERDRIER
BEBERERREE (B1R) &7
Aol D EBHER -

BRIEREER
ERIECEXBERERNREERTG
A2 345 B I BIE R B BRI & X
ZEE_T-)\F=ZA=1+—RHLFE
2 54 F 41,770,000 78 7T & £ X FET 2 35
%E%%%&E%&H«é%%ztﬂx%ZK&
g (BB BNSEHE -
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n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NEFE=ZA=1T—HILFE

17. W% - MEK KRB

Office and
Land and computer
Building in equipment,
Mainland Leasehold furniture
China  improvements and fixture Total
RAER
RAE Rt HE EBERE B
ZIHRETF MELE REE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Cost: B
At 1 April 2017 RZE-—+FMA—A 1,385 928 7415 9,728
Additions RE - 472 1,400 1,881
Disposals & - - (407) (407)
Disposals of subsidiaries (1ote 40)  HEKB R F (#7:240) (1,385) (202) 2,158) (3,745)
Exchange alignment X AR - 108 191 299
At 31 March 2018 and RZE-N$=A=+—H
at 1 April 2018 ERZZ—-N\FMNA—H - 1,306 6,450 7,756
Additions RE - 1,836 1,838 3,674
Disposals e - - (18) (18)
Exchange alignment RN E - (83) (100) (183)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=A=1+—H - 3,059 8,170 11,229
Accumulated depreciationand  ZitTERREE
impairment:
At 1 April 2017 RZE—tEMA—H 421 117 3,391 3,929
Provided for the year FNEE 4 1,019 3,933 4,956
Eliminated upon disposals P 5 R 3 8 - - (313) (813)
Eliminated upon disposals of R EH B A mR K
subsidiaries (note 40) (Hiz#40) (425) (202) 2,041) (2,669)
Exchange alignment X A% - 60 105 165
At 31 March 2018 and RZZ-\E=A=+—H
at 1 April 2018 FRZZ—-NFNA—H - 994 5,075 6,069
Provided for the year FNEE - 501 1,530 2,031
Impairment loss recognised ERAREESE - - 22 22
Eliminated upon disposals A B R 8 - - (18) (18)
Exchange alignment P X R - (64) (78) (142)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NE=A=1+—H - 1,431 6,531 7,962
Carrying amount: fREE
At 31 March 2019 R-E-nE=A=1+—-H - 1,628 1,639 3,267
At 31 March 2018 —N\F=A=t—H 5 312 1,375 1,687
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

17.

18.

BRI I ERRIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the directors assessed
the recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
by reference to the valuation performed by International Valuation
Limited (“IVL”), a firm of independent qualified valuers and
concluded that amounts of approximately HK$22,000 (2018:
nil) was impaired in respect of trading and retailing of jewellery
operations.

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
the value in use calculation under the income approach, which
includes the discounted cash flows sourced from the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year period,
and the pre-tax discount rate of approximately 10% (2018: 11%)
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGU.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on
the expected revenue from existing and potential customers
throughout the budget period. The cash flows beyond that five-
year period have been extrapolated using a steady 3% (2018: 3%)
per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long
term average growth rate for the market.

NE=ZA=1T—HILEFE

17. 9% - BERRE (@)

HE-ZE—hhF=-A=1+—RHLFE"
EE2ZRBTEARA R ([BEEFM
BRAA]  —HBLABRGEERMT)
EITHEENEYE  BERRE 2T
WE¢sE WELHER KEBEHRT
EERREL 22,0008 T (ZE— N\EF
z) o

IR EE B2 AT E & 5 TR IR

NERZEREBEAEFNEE B
REEBEEHERELFHEMBEE
ISR ERSRARBEFMIEHE
K RE Tﬁﬁfﬁiﬁiﬁu%ﬁﬂ R L
FHER R AT T IR R 10% (Z T — \F
1%) °

FEEHANBE S R=ETE) EU%EAWTI?E
NI E REEE - B8 B e o
ZHAFHMNBESRERA .ES%(fy
—N\F 3%)MFHEREHRE - ZIBE
EARBUTE T R TIHEE -

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 18. REW

Cost

29N

Property under

construction

EEME

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2017 AZE—+FmA—H 4,391
Construction cost incurred BEAEEEKARN 7,452
Exchange alignment ME 5, 58 B 456

At 31 March 2018 and at 1 April 2018 RZE—NF=A=+—H8K

RZZE—N\FWMA—H 12,299

Construction cost incurred BEAEEERRN 2,567
Impairment loss recognised BERERREEE (2,999)
Exchange alignment PE W R (760)
At 31 March 2019 R-ZB—-—h&E=A=+—H 11,107

2019 F 3 | BAEEEREEFR AT

173



174
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n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

18.

BRI IS ERRMEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

For the Group’s investment property under construction at
cost, when their fair values are not reliably measurable, they
are measured at cost, less any impairment loss, until the earlier
of the date of construction is completed and the date at which
fair value become reliably measurable. The Group’s investment
property, which is under construction, is held for long term leasing
purpose and its address is southern side of Zhongshan Road,
western side of Zhawang Highway, Jianggan District, Jiaxing City,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC, which is a construction of a six-storey
commercial building in progress.

The investment property is pledged to secure the borrowings
granted to the Group.

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the directors reviewed for indicators
that the carrying amounts of the investment property under
construction might not be fully recovered with reference to current
market situations and valuation performed by IVL (2018: Roma
Appraisals Limited).

The recoverable amount of the investment property was
determined by using a combination of the comparative method to
transaction sales of similar properties in the open market for the
land cost and depreciated replacement cost method for the value
of property.

As the recoverable amount of the investment property is less
than its carrying amount, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$2,999,000 (2018: nil) was recognised. As the recoverable
amount of the investment property reduced to approximately
HK$11,107,000, any adverse change in the assumptions used in
the calculation of the recoverable amount would result in further
impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

19. LONG-TERM PREPAID RENTALS 19. REIFEFHES
This represents the prepayment of long-term rentals of farm in the REENESERRERRA P EERE
PRC for the business of pharmaceutical and healthcare products EHERHEEERRREEERD PE
segment at the end of the reporting period under operating leases B2 P E RS RAMESFENKIE - HE
in the PRC. The lease term is 13 years. The movements of the B13F - REFENME S 2 oo T

long-term prepaid rentals are summarised as follows:

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
T
Cost: A
At 1 April REA—H 1,241
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) & W B AR (At 40) (1,291)
Exchange alignment ME 5, 38 2 50
At 31 March R=A=+—H -
Accumulated amortisation Rt BHERREEE :
and impairment loss:
At 1 Apri HEA—A 53
Amortisation for the year F (A 2 5 49
Eliminated upon disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) 7 H & K& A =1k K 85 (4722 40) (103)
Exchange alignment ME 5, 38 2 1
At 31 March R=A=+—H -
Carrying amount: BRMEIE :
At 31 March R=A=+—H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 2. AItHEESREE

2018
—N\FE
HK$’'000
T

Unlisted equity securities, at fair value FEEMERFS  BEAFERAE
At 1 April RMYA—H 16,583
Fair value adjustment during the year FAZRFEEARE (1,5893)
At 31 March MR=A=+—H 15,000

Upon application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the Group has
reclassified all AFS financial assets to financial assets at FVTPL
(note 28).

On 23 October 2015, Meteor Storm Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into agreement
with Hong Kong Media Group Limited, a shareholder of Hong
Kong Net TV Limited (a company incorporated under the laws
of the British Virgin Islands with the limited liability) to acquire
6% of the ordinary share capital in Hong Kong Net TV Limited,
a company principally engaged in the business of provision of
advertising and consultancy services. The directors do not believe
that the Group is able to exercise significant influence over Hong
Kong Net TV Limited as the other 94% of the ordinary share
capital is held by one shareholder, who also manages the day-to-
day operations of that company. The acquisition transaction was
completed on 21 December 2015. No dividend was declared to
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2018.

The above unlisted equity securities were revalued on 31 March
2018 by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak Vision”), a firm
of independent qualified valuers, not connected to the Group
who have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in
the valuation of similar equity securities. Details of the fair value
measurements are disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL 21. &
HK$'000
F& T
Cost: AN :
At 1 April 2017, at 31 March 2018, at 1 April 2018 RN=_Z—+FPWA—H —F— \F
and at 31 March 2019 =A=+—HB ZE-N\FOA-ABXK
—E-hF=A=+—8H 5,092
Accumulated impairment losses: R BEEE
At 1 April 2017 RZFE—+FWMA—H -
Impairment loss recognised EERBEEE 413
At 31 March 2018 and at 1 April 2018 RZTE—N\F=ZA=+—HK
RZZE-—N\FMNA—H 413
Impairment loss recognised EHRREEE 2,914
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H 3,327
Carrying amounts: BRMEIE :
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-hHFE=HA=+—H 1,765
At 31 March 2018 R-_ZE—N\F=HA=+—H 4,679
2019 2018
—E-NE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Goodwill analysed by subsidiaries LTI E AT 2
acquired was as below: BT :
Sino Yao Shang Technology Limited BRI B R A A 771 771
Mastery Jewellery Co. Limited ZERELARAF - 2,914
Wing Tai Industrial Holdings Limited Wing Tai Industrial Holdings Limited 994 994
1,765 4,679
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

21. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

Goodwill acquired has been allocated for impairment testing
purposes to the following CGUs:

— Sino Yao Shang Technology Limited (Pharmaceutical and
healthcare products)

—  Mastery Jewellery Co. Limited (Trading and retailing of
jewellery)

—  Wing Tai Industrial Holdings Limited (Lending Business)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
by reference to the valuation report prepared by IVL (2018: Peak
Vision).

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their
major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

Sino Yao Shang Technology Limited

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
the value in use calculation under the income approach, which
includes the discounted cash flows sourced from the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year period,
and the pre-tax discount rate of 15% (2018: 13%) that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGU.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on
the expected revenue from existing and potential customers
throughout the budget period. The cash flows beyond that five-
year period have been extrapolated using a steady 3% (2018: 3%)
per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long
term average growth rate for the market.
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nT

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

21.

BRI I ERRIEE

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill
(Continued)

Sino Yao Shang Technology Limited (Continued)

At 31 March 2019, as the recoverable amount of the CGU was
calculated to be in excess of the carrying amount of CGU to which
goodwill is allocated, no impairment loss was recognised.

At 31 March 2018, based on the value in use calculation, the
recoverable amount of this CGU is less than the carrying amount
of this CGU. An impairment loss of approximately HK$413,000
was recognised.

Mastery Jewellery Co. Limited

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
the value in use calculation under the income approach, which
includes the discounted cash flows sourced from the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year period,
and the pre-tax discount rate of approximately 10% (2018: 11%)
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGU.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on
the expected revenue from existing and potential customers
throughout the budget period. The cash flows beyond that five-
year period have been extrapolated using a steady 3% (2018: 3%)
per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long
term average growth rate for the market.

At 31 March 2019, since trading and retailing of jewellery segment
suffered continuous losses and based on the value in use
calculation, the recoverable amount of this CGU is minimal and
less than the carrying amount of this CGU. An impairment loss of
approximately HK$2,914,000 was recognised.

At 31 March 2018, as the recoverable amount was calculated
to be exceed the carrying amount of CGU to which goodwill is
allocated, no impairment loss was recognised.

NE=ZA=1T—HILEFE

21.

& ()
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RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H BARFE
ReELBEN A RESRERD KE
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RIBEERE -

E/\\:%@—)\izﬂ =+—H REZH
BEFE ZBELAEUZAIKREE
BERZBRCELSBUZEEE O #
RIBE 518 S #)413,00078 T °

EERERRAA
WHREEL BN Z RO SERER
ANEPZEREEFESTAEE 285

REEEEHEZDFHREMBEEZ

PFIRBIRER - MBAIIREL10% (=

T—)\F : 11%) RRB R H5 5 S KR

BEEMESELSUSERR RS -

RIEE R 2H SRR T ERNEETE
EHEcRAENMNEERFP 2R AET
fEh -BELFH RERERAEE
3% (ZZT—N\F : 3%)WFEREHE -
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

21. GOODWILL (Continued) 21. A& (#|)

Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill
(Continued)

Wing Tai Industrial Holdings Limited

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
the value in use calculation under the income approach, which
includes the discounted cash flows sourced from the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year period,
and the pre-tax discount rate of approximately 12% (2018: 11%)
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGU.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on
the expected revenue from existing and potential customers
throughout the budget period. The cash flows beyond that five-
year period have been extrapolated using a steady 3% (2018: 3%)
per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long
term average growth rate for the market.

As the recoverable amount was calculated to be in excess of
the carrying amount of CGU to which goodwill is allocated, no
impairment loss was recognised for both years.

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for the

CGUs are as follows:

Budgeted market share The values as signed to the
assumption reflect past experience,
except for the growth factor, which
is consistent with the directors’
estimation of the revenue from
existing and potential customers.
The directors believe that planned
revenue growth per year for the
next five years is reasonably
achievable.

Budgeted gross margin Average gross margins achieved
in the period immediately before
the budget period, increased for
expected efficiency improvements.
This reflects past experience.
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ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill
(Continued)

As impairment loss was recognised in respect of the goodwill
allocated to Mastery Jewellery Co. Limited and Sino Yao Shang
Technology Limited at 31 March 2019 and 2018 respectively, any
adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation of the
recoverable amount would result in further impairment losses.

Except as described above, the directors believe that any
reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount
of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

21.

g ()
BEBBZRSELEMZRENR
(#)

RZE-—NFRZZE-—N\F=ZA=1+—
B BoBsREEEHREERAE R
PR ERAR ZEEERESE
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BEBEE— PRERIS -

BERESN EERB HAKEEE
ZEIBRRMEMNAEATLLYTEE
Re LB FEERELTRELE -

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22 NEtE NEl 2

2019 2018
—E-NF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T

Unlisted investments: FELETIRE
Investment at cost BT ER 2 R E 10,000 2,068
Share of post-acquisition losses FEAE W B 12 &5 18 (117) (710)
Reclassified as held for sale (note 30) BN BERBELRE (#1:730) - (1,538)
Exchange alignment M 5, 58 B - 180
9,883 -
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ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s associates is as follows:

Country of incorporation/

22 REE N T 2 HEH ()
AEEBL AT BT -

Proportion of
ownership interests

Name principal place of business held by the Group Principal activities
rEEREZ
28 AMRIER TEEELH BEEREERLLH TEXB
2019 2018
—E-NE —T-)N\F
ERAE (ORI EE Shenzhen, the PRC 20% 20%  Trading activities in gold
BRRAF (“EZAEE) (note) industry
ZRARCRIDBEERERLRA  RERY RESEXZEELY
(TZERMED (Hi2)
Darling Paganini Holding Limited  The Republic of Seychelles/ 40% - Manufacturing and trading
(“Darling Paganini”) Hong Kong of luxury products
Darling Paganini Holding Limited 2/ B £ B /&8 HEREEESm

([Darling Paganini])

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company acquired
40% equity interest in Darling Paganini and its subsidiaries with the
amount of HK$10,000,000.

Note: On 19 March 2018, ZE# M # A ORI) ER AR (‘ZEF ") as
vendors entered into conditional sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party for the disposal of the 20% equity interests in
# % # #E at a consideration of RMB1,320,000. The completion of the
disposal is conditional upon transfer of consideration and registration
of the amendment at National Enterprise Credit Information at the
State Administration for Industry & Commerce of the PRC. Since the
conditions were not fulfilled at 31 March 2018 but were considered as
highly probable to be fulfiled, the 20% equity interests in = % &€ were
reclassified as asset held for sale and date of reclassification would be the
date of signing of the conditional sale and purchase agreement which is
19 March 2018 (the “Reclassification Date”).

All of associates, except for those classified as asset held for sale,
are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements.
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HE_Z—hhF=ZA=+—HIEFE
7N A &) Uy B8 Darling Paganini & £ B & 2~
7] 40% fx#E - & %8 7% 10,000,000 4 7T ©

ik : R—ZE—-N\E=A+hB EEYI#E
BRI ERAR(TEZERT]) ((EAE
J5) BB = AR B IR EE R
LA &S R E X HIBE 2 20% B AN HE S - R
BAaARK1,320,0007T - HEBFEZ
REMATEBEBRIFERBERCEE
FAEEEREFE  HETK BHRIE
HERR=ZZE—NF=A=+—HE=
B8R AR E A AL ERK - RN ZE X
BEZ20%RAEREEF DB AZEL
EEE MEF >BE2AHAEREEK
GhEEHZEcBH - N\FE=4
+hB(EFLEBH]) -

BOBERRELEEEESN  MAHEZ
NENE AR ARG SR M HRARAR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B IS SRR MIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

NE=ZA=1T—HILEFE

Summarised financial information of an material

associate

Summarised financial information in respect of Darling Paganini,

the Group’s material associate, is set out below. The summarised

financial information represents amounts shown in the associate’s

consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with

HKFRSs.

22 REE N T 2 HEH ()

ERBEQR M BENBE

ERAAEBMNENBER TDarImg
PaganiniZ B 7% & B Z & F AT »
ERNRZHMEERBERNRBERS %

BRELEANRR B =Z

KPR TR -

NCIESS= NP

2019
—E-NEF
HK$’000
FTH T

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

FRBEE

8,021

3,609

3,692

1,968

For the period
from the

date of
acquisition to
31 March 2019
B W iE B 58
#_E E p -
LIFHAE
HK$’000
THExT

Revenue

Loss for the period

HIRE 1R

497

(292)

2019 F 3 | BAEEEREEFR AT

183



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22 REEE N Rl 2R ()
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the Bt v B RS B R E R AR A B RS R R
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the TERH PR & A Al < BREEA R

consolidated financial statements:

2019
—E-AE
HK$’000
FET
Net assets of the associate tE AR BERE 5,970
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in $ SEREEE QR Z B RS
the associate 40%
Goodwill = 7,495
Carrying amounts of the Group’s interest in REB R E AR RAE
the associate 9,883
Aggregate information of an associate that are not WHMBBIERZHEE QAR ZEHER
individually material
2019 2018
—ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Revenue Yoz - 3,920
Loss and total comprehensive loss HAEEREZHEEESE
for the period - (8,548)
Share of loss of an associate for the period Hf (A FE {5 — & Bt 2 2 T B3 48 - (710)
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ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

23. INVENTORIES 23. F&
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT THET
Raw material [FR - 49
Finished goods X 10,898 14,902
10,898 14,951

Inventories are expected to be recovered within one year.

FEREHAIR—FRKE -

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 24. Y EE
Radix
millettiae
Longan speciosae Total
BERR W= et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TABT FETT TABT
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+tFWNUA—H 88 611 699
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) H &M B A 7 (f1:£40) (92) (636) (728)
Exchange alignment b 5, 58 B 4 25 29
At 31 March 2018, R=-E—N\FE=HA=+—8"
at 1 April 2018 and R-ZE—-NFNAE—BK
at 31 March 2019 R-E-—hhFE=HA=+—H - - -

Longan and radix millettiae speciosae were stated at fair value
less costs to sell which was determined by the management’s
best estimates and judgement with reference to the recent market
prices of longan and radix millettiae speciosae in similar locations
and conditions.

ERRLESBDEAFEEBRDEKA
SRR DEREKL2EMEME KRR
B2 R M LER T M BRI
REMBT RABTMERE
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

25. LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. ER R EWIRR

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT THET
Loan receivables FEWE K 2,327 26,391
Trade receivables JiE Uk BR 7k 18,098 20,565
Less: allowance for expected credit loss  J& : TEH{Z B E5 BB E (386) -
20,039 46,956

Less: loan receivables classified as B DEARIERBED K
non-current portion U E (2,259) =
17,780 46,956

At 31 March 2019, included in the Group’s loan and trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$1,123,000 which are past due more than
90 days at the reporting period and are not considered as credit
impaired due to good track record of the debtors with the Group.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Loan receivables

Loan receivables represent a personal loan which is secured by
equity shares of a private company incorporated in Hong Kong
and carry interest at 8% per annum (2018: two personal loans
and one corporate loan which are unsecured and carry interest
ranging from 10% to 24% per annum). The loan receivables
have lending term of two years (2018: six months to one year).
The aggregate principal amount outstanding at the end of the
reporting period is HK$2,300,000 (2018: HK$25,360,000) and
the carrying amounts shown above includes interest receivable of
approximately HK$68,000 (2018 HK$1,031,000). During the year
ended 31 March 2019, impairment loss on loan receivables of
HK$41,000 was recognised. Details of impairment assessment of
loan receivables for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
note 47.
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R-ZZE-NE=R=+—H8 xEEZ
ERNEUREREHRBRERERTERSLD
1,123,000 78 7T 2 FE W BR 3K - 1 7% FE& W B
FR|mEBA0 R A FEREAEH
MRIFEAN MR REERE A&
B ERL xS ERT A TR -

R &=
ERERFIEUARBBEMA LA R
Az IREERRRIZ8% FF X B 2
—HEAER (ZZE—N\F: B8EKFK
Z10% £ 24% F F 5 B 2 B ;M 1H
BAERR—BEEER - BRERK
ZEFBAME (ZE—N\F : ~EA
E—F) RBEMR MAREEZA
% 4818 A&2,300,0008 7T (= F — J\F :
25,360,000/8 T) + LR (B B IEE
W B 468,0008 7t (=ZF — )\ F -
1,031,000 7T) c BE_T—NLFE=H
=+t BUIEE BERAEKERZR
BEEEAMN000BT BHE_ZT—NLF
“A=+—RHLFE BRERZRE
S EE M5 47 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

25. LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. ER R EWERR (@)

Loan receivables (Continued)

The loan receivables has credit term of 730 days (2018: average
credit terms of 147 days) (since the loans were granted). None of
the loan receivables are past due at the end of the reporting period
(2018: HK$5,237,000 (overdue within 30 days since maturity
date)).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the directors had reviewed
the recoverability of the loan receivables and the Group has not
provided impairment loss on these loan receivables. In determining
the recoverability of the loan receivables, the directors monitored
the financial background and creditworthiness of those debtors on
an ongoing basis during the reporting period.

The loan receivables outstanding at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are
denominated in HK$.

Trade receivables

The Group’s trade receivables, which generally have credit terms
of one month to six months pursuant to the relevant contracts, are
recognised based on goods sold and carried at the original invoice
amount, and an estimate of impairment of trade receivables is
made and deducted when collection of the full amount is no
longer probable. Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest
bearing. During the year ended 31 March 2019, an allowance for
credit losses on trade receivables of HK$654,000 was recognised.
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the year
ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 47.

EWER (E)

EWRER 2 FHEEHRR/70R (ZF
—NF:FHEEHR147H) (AEY
ERZRREF) - BMERKERRRE
HIRBE @ (ZZF — N\ : 5,237,0007%
7 (BEH R R @E30AR)) -

BE_Z-N\F=RA=+—HILFE"
EECREREER A EKREERA
5 B30 4 5 5% 5 R E SRETH IR (ERUE S
BERE RETRRERNAIKEIRZE
B EERBEHRAREERZEED
AZHBEERREESR -

RZB-NFRZZB-N\F=A=1+—
B WABERERERTIABITE -

P& W BR X

BIBEBBEEL  NEBZERER—K
HE—BAZENEAZEER - BKER
RERNERBEETUBRRLIRRERE
S EEFBR - I AE AT BE T BE 2 B B B 1E
HPE U AR FORE G & - I T DA 0 BR o f&8
WERBERERTHE -REBEEZT
—NWF=ZA=+—RBLEE BREX
ZEE BB 654,000 TE R -
HE - ZT—hhF=A=+—RHIEFE
FE UK AR 32 BB S S B E B 7 47 o
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n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

25. LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Loan and trade receivables balances at 31 March 2019 contributed
by the largest customer of the Group was approximately 19%
(2018: approximately 24%) which represents a hospital customer
with credit term of three months (2018: individual borrower from
lending business with credit term of 6 months). Loan and trade
receivables balances at 31 March 2019 contributed by the five
largest customers of the Group was approximately 50% (2018:
approximately 71%) which include individual and corporate
borrower from lending business, hospital and pharmaceutical
companies customers. The credit term ranges from 3 months to
2 year (2018: 3 months to 1 year). Concentration of credit risk is
managed by control over credit term over the individual customers.

An aging analysis of the Group’s loan receivables, before allowance

NEFE=ZA=1T—HILFE

25. ER R EWERR (@)

FEW R (&)

REBHRAEPEER= ﬁﬁ A
=t+—BZEZ &FWE BB
19% (ZZF — \4F : 4924%) ~ED1§EE§
AB=HAMNEBREE (ZZT—N\F : KH

BEEXKAEEHRNER Z@ERIER
AN REBRAEFEER TN
F=A=t—BZERKEWERRE
KIR50% (B —N\F: 8H71%) - a%
KEEEXEB2EANREREERA &
ERBERRERPZHRE - FEEHNT
—BRAEMFE(ZE—N\F: = @RAE—
F) - Kﬁlﬁﬂm HEMNEFZEE
HEBREREER

AEBRKER (FREHEERER

for expected credit loss, based on the loan drawdown date, is as B2 RIZERIRE A BT E) 2 BRER
follows: SR

2019 2018

—E-hE —T—)\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FHIT

Within 3 months =EAR 45 11,185

4 to 6 months EpaEPE 2,323 -

7 to 12 months +tE=+ @A - 11,461

Over 1 year il —F - 3,745

2,368 26,391
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

25. LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. ER R EWERR (@)

Trade receivables (Continued)

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, before
allowance for expected credit losses, based on the invoice date is
as follows:

FEW R (&)
AEBRKER(MKREREESER
BABERBERERN) 2RKRS
W -

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHT

Within 3 months =EAA 9,998 15,797
4 to 6 months P& 7 1E A 3,690 2,819
7 to 12 months +t=+—{@AR 3,287 1,938
Over 1 year iBim—F 1,123 11
18,098 20,565

Comparative information under HKAS 39

An aging analysis of the Group’s loan and trade receivables,
including those which are past due and are not impaired is as
follows:

B GFTERIEI9FHIE THLEER K
SEERMEUER (BREBHER
BEE SRR EWRERR) Z Rk AT an T

2018
—FT-N\F
HK$’000
TABTT

I RS E
gEaf—==EA

Neither past due nor impaired
1 to 83 months past due

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to
independent customers that have a good repayment record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors are of the
opinion that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

41,433
5,523

46,956

B 78 H{B AR R0 (B A B R AR K T SRR £R (8
BRHBFRCENBIEFLER - 1RIE
PERE EERR ARRFR/HRZ
EEEXYEERNED BNHRATE
2l E - MBEHZEAERIERERE -
ARG B Eh % F A RIS A AR
HEMBTHEEEG
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

25. LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. BRI R EWERR (8
Trade receivables (Continued) FEUBR X (48)
Comparative information under HKAS 39 (Continued) EB G EDFERE N RER
(%)
The movements in the Group’s movement in the allowance for AEBEYERF 2 RIRBHE 2 EB0T

doubtful debts of trade receivables are as follows:

2018

—-N\%

HK$'000

T

As at 1 April RMEMA—H 1,397
Impairment losses recognised EERBEEE 508

Written off 1 55 (535)

Disposal of subsidiaries & KB R Al (1,397)
Exchange alignment M 5, 58 B 27
At 31 March R=A=+—H -
During the year ended 31 March 2018, balance of approximately REBE-_ZE—\F=A=1+—HHIEFE -
HK$508,000 has been impaired. Recovery actions have been 4 #4247508,000 8 TERE - AR A B
taken to collect the outstanding balance but all attempts were in REGEFTITE AU B R EELR: - AT
vain. The directors considered the amount irrecoverable and hence B R A ENR EEREZNBEE
impairment was made to this individual receivable. Weal - B bt 3 5 MR Bl FE UL R IBE LRI (E o
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ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

26. ENRE - FI S RHEMERR

RECEIVABLES b1 |
2019 2018
—E-nF —T-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Prepayments TE{F 5K IE 4,198 3,107
Deposits and other receivables 5] & & E i fE Uk 5k I8 7,335 3,842
11,533 6,949
Less: Current portion B mENE D (11,533) (6,793)
Non-current portion JERBE D - 156

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other

receivables for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note

47.

27. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

Detail of amount due from an associate is as follows:

ERBE_Z-NF=ZA=t—BL*F
[ B R] & Ko E A 8 U R TR (B RF A BV A

BEF I FEAT -

27. Bl —MBE AR, HEER

DA ZRE

el —HBE R B 2 RIBFHBAT ¢

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year

FRARMEE 2019

RS MEA —E-hEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET THET

Darling Paganini Darling Paganini 978 978
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

27. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/ 27. B —BEBE LT REER
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY (Continued) N EZFRIE (E)
Detail of amount due from ultimate holding company is as follows: JEU B BRI A R Z BB AT ¢
Maximum
amount

outstanding
during the year

FRAREE 2019

BReMIE —ZE-hF

HK$ 000 HK$’000

FATT FHEx

Brilliant Chapter Brilliant Chapter 8 8

The amount due from an associate/ultimate holding company is FEUREE & N R BIRIER A RN RIE B
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. IR BB RERERERE -

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 28. R A EESIRREIERKRE

PROFIT OR LOSS BreMEE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTER FHTT
Unlisted investment: FELEHEE :
— Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong ~ — A& B 2 IE E iz & 5 15,000 =

RZZFE—NFNUA—BERBBBYB®R
HEAFEORE AEBEE I LW
7K 3% % /A BR {8 /& 15,000,000 7% 7T B 7]
HEESMEEEN D HEERATER
FIEREERREERE2eMEE (i
20) °

Upon application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the Group has
reclassified unlisted equity securities from AFS financial assets with
carrying amount of HK$15,000,000 to financial assets at FVTPL
(note 20).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

28.

29.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are stated at fair value.

The above unlisted equity securities were revalued on 31 March
2019 by IVL, a firm of independent qualified valuers, not connected
to the Group who have appropriate qualifications and recent
experience in the valuation of similar equity securities. Details
of the fair value measurements are disclosed in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements.

28.

BRAFEEIRRERSRE
Brees@MEE @

RBERR  BAFEEINKRLREER
FERE,CREERATFEERIE-

R TRAEENR T -NE=A
- AHmEAEETEEEAEEA
A RPN B A 25 38 5 ST A
B BTAEREETRETEERA
AEH T - EHATFEESE S S
WA B SRR M ST 46 I -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BERBEEEY
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T TET
Cash and bank balances H& MIBITHER 59,573 10,341

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$930,000
(2018: HK$4,410,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under the PRC Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Bank balances earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group performed
impairment assessment on bank balances and concluded that the
probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant
and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

RBEBFRAARBHEZRSRES
ZEWH 5930,0008 7T (Z T — N\ F -
4,410,000 7t) - AR A B B &%
AEME - EREPE 2 IMNEE IR K
Bl ARKERE SERNSESEEHEE
AEEREZABEEETIER S
BZRITBAREHIBSEMEY -

RITERBBESARTERNEREEL
FBM KGR - RITERTF R AL
BIARGEERHEEERFZRIT

BE_ZTZ-hhF=A=+—HILFE"
AREBHRITERETREN G LB
HaEm - AEFRITHOEOR RPN
WA REEERRE -
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n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

30. NON-CURRENT ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements,
interest in an associate was reclassified as held for sale upon
signing conditional sale and purchase agreement on 19 March
2018. As at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements, the conditions as disclosed in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements are not fulfilled and the disposal
of associate is not yet completed.

NEFE=ZA=1T—HILFE

TERABFEHEZFRBDEE

MEE M EHRRMF22HE R _-F
—NE=ZATNBREEHREEEHZH
B RBERRZEaNENNELR
EHE - RELEBRTHRAMBRERAEY
AR e B IS R I R 22 P B8 2 IR 1 R &
ZRK - BRRTERHEEBE AR -

2019 2018

—E-NE —ZE-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET T

Interest in an associate R R R 2 s 1,443 1,538

The interest in an associate classified as held for sale is stated at
the lower of carrying amount at the date of reclassification as asset
held for sale and fair value less costs to sell. In the opinion of the
directors, the disposal of the associate was not completed within
twelve months of the date of reclassification as asset held for sale
due to delay in fulfilling the condition precedents caused by events
and circumstances beyond the Group’s control and both the
Group and the purchaser remain committed to sell or purchase
the asset.
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ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

31. TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the
invoice date is as follows:

31. ERERR

AEERBHEZEAHREMERZERD
T

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FBT

Within 3 months =EAAR 3,279 6,745
4 to 6 months ESWN(EPS 980 12,345
7 to 12 months tE=+ =R 4,435 184
Over 1 year iR —F 269 -
8,963 19,274

The credit periods granted by suppliers range from 30 to 180
days.

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

HEFKTHEESHNTI0E180H °

32. Htt BN RIA KBS FIR

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT T T

Other payables H b &~ 3B 2,704 1,760
Accruals et TR 1,330 2,687
Deposits received (note) BUWETE (#17E) 1,543 -
Receipt in advances FEUR SRR - 832
5,577 5,279

Note:

Deposits received at 31 March 2019 represent refundable deposit of
RMB1,320,000 pursuant to the conditional sale and purchase agreement with
an independent third party for the disposal of the 20% equity interests in = /% 1
BE.

Upon application of HKFRS 15 at 1 April 2018, receipt in advances
of approximately HK$832,000, related to sale of jewellery and
gold and sale of pharmaceutical and healthcare product, were
reclassified to contract liabilities.

W

RZZE—NFE=ZA=+—BZEBEKTE&ERE
HBYFE =B EEXNE0%RIEZS
B EEHBRENARET & AR 1,820,0007T °

ZE-)\FNA—BEABBMER
HBFE155 % BFHUKERESHE
DA R B8 %2 I (R R EE SR SH B MU TR U SR TE 40
832,000 BTLEEF N EEEHNBEET °

i
A
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B IS ERaRMIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

NEFE=ZA=1T—HILFE

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 33. EHNEE
31/03/2019 01/04/2018*
—E—hE —T—N\F
=A=+—A IMA—HB*
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHTT
Advance from customers BERI® 348 832

*

of HKFRS 15.

For the contract liabilities at 1 April 2018, the entire balances are
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Group classifies these contract liabilities as current because
the Group expects these balances to be settled in its normal
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end of the

reporting period.

34. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Amount due to a non-executive director is unsecured, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand.

The amount in this column are after the adjustments from the application

34.

* AREBIEERBBEYBHEERE15
fEHHEE -

R-ZTE-N\FHA-HHNENAEMS -

EHMERRBE_FT-NF=ZA=1—
B FERR RN

BN —RFBITES2HE

N —R2EHTETZIRARERA
PEFBERBEREREEE -

35. BORROWINGS 35, £

2019 2018
—E—hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T IT

Secured loan repayable within one year JER—FANEZEZEEBER 5,262
Unsecured loan repayable within one year R —F R{EE 2 EIKFE R 2,689 1,932
7,951 1,932
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

35.

36.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The secured loan is provided by bank, secured by investment
property and bears interest at 7.5% per annum.

The unsecured loan is provided by non-bank financial institution
which is independent third party and bears interest at 6% per
annum for both years.

All borrowings are denominated in RMB.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities are related to the followings:

35.

36.

& & (&)

BHRMERBRITRE  AREMEE
R RFNERTE%FE -

BEEAMERTHIERTEREE (BB
MFHEZTT) R MEFEHAFENE%

A e
FIBEEEAARKEETE -
EEBEEE
EETIE B EHE T Z B
Unremitted
earnings
RITEZERR

HK$’000
TABTT

At 1 April 2017
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)

At 31 March 2018, at 1 April 2018 and
at 31 March 2019

The Group determined that it was not probable that the tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences of the Group could
be utilised in foreseeable future. At 31 March 2019, the estimated
unused tax losses not recognised amounted to approximately
HK$27,197,000 (2018: HK$11,036,000). The unrecognised tax
losses could be carried forward indefinitely except for the tax
losses arising in the PRC to approximately of HK$12,577,000
(2018: HK$9,694,000) that will expire in one to five for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

RZE—tFMHAH—H
HE B A R (A2 40)

169
(169)

R-ZB-—NE=ZA=+—H R=ZFB-—NEF
WE—HER=ZE—NE=A=+—H -

AEBETZSHEESEREMA] T
WE R DAL R RAS2REA o
R-ZT—NE=ZA=+—8 RAEER
Z b ET AR E AR I8 B 18 4 & 27,197,000
B0 (=ZZF — J\F : 11,036,000/ 7T) °
R R B EE A 2 50T B 15 49 12,577,000 78
T (ZZ— \4F : 9,694,000 7T) 4h » &
BRNBEENERAE  mMzSEE
B —ERFER - AEERRERD

il
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ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. B
Number of
shares Amount
vl S 4E| kx|
000 HK$’000
T FHT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary Shares: LRI
At 1 April 2017, at 31 March 2018, A—E—+FPWA—H -
at 1 April 2018 and at 31 March 2019 —E2-NF=A=+—H
- HK$0.10 each —ET-N\FmMA—HK
—E-hhF=ZA=+—H
—EREE010% T 2,500,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR
At 1 April 2017 R-ZF—+tFWA—H 1,208,264 120,826
Exercise of share options (note a) 1T HE (it a) 2,700 270
At 31 March 2018 and at 1 April 2018 R-ZE—NF=A=+—HE
—E-N\FMA—H 1,210,964 121,096
Placement of new shares (note b) FREFAR (A7 b) 240,000 24,000
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE—hE=A=+—H 1,450,964 145,096
Notes: B &E -
(@ On 20 June 2017, share options were exercised to subscribe for @ RZZE—tFAA=-1+H BREDE

2,700,000 shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company at an exercise price
of HK$0.165 per share.

(b)  On 2 May 2018, 240,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of
the Company were issued under the general mandate at the price of
HK$0.27 per share for cash to not less than six placees who and whose
beneficial owners shall be independent third parties (the “Placing”). The
net proceeds from the Placing was approximately HK$63,711,000 was
intended to be used for providing the whole fund for the expansion of the
Group’s trading and jewellery business.
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111 RIRITEESR0166B TRE
2,700,000 B AR 7] F AR A E0.10 78 7T /O %

e

R—_ZE—NFEFRA-_B AAFRZ
240,000,000 f% & i EI1E 0.1 78 7T 2 @ %
BERE-—MEEZRER2THE T ZEHE
BT ARLRANBEREA (MZEARA
AEREEREBALRBLE=7) A
MR E ([EE]) - BEEMEHIEFELN
63,711,000/ 7L * g2 HME S ARNIERE
KEBZBIRHREER -
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n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z& —Z—

38.

BRI I ERRIEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

2011 scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 5 August
2011 (the “2011 AGM”), an ordinary resolution was passed by the
shareholders to approve and adopt a share option scheme (the
“2011 Scheme”).

The 2011 Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 10 August 2011. Eligible participants of the
2011 Scheme include all directors and employees of the Group,
suppliers, customers, consultants who provided services to the
Group, shareholders of the subsidiaries of the Group and joint
venture partners. Under the 2011 Scheme, the directors may, at
their sole discretion, grant to any eligible participants options to
subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company at the highest of (i)
the closing price of shares of the Company on GEM as stated in
the Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of the offer of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares of the Company
on GEM as stated in the Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer
of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s share. The
offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21 days from
the date of the offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an option. The exercise period
of the options granted is determinable by the directors, which
commences after the date of offer with a certain vesting period
and ends in any event not later than 10 years from the respective
date when the share options are granted, subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof.

NE=ZA=1T—HILEFE

38. B AR E

—g——Fita
EARAR-E——F\ABARGZ
REBFAR (=2 —FRRTBEA
g) b BREAB-EEBRAEE M
BRI — BB B (=2 —— &
stall) -

—ET——FFHEBE=FE——F\AT+AH
FIgER BE+F - —F——F:t 2
CEERBEEARBRASEMBEESR
BE -HEN BF AASEREMHR
B2ER AEBERBAT ZRRRE
BREBME -RE_T——F:& =
EA 2 REMERERERNE ERS ,\%
X A LA}R()EA%?U&HjEHH
RFTE EHRER EMSEGEM Z AR
D URTH (B ¢ () BEZ LR H EHHHIJﬂ
{5 BEXMEEmER LAAFIAA
AR D TEGEM 2 FH T E ¢ K (i) AR
AROEEZER (UREEALE) RE
ARalzE@BR - -BEAREEREZLN
ZHRAZHN BB+ —HR &
MEBELERERAINREBARE NS
TR LEREZITFEHRAESE
EUTREYNBHERG TEETH
BH - REFMIBRTRERENKLE
&4z =B A MR +FER - A
AR RAIAR | Z G ST ARBR ©
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

2011 scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the 2011 Scheme is an
amount equivalent to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
as at the date of the 2011 AGM.

The maximum number of shares to be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
relevant class of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders. The 2011
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for holding of
options or any performance target before exercise of options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

38. BT E (@)

B —— A ()

BT RERIR = B —— A B 2 B
BB TESRBT 2R
EBAREREE =T — FRIEF
ARBTABMIARAEETRG 2
10% °

RITERE-T——FHERALEY
] 25 4 0 MR 3181 5 98 12 R PR T 0
2 B R (T8 7 B AR 1 T R B
REAZBRABRSHA  AXTERA
THERT2ARRAEBENRS 2
30% °

PER+ — (8 A BB &% FEREAZ
BREMS ZBROEE EREARQT
RERELEBAER - TEBEARRFNE
MEEMEEITRNZ1% - BRTEERE
KBLIERTES 2EREMBREARD
A IR AN 2 0.1% & 42 8 & %1 5,000,000 /5
T MBBEERARARE]E =T
—— FHETERETABEBREY
AR S A TR R R AT 2 (AT RIBEE -

BT NE TR ABBURE S i
RRELBREZER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding during the year:

38. BT E (@)

FRRERITEBRENT

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-)N\F

Number of Number of

Weighted share Weighted share

average issuable average issuable

exercise under the exercise under the

price options price options

RIERE R E RIRRE R

e T2 I AT

FHTE iy = FHTEE Rin A

HK$ per share 000 HK$ per share ‘000

B (8R) T’ B (Zk) T

At 1 April REHA—H - - 0.165 2,700
Granted during the year FREEHS

- Directors —&5% 0.59 43,400 - -

— Employees = 0.59 17,900 = =

~ Consultants — B 0.42 52,800 - -
Exercised during the year: FNEITEE :

~ Other participants —Htp2RE - - 0.165 (2,700)

At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.51 114,100 - -

Exercisable at 31 March R=A=+—Br1& 114,100 -

(@)

On 27 June 2018, the Group granted an aggregate number
of 78,600,000 shares to certain eligible participants who
are directors, employees and consultants of the Group. The
holders are entitled to exercise share option at HK$0.59 per
share.

41,400,000 options granted to the executive directors were
vested in full on 27 June 2018 and are exercisable during
the period from 27 June 2019 to 27 June 2028 (both dates
inclusive).

@ RZE-—N\FAZ++tH ' &
ANRAIMETEER2HE (BE
SEEE EENMER) REAH
78,600,000 7 % Ix # - 5 B A Al #%
FA%0.59 BT TE RS ARAE o

BT HITE F 241,400,000 17 BE
BEER=ZZE—-—N\FEFAA=Z+t
BRYEE YR_T—NLFXA
—t+ttEtBEE_E-_N\FAA=-Tt
HILEE (BEEREMB) A TITE ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(@

(Continued)

1,200,000 options granted to the non-executive director and
the independent non-executive directors were vested in full
on 27 June 2018 and are exercisable during the period from
27 June 2019 to 27 June 2028 (both dates inclusive).

The remaining 36,000,000 will be vested in tranches from 27
June 2018 onwards and are exercisable during the period
from 27 June 2019 to 27 June 2028 (both dates inclusive). In
addition to the service condition, there are vesting conditions
related to achievement of certain performance targets as set
out in the respective offer letters.

On 18 December 2018, the Group granted an aggregate
number of 35,500,000 shares to certain eligible participants
who are directors and consultants of the Group. The holders
are entitled to exercise share option at HK$0.33 per share.

800,000 Options granted to the non-executive director and
the independent non-executive directors were vested in full
on 18 December 2018 and are exercisable during the period
from 18 December 2019 to 18 December 2028 (both dates
inclusive).

The remaining 34,700,000 will be vested in tranches from
18 December 2018 onwards and are exercisable during
the period from 18 December 2019 to 18 December 2028
(both dates inclusive). In addition to the service condition,
there are vesting conditions related to achievement of certain
performance targets as set out in the respective offer letters.
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38. BT E (@)

(@

(#&)

BTHATEERBIFNTES
21,200,000 R ER =T — N\
FRNAZ+LHEHEBEREE  TR=
E—NFANAZtEEE=ZT N
FRAAZt+ERILLHRE(BEERE
M H) A TATEE o

# T 36,000,000 15 BE R EH N ==
—N\FERAAZT BB ZHES
TR —FE—NFNA_+EtBZEZ
E-_NFEANAAZ+EHIEEHE (B
FEEMA) Al FITE - BRRB 1K
fHoN BRERE TEXRBENGE
BIEHENSELK -

R-ZE—N\F+-_A+/\B K&
EmETaER2ESE (BAEE
EERER) &H 4 #£85,500,000
MBI - 358 A E S 0.33/%5
TCATIE R AR HE -

BTATEERBIUFNTES
2.800,00017 EE IR R = F — J\F
+ZA+/\BEBEEE TR=
Z-NFT_ATNBE=ZZ=N
F+-A+NBLLEHE(BEER
M H) Al TITE o

£ T 34,700,00017 IR E K ==
—N\FE+—A+t\BRDZHEE -
YR_FE-—NF+_A+N\BEZ
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 38. B EFT S (|

No share options were exercised or lapsed during the year ended
31 March 2019.

No share options were granted or lapsed during the year ended 31
March 2018.

At 31 March 2019, the Company’s outstanding share options
of 114,100,000 options (2018: nil) under the 2011 Scheme,
representing approximately 7.86%, in the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

As the fair value of services received could not be estimated
reliably by the Company, the fair value of services received in
return for share options granted is measured by reference to the
fair value of share options granted.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, options were granted on
27 June 2018 and 18 December 2018. The share-based payment
expenses recognised in respect of share options granted on those
dates are approximately HK$24,446,000 and HK$2,770,000
respectively.

BHE_ZT-INhF=A=+—HILFE "
WEITERBAHE - B EAB AR -

BHE_ZT-N\F=A=+—HILFE
W B B - BRI R -

RZE—NAFE=ZA=+—H XRARRE
BT ——F5almmRITEERER
114,100,0001p (ZZ—/\F : &) ' (A&
ARAINEBEBEITRNA7.86 % °

PP 28 R D 55 3 MR AR A 2
AFBE - #fE 58 A AR 45 AT
MR T 2 2 F (B85 % 5 5 10 0 IR 4R
Z AFEEE -

HE_ZTZ-—hF=ZA=1+—HLEFE "
DAR_FE-—NFAA+EAER=ZE
—NF+ZA+NBREERE - ZER
ZEHBEL 2 ERERER 2 ARMD A
B 2SR FA 5 B4 524,446,000 7
7T }%.2,770,000 % 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

These fair values were calculated using the binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

NEZRA=1T—HLEFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

38. BT E (@)

ZERNFEEER _B\ENGFE - HZx
BB ABEMT

18 December 27 June

2018 2018

—N\F —E—N\F

+=—A+N\HB K~NA=-t++tH

Share price at grant date (HK$) R B BRI E (B7T) 0.32 0.56
Exercise price (HK$) 171 E &) 0.33 0.59
Expected volatility (%) TE HA R 1@ (%) 75.20% 75.57%
Expected life (years) TEHRA SH () 10 years 10 years
104 104

Risk-free rate (%) 42 [ gz 1) 2 (%) 2.106% 2.297%
Expected dividend yield (%) T8 HA i B M 2% (%) 0% 0%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$27,216,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil) in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

The binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019

8 30350 B T B P AN R AR 0 £ 4 I
LR IR TR E - AR AT S K
BHEREEEZ REMGH  HATE
B TERHARTAZERENYE
FLABE -

AEERRBBE_T-NF=ZA=1—
HIEFEABARRMKHEREZE
7 X #127,216,0008 7© (ZF — N\ & :
&) -

“IHRATI RS B s AT EE
AEBREAFEERMAZHNRERER
E%%%%Za—ﬁﬁﬁ ° H%HxT%EZFTE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

30. ARAMBRRARRREE

RESERVE OF THE COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT TE T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B R 3,162 -
Interests in subsidiaries RB AT Z S - _
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B B A Bl 2 ZkI8 18,660 67,438
Total non-current assets IR E ELRRE 21,822 67,438
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TETRUE « 5] M E A e FRIE
receivables 2,941 529
Amount due from an associate JEUR —RIB & A |) 2 3KI8 978 =
Amount due from ultimate holding JE W S AR A Bl 2 5RIB
company 8 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFED 57,562 201
Total current assets B EEMLE 61,489 730
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEAE
Other payables and accruals H b & 5 508 K 5T FE 767 2,399
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) #REBEE (&) FE 60,722 (1,669)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERRBEE
LIABILITIES 82,544 65,769
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBEME
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{SB B A B] 2 718 830 2,714
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEEE 830 2,714
NET ASSETS EEFE 81,714 63,055
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

39. AR FMBRRKRKREE @

2019 2018
—E-NF —ET—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET

EQUITY g

Share capital &S 145,096 121,096
Reserves i (63,382) (58,041)
TOTAL EQUITY BB 81,714 63,055

Signed on its behalf of the Board by: HATALIRREZSEE

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
REFERE
Chairman
*+E

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2019
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Director
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

39. AR FMBRRKRKREE @

Movements of the company’s reserve AARIREZ2EE
Share Share
premium option Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
BREEER BRERAE 2T &8 #et
(note a) (note c)
(Hizza) (Kiazc)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHEIT FHBIT
At 1 April 2017 R-ZE—t&FMA—H 479,598 316 (534,708) (54,794)
Loss and total comprehensive & A& 18 & & H &5 18
loss for the year ok - - (3,422 (3,422
Exercise of share options Gdi- e 491 (316) = 175
At 31 March 2018 and R-ZE—N\F
at 1 April 2018 ZA=+—HER
—\FmLA—H 480,089 - (538,130) (58,041)
Loss and total comprehensive & REE N & EE B
loss for the year R - - (72,268) (72,268)
Recognition of share-based ~ #EFRLARL (D A EHE 2
payment (NN 27,216 - 27,216
Placement of new shares Bt & 37 A% 40,800 - - 40,800
Share issuing expense BmETHRX (1,089 - - (1,089)
At 31 March 2019 R=ZF— me
=R=+-— 519,800 27,216 (610,398) (63,382)

Notes: BIaE -

(@) Under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, @ WBEREHESQAFNE(ZZZT—FEBIIAN) -
the share premium account of the Company is distributable to its ZIN/N TZHX@&FEETW 3k T AR -
shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which the REEEZRRMTREE A%  NARIERE
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position EENRBEEBKBR &EP EH 2 B -
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(b) At 31 March 2019 and 2018, in the opinion of the directors, the Company ) R=ZE—hhEFER=_ZF-—N\F=A=+—8"
had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders. EERBARAANWEFEFEA DI TR ©

(€)  The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted ) BRERESECRIEE®RRITHEERE

which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

ZRAFEE- - SBEHNE BELIEETE
REBEERMEER SR ERER
R MR RIS BB S REHER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &z —Z—

BRI IS ERRMEE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Prosten (BVI) Limited

On 2 June 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest in Prosten
(BVI) Limited (the “Disposal”) whose subsidiaries included the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries (as defined below), which were
principally engaged in wireless value-added services operations in
the PRC, and a shareholder loan with amounts of approximately
HK$8,151,000, at a consideration of HK$4,600,000. The Disposal
was completed on 5 June 2017.

As disclosed in previous years’ consolidated financial statements,
despite the Board having made repeated verbal and written
requests (including legal letters), the Board had been unable to
access the complete set of books and records together with the
supporting documents of certain subsidiaries incorporated in
Shanghai (the “De-Consolidated Subsidiaries”) since 1 January
2016 for the purpose of, among others, preparing the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2016.

As a result, the Board considered that the Company was unable
to govern the De-Consolidated Subsidiaries, and the control over
these subsidiaries was lost. Hence, the Group had de-consolidated
the financial results, assets and liabilities of the De-Consolidated
Subsidiaries from the consolidated financial statements of the
Group since 1 January 2016 (“De-consolidation”). The de-
consolidation has resulted in the recognition of a net loss on De-
consolidation of subsidiaries of approximately HK$10,555,000
recognised in previous year’s consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the directors continued to
take all reasonable steps and use its best endeavours to protect
interests of the Group by trying to resolve the above matters.
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NEZRA=1T—HLEFE

40. HEM B F

Prosten (BVI) Limited
RZE—+ENAZH NEBFZ—

DB Z = LA E Prosten (BVI) Limited
(B AR B IEBUEGRE ARKB AR

(EER T BZEWEB AR EZNS
R EEGIEEREER) 2RMHER
(THEEE]) RIRREF48,151,000/%5
7 R {8 54,600,000/ 7T » HEFEE,
RZE—tF/NARABTK

IEEFENSEMBHRRAEE &
EEEGEZARHABLRE@MFA R (B
BERER) - BE=F—A"F—A—H
B EFEEEER LBEMKILILZ
ETHBRR (BUESZE ARMEBAR D
B ERM M ESERBRAXME - BE
(HF k) mEAKSEBE_T—RF
ZA=T-BUEFEZEEMB®RE -

EHit - EFERAARREELEEIUE
REAERMBAR  WREHEBUHEAS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEH B2 7 (&)

Prosten (BVI) Limited (Continued) Prosten (BVI) Limited (#&)
Details of the aggregate net liabilities of Prosten (BVI) Limited and R ESEER AP AREBLREH
its subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements 7% 3R R #9 Prosten (BVI) Limited 5 £ B /&
of the Group as at the completion date of the Disposal are set out NElZEHBEFBELFBEHINOT -
below:

HK$'000

T T

Consideration transferred: HENRE:

Cash consideration received BUIRERE 4,600
Analysis of assets and liabilities derecognised from the REEFETKEREEGRES W HRE
consolidated financial statements of the Group upon completion of BRIEREERBEN DT
the Disposal:

HK$’'000
T T

Property, plant and equipment (note 17) M RE K& (AL 17) 960

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENRIE « 5] & M EAE U FRIE 74

Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 92

Trade payables FET AR K (2,709)

Other payables and accruals Hh &< FRIE K FE 5T 3R IE (3,939

Amounts due to De-consolidated Subsidiaries FETEUBAR & ABRMT B A 7 38 (18,155)

Amount due to the Group JEA AN & B FR IR (8,151)

Tax payable FE 718 (12)

Deferred tax liabilities (note 36) RIETRIAR & (H5136) (169)

Net liabilities derecognised KIFEREEFE (32,003)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Prosten (BVI) Limited (Continued)

40. i =B Q7 (@)

Prosten (BVI) Limited (&)

HK$'000
T T

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR ZWE :
Consideration RAE 4,600
Net liabilities disposed of FEEaERE 382,003
Amount due to the Group assigned to the purchaser& % ¥ & 75 2 & (- 7N & @ 7118 (8,151)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 7 BT B 2 B B R Bk AN B R

upon disposal of subsidiaries 13,383
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB ARz W 41,835
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of H £ Prosten (BVI) Limited E4£ 2R &R A

Prosten (BVI) Limited: AR
Cash consideration received BUEERE 4,600
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of BT EReRBESEEY (92)
Net cash inflow W MAHE 4,508

Prosten Wealth Investment Limited

On 8 June 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest in Prosten Wealth
Investment Limited, which is principally engaged in money lending
business, and a shareholder loan with amounts of approximately
HK$100,000 at a consideration of approximately HK$1,480,000.
The disposal was completed on 15 June 2017.

Prosten Wealth Investment Limited

AN = T 4 22E
DE B

R=ZZF—tFNANB AKEE:X
* BA i & Prosten Wealth
Investment Limited (E = ¢ EFH )
Z 2 BB AR 19 4 %5 I AR R & X 49 100,000
BTt RIBAA1,480,00087C - HEE
R=ZF—tFNA+ARBZEK -

HK$’'000
THET

Consideration transferred: EHENAE:
Cash consideration HEeRE 1,480
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEH B2 7 (&)
Prosten Wealth Investment Limited (Continued) Prosten Wealth Investment Limited
(%)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost ERIEHIECEERBEI
HK$'000
T
Other receivables H b fE W IE 400
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 2
Amount due to the Group FES A& B FIE (100)
Net assets disposed of b E&EFE 302
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AT 2 W= :
Consideration RAE 1,480
Net assets disposed of it E&EFE (302)
Amount due to the Group assigned to the HETE R 2 ENASERIE
purchaser (100)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKE QR Z kS 1,078
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of Prosten £ Prosten Wealth Investment Limited
Wealth Investment Limited: EEZRERANZFE
Cash consideration received BUIRESRE 1,480
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of BT EREeMESEEY @)
Net cash inflow WemAFRE 1,478
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —F— hF=-A=+—HIFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEH B2 7 (&)
Meteor Investment (HK) Limited EBRBRERRATE
On 26 July 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase RZE—tF+LtAZ+"B AEEF]
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest in Meteor N—MEEHE UWHEEBRKREEGR
Investment (HK) Limited, which is principally engaged in trading ANA(HEEREEBEm) <28 KkH
of pharmaceutical products, and a shareholder loan with IR E A 11,311,000 ¢+ £
amounts of approximately HK$11,311,000 at a consideration of 8/59,000,0008 7T - HEER =T —t
HK$9,000,000. The disposal was completed on 14 August 2017. FNATHEZEK -
HK$'000
T
Consideration transferred: HENAE:
Cash consideration HeRE 9,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost LG, EERBEST
HK$’000
T T
Property, plant and equipment (note 17) M RE K& (AL 17) 117
Long-term prepaid rentals (note 19) RHTENMES (A5 19) 1,188
Biological assets (note 24) EMEE (Hi£24) 728
Inventories wE 5,414
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENRIE « 5] & M HEAM R U TRIE 485
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 523
Other payables and accruals N AN NN ®)
Amount due to the Group JE <t N 52 B FR IR (11,311)
Net liabilities disposed of SR ERE (2,864)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZEZ=—F— "W =-F=1+—HILFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEH B2 7 (&)
Meteor Investment (HK) Limited (Continued) EBRBERRAE (&)
HK$’'000
T
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR ZWE :
Consideration RAE 9,000
Net liabilities disposed of FEEaERE 2,864
Amount due to the Group assigned to the EET B R BN SERIE
purchaser (11,311)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve S T 28 1 B s R BRSNS B 3 R
upon disposal of subsidiaries (214)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 i e (46)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W 293
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of Meteor HEEBREFRATZEESRAFE -
Investment (HK) Limited:
Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 9,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of BTN ERERESEEY (523)

Net cash inflow BERmAFE 8,477
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

41. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES 41. B A RF1E

HS 2 A2 — RE K
R=B—AE=A=+—8  AAAN

General information of subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 are

as follows: BARZFIBRT
Country/place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
Name registration and ordinary share/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company  Principal activities
EMAL/ R R BRATZER/ KR ELL
AR EEER Y ZftER 2 HE EREML TEEK
(2019 and 2018)
(ZB-NER=B-N\F)
Prosten Development Limited British Virgin Islands USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
REFRBRAF RERNHES 157t RERR
Lighting Storm Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERNHES 50,0005 7 REER
Meteor Storm Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERUEE 50,0003 T 100% 100% REZR
Mastery Jewellery Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
EERERRAT BE 10,0007 7 RERR
ZEXVMER(RIDARDA PRC RMB19,658,870 100% 100%  The design, research and
development, wholesale
and retail of jewellery
and related ancillary
business
E AR#19,658,8707C 100% 100% IRBEHMRE  HE
#E ZEREBRE
¥%
Prosten Medical Investment Limited British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
REBERBARNAA EERUEE 50,0007t REER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

41. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. B DTS (@)
General information of subsidiaries (Continued) MBARZ—RER ()
Country/place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
Name registration and ordinary share/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company  Principal activities
HEMAL/ EREK BRITLER/ NGl 2
£ EEEAR/ Y HMEAZEE BRESL TEEK
(2019 and 2018)

(ZB-NFR=-Z-N\F)

Prosten Medical Health Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited

REESRRERERAR BB 10,0007% 7T REER

Prosten E-Business Investment British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited

REETRABREBRAA EERAHS 50,0005 7T REER

Prosten Healthcare Finance & Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited

REBBRCRREBRAR BB 10,0007 7T REZK

Wing Tai Industrial Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

RBRZES 50,000% 7T K&K

Wing Tai Industrial Investment Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited

XRERREBRAA BB 28T REER

RY|TH RIER B R PRC HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Network and data
AR AR services

Gl 1,000,0007% 7T A% N BUR IR TS

SZ Enterprise Union Finance Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Money lending
Limited

REBENEEFBERAR BB 1,000,000 7% 7T EX
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

41. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. M8 A R (|

MEBARZ—REH (&)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Country/place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
Name registration and ordinary share/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company  Principal activities
BRAL/ BRE BRITLER/ KAREE
£ EEER/HE dMEAZEE EZAM TEEE
(2019 and 2018)
(ZB-NERZF-N\F)
Sino Yao Shang Technology Limited  British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
PEEBHMRERAA RBRLEE 50,000% 7T REZK
Sino Traditional Chinese Medicine  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Internet Ltd
R EERBAERAA BB 10,0007% 7T RERK
RIITERZ R AR AR PRC RMB7,850,514 100% 100%  Investment holding
hE AE#7,850514 7 REER
BRREBEGRAH PRC RMB1,200,000 100% 100% Distribution and retailing
of chinese herbal
medicine and drugs
HE AR #1,200,0007C BERTEREN K
P B
King Win Intelligent Technologies British Virgin Islands USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
EERAES 1%7T RERK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 2 =F— hF=-A=+—HILFE
41. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. it 8 2~ Rl 15 (@)
General information of subsidiaries (Continued) MBARZ—RER ()
Country/place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
Name registration and ordinary share/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company  Principal activities
HMK L/ ERR BRITLER/ NG 3
£ EEER Y afER 2 HE EZAM TEEE
(2019 and 2018)
(ZB2-NERZZ-N\F)
King Win Intelligent Technologies Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
(HK) Limited
EREHRMERAR 0 10,0007 7 RERK
REERERMERAR" PRC US$1,441,985 100% 100%  Internet artificial
intelligence research,
management and
consultancy
i 1,441,985 7T BRE LR R
W EBR
i s IR T
Hong Kong Million Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
BH(PE)BERAA BB 18T REER
Silver Venture International Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
BB 1787T REER
*  Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC Law. * REREVEEEMZIINEEERE -
At 31 March 2019, except for Prosten Development Limited and R-ZE-—NAFE=ZA=+—"H KERE®
Lighting Storm Holdings Limited (2018: Prosten Development & B R 2 7 & Lighting Storm Holdings
Limited), all other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. Limited (ZZ—\F : REZERBRAA)
G BT E B AR R AR R HE
A -
None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at the MEMB AR RN MEHARIREEEARN
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year. FAREEEMNAREEERES °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B IS ERaRMIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &= — =

42. COMMITMENTS

(@) Operating lease arrangements

—NF=ZA=t—HLEFE

The Group leases its office properties under operating lease

arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms

ranging from one to three years (2018: one to three years).

42, EiE

(@) KEHERH

AEBEREBELEHELHHEER MR
NREYPE - MEZHELHEBRR
H—ZE=F1F(ZFT-N\F: —
E=F) -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future RS R - RS BRI A

minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating BT E A AT HAR B HR 2 R 2Kk
leases falling due as follows: KA ETRRELT

2019 2018

ZE-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FEIT

Within one year —F N 3,004 853

In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ BB -_ZFAF (BHEEREMRF) 1,426 507

4,430 1,360

The Group does not have option to purchase the leased

premises at the expiry of the lease period.

(b) Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

AEETEXNHBERREEREY R
VIR -

(b) EARERE

AREERBFERRZ EAAENT

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT THET
Contracted but not provided for: EHESEES T
Development expenditure of wEMEZERAX
investment property 5,379 6,050
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B IS SRR MIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 2 =F— hF=-A=+—HILFE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43. EBEALRZ

(@ In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following transactions with its related
parties during the year:

@ ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@% SHB 2 %
SHMEALR S RERI T %
E%$¢F%ﬁﬁﬁ@$Aiﬁﬁ
ATRS :

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FH& T

Royalty fee paid to an associate M — MR E AR R EE A 2,980 —
Consultancy fee paid to an associate  [Al —EH# & QA AN HHE R E F - 201

The directors are of the opinion that the above transactions
with related parties were conducted in the usual course of
business and on terms agreed between parties.

(b) Details of compensation of key management personnel of the
Group are included in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The remuneration of the directors and key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

(c) Transactions with the directors:

During the year ended 31 March 2019, Mr. Xu Zhigang made
cash advance of HK$275,200 to a subsidiary of the Company
for short-term funding needs. The Group repaid HK$150,000
of the cash advance to Mr. Xu Zhigang during the year. At 31
March 2019, the outstanding balance of the cash advance is
HK$125,000 which is presented in the “Amount due to non-
executive director” line item in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

EER/LAEBHEALLZRS
TR —REBBRETRETHE

IEFRAETT ©

(b) ﬁﬁ%$%l$£§£§/\5\2$&@ﬂﬁ
BN R A SRR TE18 K 14 -

E=NTEEEAS 2 i
ZEeRBEEARRLMIZEEM
B -

© BREZARS

BE_ZT—hAF=A=+—HIF
& BERLERARD TN —FEH
BRREHIR &85 275,200 7T
DERHRMERRK -RNERN - A&
EEmGESHtEEERESBN
150,000 T - M =—_ZFE— "L F = A
=+—H ReBRHWREELEH
£125,0007% 7T © H R 4R & B 5K
MR EMNIFFENITES Z2FIE] 2
Fl| o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@

Transactions with the director of a subsidiary of the Company:
During the year ended 31 March 2019, a subsidiary made
cash advance of RMB4,000,000 to a director of the
subsidiary. The director of the subsidiary repaid RMB620,000
of the cash advance to the subsidiary.

At 31 March 2019, the outstanding balance of the cash
advance is RMB3,380,000 (approximately HK$3,952,000)
which is presented in the “Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables” line item in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company
was Dynamic Peak Limited until 28 November 2017, when
Brilliant Chapter Limited become the parent and ultimate
holding company. Dynamic Peak Limited ceased to be the
ultimate controlling party of the Group with effect from 28
November 2017.

Details of the balances with related parties at the end of
the reporting period are set out in notes 27 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the
Group did not have major non-cash transactions.
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43. ERAEA TR F (@)

©)

HEARAMNBARESHITHRS
HE_ZT-NE=ZA=+—HLHF
B —HWBARIMZMBARE
= IZ 38 & 23 A R 4,000,000
e ZMNBARESEMZMEA
AEER B R AR 620,0007T °

R-ZE—-—hAFE=ZR=Z+—8"
BeBRFTNARBEELEHRBARYE
3,380,000 7t (#%93,952,0007% Jt) -
HRRE MR R R [FBRAFRIE
Fle REMmEKKIE]IZY) -

RAB 2B RRA REEZER QA
J& /& Dynamic Peak Limited * B &
Brilliant Chapter Limited A — & — +
F+—AZT+N\BRATRAAR
B 45 I A &) & LE ° Dynamic Peak
Limted R =—ZE—tF+—A=+ N\
HTBAREBOREERA

R E R EH BN T 2 ERReT
B BB NS & BB R M 27 I
4 0

w =

4. ERFBRERSH

BE_ZT—NWF=A=+-—8Bk_Z%
—NEFE=ZA=+—HILEE AEEL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS ERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 45. RERE s 2 &M T A

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

R|BER  ZEERTAZREELNT

Financial assets EWMEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Amortised cost: B A
Loan and trade receivables B3 e R R 20,039 -
Deposits and other receivables e R E bW R IA 7,335 =
Amount due from an associate JEUR —RIH & A |) 2 3KI8 978 =
Amount due from ultimate holding company J& U & 48 22 B A 7] 2 018 8 -
Cash and cash equivalents BHehIREEEY 59,573 =
87,933 -
Loans and receivables: BERREWRIE :
Trade receivables JiE U BR 3k - 46,956
Deposits and other receivables 71 & E b B Uk 3R I8 - 3,842
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEYD - 10,341
- 61,139
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEEIREERREERZ
tREE 15,000 =
AFS financial assets aHHEESREE - 15,000
102,933 76,139
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE RIS R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

45. REHE D 2 BT A ()

(Continued)
Financial liabilities =R
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Amortised cost: BN :
Trade payables FERR K 8,963 19,274
Financial liabilities included in other ST AE M E (N FRIE R R 5RIE 2
payables and accruals PRIBE 5,577 4,447
Amount due to non-executive director B IERITE R 2 A 125 =
Borrowings B 7,951 1,032
22,616 25,653
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

46. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 46. tRITAZAFEE

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not
available, the Group engages independent qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The management works closely with the
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The management reports
the findings to the directors at the end of each reporting period to
explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

° Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
input for which market data are not available; and

e level 3 valuations: fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

B RAFEERS AEEZEFEAMS
BRI - RERGFE -—EBERAER -
AEESZRBE LS ERMGEMETH
B - EEEEZAERINSHEMER
B BYEEGHERMEZEA 2@
AE - EEBEREREMRAEZER
HAIER UEBEEATEENSZ

TREJAEER S HRIZEEEE
AENERIANATEE  HNDEKRE
BB RELREIIRL FEEEMR
REEDR=ZEBRAFEERBEAFEE
AEEDNERTZE MERMATER
WAENABRREREREEBEWT

s FERE-EXRE-EBAE
AAENRFEE AEREENREAE
ERETE B NGRS ARER

ERE

s F_ERE:ERAFEF_EBAER
ENRFEER ITHEE—EW
AERBAEAYEEAEATH
BB A\E TABERBAEAT
BEETAANBAL: &

s FZEMRE:EREATAUERH
MNEFFENRFEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 2 —FT— hF=-A=+—HLFE

46. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 46. TRIT A2 AV EE #)

(Continued)
Fairvalue at  Fair value at Fair value  Valuation technique(s) Significant
Financial assets 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs
R=B-hF R=Z-N\F
=A=+-B =A=+-H AVEE MHERWR

tREE ZAFEE  2AYEE LHEE TEBAE EATAEERAE

Financial assets at FVTPL 15,000 - Level 3  Market based approach Discount for lack of
key inputs: price to book marketability
multiple, net book value of
the entity and discount for
lack of marketability

ROTEEIRRER F=E WHEFEBAEE: TR BREHERELNE

nhERE/SHEE Zfng EREETFER

R MG mBMETE

AFS financial assets - 15,000 Level 3 Market based approach key  Prices used are derived
inputs: price of each similar  from a multiple of price to
companies or interest in earnings, prices to revenues
companies and price to book

L ECRER F=E WHEIZBAE:RUE FMEANERREZETAR
HBRARZERERAR X BREKELHIRT
e Rx

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair

AEBBRAEANEHER 2 EMH

value hierarchy levels at the end of the date of the events or LIBEREBER BERKEHNRAFEE
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. EREFANELE

There were no transfers of fair value measurements between level BE_ZT—NLF & ZT-NF=H
1 and level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the Er—1E JJ:$J+ *1'551%_2?5]
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. Ixxﬁﬁ?’ “ﬁf BetE MEEHE
In estimating the fair value of an asset, the management work R —BEENAFEEE  EEE

closely with IVL (2018: Peak Vision) to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The management
reports the findings to the directors at the end of each reporting
period to explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at cost or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values at 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 47. i EKBEEREEREKE

AND POLICIES

The major financial instruments of the Group included loan and
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from an associate, amount due from ultimate holding company,
cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial
assets, trade payables, other payables and accruals (exclude
receipt in advances), amount due to non-executive director and
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments for the Group
are disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The principal risk management objective of the Group is to manage
the risks associated to the unpredictability of financial markets in a
prudent manner. They are measured by degree of such risks and
their effects to the financial performance and financial positions of
the Group.

It is, and has been, throughout the year under review, the Group’s
policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.
The management seeks to minimise the adverse effects of such
risks to the Group by closely monitoring individual exposure.

The main risks arising from the financial instruments are credit
risk and impairment assessment, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and foreign currency risk. The management reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below. No changes were made in the risk management objectives,
policies, processes and the methods used to measure the risks
during each of the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

AEEZFESRTIABEERRERK
BRAX Rl R EARIA - IR — A
BERNR 2 5E  BIRSKERARZ
RE - RAERRITEEY BAIFEE
SRR ERRREE 2 o MERE - Al
HESREE  BNKRNX  LHREMR
BN EARIE (TREBERRE) - BN
FRUTEEZHRARMEE - AAXEEE
BTEAMNFRRES VBRI EEME
PR -

AEEZIERBREEREAEERERE
He@MmESIARAEERZRER - %
FRBRARRER REHAKET X
BRUBRR ZETE -

BREDEFE AREEETHEL
BMIAREZHR BEEERNEB
NEFENRAREERIZERARY
ARBZAAEE -

3
0n
N
A
el

cRITEMELECFERRAEERR
KRB S mEE SRR - F &R R
RAONE R o B8 25 B 1 7E B 15 A
ERERR B BRSO o
REBE_T-—NFER=ZE—\F=A
ST HIEFESF REREEAZE.
BUR - mMEERBEBRET =5 A EEE) -

2019 F 3 | BAEEEREEFR AT

225



226

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % —

BRI IS ERRMEE

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to loan and
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount
due from associate, amount due from ultimate holding
company and bank balances at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the maximum exposure to
credit risk of the Group which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors have
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Other monitoring procedures are
in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 (2018:
incurred loss model) on loan and trade receivables are
assessed individually or grouped using a provision matrix with
past due status grouping as appropriate. In this regard, the
directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis
The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables at 31

47. AR EE HEREEK (@)

(a)

EERRERBER L (F)
RERBELEFERMEEFE
TREHBBEAKRER T —NF
ZA=t— B ERRFEEE

March 2019: EERRIIEREERRE
Average Gross

expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FIHREERR BEREE EiRRE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Neither past due nor impaired ~ BE A %88 8 IR ok H 3R Rl B 1.03% 13,687 141
1 to 3 months past due #HI1 = 31E A 3.28% 3,288 108
3 to 12 months past due BmEISE12M@ A 12.16% 1,123 137
18,098 386

Average expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past years. These rates are adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

FHORBBERREANBERFNE
REIREE - ZFHL R EABN
2 B B 7 48 SR 5 B B W = ) 3B 1
BREENEZE RERRNLAE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (a) EERKREEFTMS (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that

has been recognised for loan and trade receivables:

47. AR EE HEREEK (@)

TR BUR BB 3R B M BR SRR R
EEARBNEREEERE

Trade Loan
receivables receivables Total
FE U BR X BN st
HKS HK$ HK$
BT & TT BT
At 31 March 2018 under RZZE—-N\F=A
HKAS 39 =+—BREBEBS:
AR 2 39 5% - - -
Adjustment upon application A& F & 7 B 75 i 2 2 8|
of HKFRS 9 F O AT T E - — =
At 1 April 2018 - as restated R Z=F— \F
MA—H-—&&E7 = = =
Impairment losses recognised = AR (B &8 654 41 695
Written off 6! (268) - (268)
At 31 March 2019 R=-Z—N#F
=A=+-—H 386 41 427
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FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 2 =F— hF=-A=+—HILFE

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7. B REREE B EREX @

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (a) EERKREEFTMS (&)

The management makes periodic collective assessment
as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information under ECL model
upon application of HKFRS 9 (2018: incurred loss model).
The directors believe that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of deposits and
other receivables.

The Group deposited bank balances with approved and
reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks may
cause the Group’s right with respect to time deposits and
bank balances held to be delayed or limited. The directors
monitor the credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis,
and consider that the Group’s exposure to credit risk at 31
March 2019 and 2018 were minimal.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, amounts of
approximately HK$695,000 of impairment allowance was
recognised for the Group’s financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FE IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 2 —FT— hF=-A=+—HLFE

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

7. B ERERBERBE @

(b) Liquidity risk (b) REBESRAK
Liquidity risk is the risk of non-availability of funds to meet MENE 2R IEREINEE S AE
all contractual financial commitments as they fall due. The NEEHE ,\\"]EM‘%EK%ZJ—L % o
objective of the Group is to apply prudent treasury policy to AEBE 7 BIZRHENBRE WK
monitor liquidity ratios against risk limits with a contingency ROEERRRBEERRBESL
plan for funding, to ensure the Group has sufficient funding R -WHEEESESE  BRA
for operation needs. The management manages liquidity risk £E l BEERABSUENEEZS
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, BB ESRFEEREAEE
and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and ﬁ%ﬁ‘fum%&%ﬁi@@mﬂﬁ?&ﬁi\
liabilities. ZEMBEAREKERRDESR
s o
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at REEER - AEBIRES QR
the end of the reporting period based on the contractual RNFRGTEZ2BB R HER
undiscounted payments is as follows: R
Total Total
undiscounted undiscounted
cash flows cash flows
on demand Total on demand Total
or within carrying or within carrying
one year amounts one year amounts
RERS RERH
—ERZAMN —ERZ R
AFERE AMBERE
mEAE  REEAH mERE  FEELS
2019 2019 2018 2018
—E-hE “E-h#F —Z-)\F —N\F
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRz TET T T
Non-derivative financial FiTECREE
liabilities
Trade payables JERTERFR 8,963 8,963 19,274 19,274
Other payables and accruals H At fE R 50IE K JE R 08 5,577 5,577 4,447 4,447
Amount due to non-executive R IEHTES A
director 125 125 — —
Borrowings fBE 8,414 7,951 2,048 1,932
23,079 22,616 25,769 25,653
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to its floating rate bank deposits. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are largely independent of changes in
market interest rates.

Objective of the Group is to manage its interest cost by a
combination of fixed and variable rate financial instruments.
Currently, there is no interest rate hedging policy. However,
to monitor the interest rate exposures, the management will
consider hedging in case of significant interest rate exposure.

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk is minimal as the Group does not have
any significant floating rate interest bearing financial assets
and floating rate interest bearing liabilities and therefore no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and majority
of transactions are denominated in HK$, United States Dollar
(“US$”) and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from trading
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which are
denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency
of the Group.

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk in respect
of Hong Kong dollar against the US$ as long as this currency
is pegged.

The transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in RMB outside the PRC are minimal, the
directors consider that there is no significant foreign exchange
risk in respect of RMB.

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange
rate fluctuations.
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48. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
management may make adjustments on the dividend policy or
capital structure policy in light of changes in conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
each of the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

Gearing ratio

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through payment of dividends, issue of new share and redemption
of existing shares as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

48. EXEHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ=F— W F=H=1+—HIEFE

48. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

48. EXREE (#)

Gearing ratio (Continued) EREBELR(E)
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows: RBERAR 2 EREGEEERMOT
2019 2018
—E-NEF =T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Total debts (note a) B 4% (fita) 7,951 1,032
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReFEED (59,573) (10,341)
Net cash R F5 (51,622) (8,409)
Equity attributable to owners of the AR ANELRER
Company 122,555 87,850
Total debts to equity ratio B EREY X 6.49% 2.20%
Note: B aE -

(@  Total debts comprises borrowings.

@) EBEEREREE-
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49. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employees are required to contribute 5% of
their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they
can choose to make additional contributions. The employer’s
monthly contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s
monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 (the “Mandatory
Contributions”), and this is the only obligation of the Group with
respect to the MPF Scheme to make the required contribution.
The employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’'s Mandatory
Contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or total
incapacity.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated
by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to
contribute certain percentage of its payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the specified contribution.

The contributions arising from the above retirement benefits
scheme are charged to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 2 =F— hF=-A=+—HILFE

50. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 50. MEEBELERBE YR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising THRAFAEEREETHMEEEEZ
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 28 BREASKIBESETH BEF
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for FFEABEARREMECHARKIEAS
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in MERRAEEBGERERERIER
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows METHNREREEE -

from financing activities.

Interest
payable Borrowings Total
B A FI 2 BE et
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHTT T
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMA—H - - -
Non-cash changes FESEF
— Interest expenses recognised  — 2 FER K BB 2
(note 9) (K152 9) 16 = 16
Cash flows HEmE
— Inflow from financing activites ~ — KRB B & /EE) 2 R B R - 1,932 1,932
At 31 March 2018 and at R—E-—N\F=ZA=+—H
1 April 2018 MZZ—-N\FMA—H 16 1,932 1,948
Non-cash changes FEEEF
— Interest expenses recognised ~ — 2 HERF B 55
(note 9) (K12t 9) 160 - 160
— Exchange alignment — &N AR = (101) (101)
Cash flows ReRE
- Inflow from financing activites ~ — 2K B Bt & /& &) 2 I &R - 6,120 6,120
At 31 March 2019 R=B-hF=ZA=+-—H 176 7,951 8,127
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ —E— W F=-H=1+—HILFE

51. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to
the current year’s presentation.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 at 1 April
2018. Under the transition methods, comparative information is
not restated.

52. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board on 24 June 2019.
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